GENERALIZED MULTICATEGORIES: CHANGE-OF-BASE, EMBEDDING, AND DESCENT

RUI PREZADO AND FERNANDO LUCATELLI NUNES

ABSTRACT. Via the adjunction $-\cdot 1 \dashv \mathcal{V}(1, -)$: Span $(\mathcal{V}) \rightarrow \mathcal{V}$ -Mat and a cartesian monad T on an extensive category \mathcal{V} with finite limits, we construct an adjunction $-\cdot 1 \dashv \mathcal{V}(1, -)$: Cat $(T, \mathcal{V}) \rightarrow (\overline{T}, \mathcal{V})$ -Cat between categories of generalized enriched multicategories and generalized internal multicategories, provided the monad T satisfies a suitable condition, which is satisfied by several examples.

We verify, moreover, the left adjoint is fully faithful, and preserves pullbacks, provided that the copower functor $-\cdot 1$: Set $\rightarrow \mathcal{V}$ is fully faithful. We also apply this result to study descent theory of generalized enriched multicategorical structures.

These results are built upon the study of base-change for generalized multicategories, which, in turn, was carried out in the context of categories of horizontal lax algebras arising out of a monad in a suitable 2-category of pseudodouble categories.

CONTENTS

Acknowledgements		1
Introduction		2
1.	Structure of double categories	д С
2.	Spans versus matrices	16
3.	Conjoints and companions	21
4.	Double categories as pseudo-algebras	27
5.	Horizontal lax algebras and change of base	36
6.	Induced adjunction	45
7.	Extensive categories	49
8.	Fibrewise discrete morphisms	52
9.	Embedding	58
10.	Application to descent theory	60
11.	Epilogue	63
References		64

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Maria Manuel Clementino for her helpful remarks during the elaboration of this work.

We are also grateful to Marino Gran and Tim van der Linden for hosting us at UCLouvain, where this work was concluded.

This research was partially supported by the Centre for Mathematics of the University of Coimbra - UIDB/00324/2020, funded by the Portuguese Government through FCT/MCTES, and by the grant PD/BD/150461/2019 funded by Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (FCT). This work was also supported through the programme "Oberwolfach Leibniz Fellows" by the Mathematisches Forschungsinstitut Oberwolfach in 2022.

Date: September 14, 2023.

 $^{2020\} Mathematics\ Subject\ Classification.\ 18B10, 18B15, 18B50, 18D65, 18N10, 18N15.$

Key words and phrases. double category, equipment, lax algebra, generalized multicategory, effective descent morphisms, Beck-Chevalley condition, virtual equipment, internal category, enriched category, Grothendieck descent theory, extensive category, higher category theory.

INTRODUCTION

The systematic study of the dichotomy between enriched categories and internal categories can be traced as far back as [44, Section 2.2]. It was shown in [35, Theorem 9.10] that for a suitable base category \mathcal{V} , the category \mathcal{V} -Cat of enriched \mathcal{V} -categories can be fully embedded into the category Cat(\mathcal{V}) of categories internal to \mathcal{V} , enabling us to view enriched \mathcal{V} -categories as *discrete* categories internal to \mathcal{V}^1 . This observation is, for example, employed in the study of descent theory of enriched categories (see [35, Theorem 9.11] and [37]). The aim of this work is to construct such an embedding in the setting of generalized multicategories, which we recall below.

Multicategories, defined in [31, p. 103], are structures that generalize categories, by allowing the domains of morphisms to consist of a finite list of objects. The most quintessential example is the multicategory Vect, whose objects are vector spaces, and whose morphisms are multilinear maps. Their "multicomposition" and the description of the analogous notions of associativity and identity can succinctly be described via the free monoid monad on Set. More precisely, multicategories can be formalized by considering the equipment Span(Set) of spans in Set (see [4, p. 22]), and extending the free monoid monad to a suitable monad $(-)^*$ on Span(Set) (see [22, Corollary A.4]).

Generalized multicategories have since been developed in various contexts, abstracting the notion of ordinary multicategories by replacing the monad $(-)^*$ on Span(Set) by a suitable notion of monad on a pseudodouble category.

Enriched T-categories were first introduced in [12] with the terminology (T, \mathcal{V}) -categories. In this setting, the category of (T, \mathcal{V}) -categories is obtained out of the so-called *lax extension* of a monad on Set to a suitable monad on \mathcal{V} -Mat, the ubiquitous equipment of \mathcal{V} -matrices (see [12, Section 2]). For instance, when \mathcal{V} is a suitable quantale, the ultrafilter monad \mathfrak{U} on Set admits a lax extension $\overline{\mathfrak{U}}$ to \mathcal{V} -Mat [12, Section 8]. In particular, when $\mathcal{V} = 2$, we have an equivalence Top $\simeq (\overline{\mathfrak{U}}, 2)$ -Cat (first observed in [3]) and $(\overline{\mathfrak{U}}, [0, \infty])$ -Cat is equivalent to the category of approach spaces.

Internal *T*-categories were introduced in [8] and [22]. For a category \mathcal{B} with pullbacks, the former defines *T*-categories for any monad *T* on \mathcal{B} , while the latter considers *T* to be a cartesian monad on \mathcal{B} . A cartesian monad *T* on \mathcal{B} induces a strong monad on the equipment $\mathsf{Span}(\mathcal{B})$ of spans in \mathcal{B} . In this setting, we can obtain the category $\mathsf{Cat}(T, \mathcal{B})$ of *T*-categories internal to \mathcal{B} . As examples, we recover the category of ordinary multicategories by considering $\mathsf{Cat}((-)^*.\mathsf{Set})$, and letting \mathfrak{F} be the free category monad on Grph , we obtain the category $\mathsf{VDbCat} = \mathsf{Cat}(\mathfrak{F},\mathsf{Grph})$ of virtual double categories.

The main goal of this paper is to construct an embedding $(\overline{T}, \mathcal{V})$ -Cat \rightarrow Cat (T, \mathcal{V}) from a category \mathcal{V} , and a monad T on \mathcal{V} , satisfying suitable properties. To this end, it is desirable to work in a general setting where these various notions of generalized multicategories can be uniformly studied and compared with one another. This was, in part, accomplished by the work of [15], where the notion of T-monoids was introduced, unifying the several approaches to the theory of generalized multicategories. To be precise, these T-monoids are the horizontal lax algebras induced by a monad $T = (\mathbb{E}, T, e, m)$ in the 2-category VDbCat of virtual double categories, lax functors and vertical transformations. These objects have a natural structure of a virtual double category, which we denote here by $\mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax}-T$ -Alg.

This general setting ought to provide us an "internalization" functor $(\overline{T}, \mathcal{V})$ -Cat \rightarrow Cat (T, \mathcal{V}) obtained from the comparison \mathcal{V} -Mat \rightarrow Span (\mathcal{V}) , and the induced monad T on Span (\mathcal{V}) . However, [15] does not provide a notion of *change-of-base* induced by an appropriate notion of morphism $S \rightarrow T$ of monads, where $S = (\mathbb{D}, S, e, m)$ is another monad in VDbCat. We remark this was left as future work in [15, 4.4].

It should be noted that the study of change-of-base functors has been studied in each specific setting of generalized multicategories. In [33, Section 6.7], the author provides such constructions for the internal case, and [12, Sections 5, 6] treats two particular families of monad morphisms for the enriched case. To establish a relationship between the enriched and internal structures, we expand on the work of these authors, with the goal of providing a convenient environment to produce and study such a functor $(\overline{T}, \mathcal{V})$ -Cat \rightarrow Cat (T, \mathcal{V}) from simpler tools.

We must mention that our approach diverges from the techniques and tools developed in [15]. Firstly, we must restrict our scope from virtual double categories to pseudodouble categories, as we need to work with *(op)lax horizontal transformations*, which require horizontal composition to be defined. Secondly, instead of using (op)cartesian 2-cells and their universal properties, we opted to use a "mate theory" of conjoints and companions to prove our results, mostly to obtain explicit formulas. Lastly, this is far

¹This embedding result was studied in more detail in [13].

from the full scope of the project mentioned in [15, 4.4], as we merely study the underlying categories and functors of the 2-dimensional structures formed by these horizontal lax algebras. Instead, we fall back on an *ad-hoc* approach for the natural transformations between the functors induced by monad (op)lax morphisms, leaving a treatment of the complete story for future work.

Outline of the paper: We begin by reviewing the notion of *pseudodouble category* in Section 1, first introduced in [20], and the two dimensional structures formed by these, in Section 1. For pseudodouble categories \mathbb{D} , \mathbb{E} , the structures consisting of

- $lax functors \mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{E}$ as 0-cells,
- vertical transformations as vertical² 1-cells,
- (op)lax horizontal transformations as horizontal 1-cells,
- generalized modifications as 2-cells.

are, by Proposition 1.8, pseudodouble categories $Lax_{lax}(\mathbb{D}, \mathbb{E})$ ($Lax_{opl}(\mathbb{D}, \mathbb{E})$). We also have a third double category PsDbCat (Proposition 1.4) consisting of

- pseudodouble categories as 0-cells,
- (op)lax functors as (vertical) horizontal 1-cells,
- generalized vertical transformations as 2-cells.

The pseudodouble categories that concern our study are the following:

- the pseudodobule category \mathcal{V} -Mat of \mathcal{V} -matrices for suitable monoidal categories \mathcal{V} ,
- the pseudodouble category $\mathsf{Span}(\mathcal{B})$ of spans in \mathcal{B} , for categories \mathcal{B} with pullbacks,
- the double category of lax T-algebras, for T a pseudomonad on a 2-category \mathbb{B} .

We will furthermore review the double categorical structure of the last item.

Let \mathcal{V} be a distributive category with finite limits. Section 2 is devoted to studying the pseudodouble categories \mathcal{V} -Mat and Span(\mathcal{V}), and the (op)lax functors induced by the adjunction $-\cdot 1 \dashv \mathcal{V}(1, -) : \mathcal{V} \rightarrow$ Set. We confirm these functors induce Cat-graph morphisms

 $- \cdot 1 : \mathcal{V}-\mathsf{Mat} \to \mathsf{Span}(\mathcal{V}) \text{ and } \mathcal{V}(1,-) : \mathsf{Span}(\mathcal{V}) \to \mathcal{V}-\mathsf{Mat},$

which give us an adjunction $-\cdot 1 \dashv \mathcal{V}(1, -)$ in the 2-category $\mathsf{Grph}(\mathsf{Cat})$ (Lemma 2.1). We also prove that $-\cdot 1: \mathcal{V}-\mathsf{Mat} \to \mathsf{Span}(\mathcal{V})$ defines an oplax functor of pseudodouble categories (Proposition 2.2). Using techniques from the following couple of sections, we obtain the following

$$\mathcal{V}\text{-}\mathsf{Mat}\underbrace{\perp}_{\mathcal{V}(1,-)}^{-\boldsymbol{\cdot}1}\mathsf{Span}(\mathcal{V})$$

which is a generalized notion of adjunction – a conjunction – in the double category PsDbCat.

Section 3 aims to recall the notions of "adjoint" in pseudodouble categories: *conjoints* and *companions*. These were first introduced in [19], under different terminology. We provide an explicit description of "mate theory" for these objects (also studied in [19, 41]), analogous to the mate theory for adjunctions. We also take the opportunity to work out some known results for three reasons: first, to fix technical notation for subsequent sections; second, to serve as examples on their use; and finally, to keep this work self-contained. This Section culminates in our first contribution, crucial to construct functor between categories of lax horizontal algebras, Theorem 3.6. It states that, if \mathbb{E} is *conjoint closed*, then so is Lax_{lax}(\mathbb{D}, \mathbb{E}).

In Section 4, we explicitly establish an equivalence (Proposition 4.1) between the double category PsDbCat and the double category of pseudo-algebras for the free internal Cat-category 2-monad on the 2-category Grph, with the goal of making the tools of two-dimensional algebra [7, 28, 34] available to the theory of pseudodouble categories. In particular, via doctrinal adjunction [36, Theorem 1.4.11], we conclude that $\mathcal{V}(1, -)$: Span(\mathcal{V}) $\rightarrow \mathcal{V}$ -Mat is a lax functor, and is the conjoint of $-\cdot 1$: \mathcal{V} -Mat \rightarrow Span(\mathcal{V}) in PsDbCat.

After recalling the notion of horizontal lax algebra from [15], in Section 5 we prove Theorem 5.2; it states that any monad lax morphism $(G, \psi): T \to S$ in PsDbCat_{lax} induces a *change-of-base* functor $G_1: \mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax} - T - \operatorname{Alg} \to \mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax} - S$ - Alg, and any monad oplax morphism $(F, \phi): S \to T$ satisfying a suitable

 $^{^{2}}$ In accordance with [15], we take the vertical arrows to be non-strict ones instead.

conditon also induces a change-of-base functor $F_1: \mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax} - S - \operatorname{Alg} \to \mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax} - T - \operatorname{Alg}$. We close this section by comparing our constructions with the change-of-base functors for generalized multicategories considered in [33] and [12].

In Section 6, we consider a conjunction

$$S \underbrace{\stackrel{(F,\phi)}{\underset{(G,\psi)}{\bot}} T}$$

in the double category $Mnd(PsDbCat_{lax})$, and we proceed to the existence of an adjunction

$$\mathbb{H}\operatorname{Lax} - S - \operatorname{Alg} \perp \mathbb{H}\operatorname{Lax} - T - \operatorname{Alg}$$

between the induced change-of-base functors; this is Theorem 6.1. We also study the conditions for invertibility of unit and counit of such an adjunction, stated in Lemma 6.2 and Corollary 6.4. Finally, after instanciating these results to the settings considered both in [33] and [12, 24], we take the opportunity to point out some of obstacles to the double pseudofunctoriality of $\mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax}_{-}(-)$ -Alg.

We devote Section 7 to the study of extensive categories. When C is an lextensive category, we provide a description of $\mathsf{Fam}(C)$ via Artin glueing (Lemma 7.1), from which we deduce that the coproduct functor $\sum : \mathsf{Fam}(C) \to C$ preserves finite limits. Studying limits of fibered categories, we obtain Theorem 7.2: it confirms that, in a lextensive category, the coproduct of a "pullback-indexed" family of pullback diagrams is itself a pullback diagram. This result is extensively employed, as illustrated in the remaining results of this Section as well as subsequent ones.

The final groundwork is laid down in Section 8. Via a "structure transfer"-type of result (Proposition 8.1), we are able to construct a monad \overline{T} on \mathcal{V} -Mat from a monad T on $\text{Span}(\mathcal{V})$, which is, in turn, induced by a cartesian monad T on a lextensive category \mathcal{V} [22]. In fact, we obtain a conjunction

(0.1)
$$(\overline{T}, \mathcal{V}\text{-}\mathsf{Mat}) \perp (\overline{T}, \mathsf{Span}(\mathcal{V})) \\ \underbrace{(\overline{T}, \mathcal{V}\text{-}\mathsf{Mat})}_{(\mathcal{V}(1, -), \mathcal{V}(1, T\hat{\varepsilon}))}$$

in the double category $\mathsf{Mnd}(\mathsf{PsDbCat}_{lax})$. However, only under a suitable condition does this induce an adjunction

(0.2)
$$(\overline{T}, \mathcal{V})$$
-Cat \perp Cat (T, \mathcal{V}) .

The goal of this Section is to study this extra condition. In the case $-\cdot 1$: Set $\rightarrow \mathcal{V}$ is fully faithful, we obtain Theorem 8.6, characterizing this condition in terms of a notion of *fibrewise discreteness* of a monad. Finally, we check that most of the commonly studied cartesian monads on lextensive categories \mathcal{V} are fibrewise discrete, provided $-\cdot 1$: Set $\rightarrow \mathcal{V}$ is fully faithful.

Section 9 contains our main results. Let \mathcal{V} be a lextensive category such that $-\cdot 1$: Set $\rightarrow \mathcal{V}$ is fully faithful, and let T be a fibrewise discrete, cartesian monad on \mathcal{V} . We also denote the induced monad on Span(\mathcal{V}) by T. Via Theorem 6.1, we obtain the (ordinary) adjunction (0.2) from the conjunction (0.1) in PsDbCat_{lax} (Theorem 9.2).

We then apply Theorem 9.2 to study effective descent morphisms for enriched categorical structures in Section 10. Under an additional technical condition (satisfied by most of the examples we provided), we confirm that $(\overline{T}, \mathcal{V})$ -Cat is precisely the full subcategory of Cat (T, \mathcal{V}) with a *discrete* object-ofobjects (Theorem 10.3), generalizing [35, 9.10 Theorem] and [13, Corollary 4.5]. Via this description, we confirm that $-\cdot 1: (\overline{T}, \mathcal{V})$ -Cat \rightarrow Cat (T, \mathcal{V}) reflects effective descent morphisms (Lemma 10.4), and, with the results of [38] pertaining to effective descent morphisms in internal categorical structures, we provide criteria for an enriched $(\overline{T}, \mathcal{V})$ -functor to be effective for descent (Theorem 10.5). We finalize the paper by studying the above examples.

1. Structure of double categories

Double categories were first defined in [18], and the more general pseudodouble categories were introduced in [20], allowing the vertical structure to be non-strict. Here, we will recall this notion of pseudodouble category, following the opposite convention of taking the horizontal structure to be non-strict, instead of the vertical, as in [15].

Furthermore, to fix notation, we also recall the notions of lax functor, and generalized vertical transformation [19, 2.2], and we provide definitions for (op)lax horizontal transformations, and the corresponding notion of modifications. For later reference, we also work out the (pseudo)double categorical structures formed by these objects.

1.1. Pseudodouble categories: A pseudodouble category \mathbb{D} consists of:

- A category \mathbb{D}_0 , denoting its objects as *0-cells*, its morphisms as *vertical 1-cells*, its composition and identities as *vertical*.
- A category \mathbb{D}_1 , denoting its objects as *horizontal 1-cells*, its morphisms as 2-cells, its composition and identities as vertical.
- Vertical domain and codomain functors dom, cod: $\mathbb{D}_1 \to \mathbb{D}_0$,
- A horizontal unit functor $1: \mathbb{D}_0 \to \mathbb{D}_1$,
- A horizontal composition functor $: \mathbb{D}_2 \to \mathbb{D}_1$ for each triple x, y, z of 0-cells, denoted by horizontal composition, where \mathbb{D}_2 , given by pullback of dom and cod, is the category of composable pairs of horizontal 1-cells and 2-cells.

This data must satisfy dom $\circ 1 = \operatorname{cod} \circ 1 = \operatorname{id}$, and dom $(s \cdot r) = \operatorname{dom}(r)$, $\operatorname{cod}(s \cdot r) = \operatorname{cod}(s)$. Furthermore, we say a natural transformation $\phi \colon F \to G$ of functors $\mathcal{C} \to \mathbb{D}_1$ is globular if dom $\cdot \phi$ and $\operatorname{cod} \cdot \phi$ are identities. We also have data

- Globular natural isomorphisms $\lambda: 1_{\text{cod}(-)} \cdot \to -, \rho: \cdot 1_{\text{dom}(-)} \to -$ of functors $\mathbb{D}_1 \to \mathbb{D}_1$, the *left* and *right unitors*, respectively.
- A globular natural isomorphism $\alpha: (-1, -2) \cdot -3 \to -1 \cdot (-2, -3)$ of functors $\mathbb{D}_3 \to \mathbb{D}_1$, the *associator*, where \mathbb{D}_3 is the category of *composable triples*.

These must also satisfy the following coherence conditions:

- (a) We have $\gamma_{1_x} = \mathsf{id}_{1_x \cdot 1_x}$, where we define $\gamma = \rho^{-1} \circ \lambda$.
- (b) The following diagram commutes

$$(1_{z} \cdot s) \cdot r \xrightarrow{\alpha_{r,s,1_{z}}} 1 \cdot (s \cdot r)$$

$$\lambda_{s} \cdot \operatorname{id}_{r} \xrightarrow{\lambda_{s} \cdot r} \lambda_{s \cdot r}$$

for each pair of horizontal 1-cells $r: x \to y, s: y \to z$. (c) The following diagram commutes

$$\begin{array}{c} s \cdot r \\ & & \\ \rho_{s \cdot r} & & \\ \uparrow & & \\ (s \cdot r) \cdot 1_x & \xrightarrow{\alpha_{1_x, r, s}} s \cdot (r \cdot 1_x) \end{array}$$

for each pair of horizontal 1-cells $r: x \to y, s: y \to z$. (d) The following diagram commutes

$$(s \cdot 1_y) \cdot r \xrightarrow{\alpha_{r,1y,s}} s \cdot (1_y \cdot r)$$

$$\rho_s \cdot \mathrm{id}_r \xrightarrow{s \cdot r} \mathrm{id}_s \cdot \lambda_r$$

for each pair of horizontal 1-cells $r: x \to y, s: y \to z$. (e) The following diagram commutes:

$$\begin{array}{c} ((t \cdot s) \cdot r) \cdot q \xrightarrow{\alpha_{q,r,t} \cdot s} (t \cdot s) \cdot (r \cdot q) \xrightarrow{\alpha_{r \cdot q,s,t}} t \cdot (s \cdot (r \cdot q)) \\ \alpha_{r,s,t} \cdot \mathrm{id}_{q} \downarrow & \uparrow^{\mathrm{id}_{t} \cdot \alpha_{q,r,s}} \\ (t \cdot (s \cdot r)) \cdot q \xrightarrow{\alpha_{q,s \cdot r,t}} t \cdot ((s \cdot r) \cdot q) \end{array}$$

for each quadruple of composable horizontal 1-cells q, r, s, t.

We will usually supress the subscripts, unless the need to disambiguate occurs. If λ, ρ and α are the identity transformations, we say \mathbb{D} is a *double category*.

Proposition 1.1. The coherence conditions (a), (b) and (c) are redundant.

Proof. First, observe that (b) is the horizontal dual of (c), so it is sufficient to verify (a) and (b).

We may obtain (a) from the remaining conditions: we have an equality of 2-cells $(1_x \cdot 1_x) \cdot 1_x \to 1_x$

$$\lambda \circ (\lambda \cdot 1) = \lambda \circ \lambda \circ \alpha = \lambda \circ (1 \cdot \lambda) \circ \alpha = \lambda \circ (\rho \cdot 1)$$

by (b), naturality of λ , and (d). We deduce that $\lambda \cdot 1 = \rho \cdot 1$, and since ρ is a natural isomorphism, we conclude that $\lambda = \rho$.

To prove (b) given only (d) and (e), we consider the following diagram:



Except for the top left triangle, every inner polygon commutes either by (d) or by naturality of α . The outer pentagon is an instance of (e), so we conclude that the top left triangle commutes. Since λ is a natural isomorphism, the result follows.

1.2. Lax functors: Let \mathbb{D} , \mathbb{E} be double categories. A lax functor $F: \mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{E}$ consists of:

- A functor $F_0 \colon \mathbb{D}_0 \to \mathbb{E}_0$.
- A functor $F_1: \mathbb{D}_1 \to \mathbb{E}_1$.
- A globular natural transformation $e^F : 1 \cdot F_0 \to F_1 \cdot 1$.
- A globular natural transformation $\mathbf{m}^F \colon F_1(-_1) \cdot F_1(-_2) \to F_1(-_1 \cdot -_2).$

This data must satisfy the following properties:

- $-\operatorname{dom}\circ F_1 = F_0 \circ \operatorname{dom}$
- $-\operatorname{cod}\circ F_1 = F_0\circ\operatorname{cod},$
- Comparison coherences for the unit: the following diagrams commute

$$\begin{array}{cccc} 1_{Fy} \cdot Fr & \xrightarrow{\mathsf{e}^F \cdot Fr} & F1_y \cdot Fr & Fr \cdot 1_{Fx} & \xrightarrow{\mathsf{id} \cdot \mathsf{e}^F} & Fr \cdot F1_x \\ \lambda & & \downarrow \mathsf{m}^F & \rho \downarrow & & \downarrow \mathsf{m}^F \\ Fr & \xrightarrow{F\lambda^{-1}} & F(1_y \cdot r) & Fr & \xrightarrow{F\rho^{-1}} & F(r \cdot 1_x) \end{array}$$

- Comparison coherence for composition: the following diagram commutes

$$\begin{array}{ccc} (Ft \cdot Fs) \cdot Fr & \xrightarrow{\mathsf{m}^F \cdot \mathsf{id}} F(t \cdot s) \cdot Fr & \xrightarrow{\mathsf{m}^F} F((t \cdot s) \cdot r) \\ & & & \downarrow \\ & & & \downarrow \\ F\alpha \\ Ft \cdot (Fs \cdot Fr) & \xrightarrow{\mathsf{id} \cdot \mathsf{m}^F} Ft \cdot F(s \cdot r) & \xrightarrow{\mathsf{m}^F} F(t \cdot (s \cdot r)) \end{array}$$

Dually, an oplax functor $F: \mathbb{B} \to \mathbb{C}$ is the horizontally dual notion (reverse the 2-cells). If the unit comparison transformation is an isomorphism, we say F is normal, and if both comparisons are isomorphisms, then we say F is a strong functor (which can be seen both as a lax and oplax functor).

Proposition 1.2. Composition of (op)lax functors is well-defined, associative, and has identities. That is to say, $PsDbCat_{lax}$ ($PsDbCat_{opl}$) with double categories as objects and (op)lax functors as morphisms forms a category.

Proof. For a double category \mathbb{D} , the identity functor is given by the identity function on objects and identity functor hom-categories, with coherence morphisms given by identities. The coherence conditions trivialize, thus we get a strong functor.

For lax functors $F \colon \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{D}$ and $G \colon \mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{E}$, define the GF to be given by

 $\begin{array}{l} - \ (GF)_0 = G_0 F_0, \\ - \ (GF)_1 = G_1 F_1, \\ - \ {\rm e}^{GF} = G \ {\rm e}^F \circ {\rm e}^G, \\ - \ {\rm m}^{GF} = G \ {\rm m}^F \circ {\rm m}^G. \end{array}$

To verify GF is a lax functor, first note that e^{GF} and m^{GF} are natural transformations, and globular, since G is a lax functor. Next, observe that the following diagrams



commute, since every inner polygon commutes: either by coherence (of both F and G) or by naturality (only in \mathbf{m}^G). Hence, the morphisms on the boundaries are equal, which give the coherences for GF. If \mathbf{e}^F , \mathbf{m}^F , \mathbf{e}^G , \mathbf{m}^G are isomorphisms, then so are \mathbf{e}^{GF} and \mathbf{m}^{GF} .

Finally, note that the identity functors are the units for lax functor composition, and this operation is also associative. This is because all required compositions occur on categories: function composition on a category of sets, functor composition on Cat, and 2-cell composition on the hom-categories (plus the composition preservation by the functors between them). \Box

1.3. Vertical transformations. We fix lax functors $H: \mathbb{A} \to \mathbb{B}$, $K: \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{D}$ and oplax functors $F: \mathbb{A} \to \mathbb{C}$ and $G: \mathbb{B} \to \mathbb{D}$. A generalized vertical transformation ϕ , depicted as

$$\begin{array}{c} \mathbb{A} \xrightarrow{H} \mathbb{B} \\ F \downarrow & \phi & \downarrow G \\ \mathbb{C} \xrightarrow{K} \mathbb{D} \end{array}$$

so that the vertical domain, codomain are F, G respectively, and horizontal domain, codomain given by H, K respectively.

- A natural transformation $\phi_0 \colon G_0 H_0 \to K_0 F_0$,
- A natural transformation $\phi_1 \colon G_1 H_1 \to K_1 F_1$,

satisfying dom $\cdot \phi_1 = \phi_0 \cdot \text{dom}$ and $\operatorname{cod} \cdot \phi_1 = \phi_0 \cdot \operatorname{cod}$, subject to the following conditions:



We say ϕ is a vertical transformation between lax functors if F = id and G = id, in which case we denote it simply as $\phi: H \to K$, and vertical transformations between oplax functors can be analogously defined.

Proposition 1.3. Lax functors and (generalized) vertical transformations form a category, and the vertical domain, codomain operations define functors to PsDbCat_{opl}.

Proof. The identity vertical transformation on a lax functor F is given by id_{F_0} and id_{F_1} , which trivially satisifies the conditions, and has identities functors as vertical domain and codomain.

To define composition, we consider the generalized vertical transformations ϕ and ψ as given below:

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathbb{A} & \xrightarrow{P} & \mathbb{B} & \mathbb{C} & \xrightarrow{Q} & \mathbb{D} \\ F & \phi & \downarrow G & H & \psi & \downarrow K \\ \mathbb{C} & \xrightarrow{Q} & \mathbb{D} & \mathbb{E} & \xrightarrow{R} & \mathbb{F} \end{array}$$

We define $(\psi \circ \phi)_i = \psi_i F_i \circ K_i \phi_i$ for i = 0, 1. Since we have



and



we conclude that $\psi \circ \phi$ is a generalized vertical transformation, with vertical domain HF and codomain KG. Hence, if ϕ and ψ are globular, then so is $\psi \circ \phi$, so we obtain a subcategory of lax functors and vertical transformations.

Associativity and identity are obtained via componentwise calculation on the underlying natural transformations. $\hfill \Box$

Proposition 1.4 ([19, 2.2]). We have a double category PsDbCat with double categories, lax and oplax functors and generalized vertical transformations as 0-cells, horizontal and vertical 1-cells and 2-cells, respectively.

Proof. The underlying Cat-graph for this double category is described in Proposition 1.3.

For an oplax functor $F \colon \mathbb{A} \to \mathbb{D}$, the identity natural transformation on F defines a generalized vertical transformation $1_F \colon 1_{\mathsf{id}} \to 1_{\mathsf{id}}$, whose vertical domain and codomain is F.

Given generalized vertical transformations ϕ and ψ as given by the following diagrams

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathbb{A} & \stackrel{P}{\longrightarrow} \mathbb{B} & & \mathbb{B} & \stackrel{R}{\longrightarrow} \mathbb{C} \\ F & \phi & \downarrow G & & G \\ \mathbb{D} & \stackrel{Q}{\longrightarrow} \mathbb{E} & & \mathbb{E} & \stackrel{R}{\longrightarrow} \mathbb{F} \end{array}$$

we denote their horizontal composite by $\psi \cdot \phi$, and is defined by $(\psi \cdot \phi)_i = S_i \phi_i \circ \psi_i P_i$. Since



 $e^{H} \cdot \underbrace{1_{\psi P}}_{H e^{R}} \cdot \underbrace{1_{S\phi}}_{\varphi_{1}} \cdot \underbrace{Se^{G}}_{\varphi_{1}} \cdot \underbrace{SI_{\phi}}_{\varphi_{1}} \cdot \underbrace{Se^{Q}}_{\varphi_{1}} \cdot \underbrace{SGe^{P}}_{\psi_{1}} \cdot \underbrace{SGe^{P}}_{\varphi_{1}} \cdot \underbrace{SQe^{H}}_{\varphi_{1}} \cdot \underbrace$

are commutative diagrams, we conclude $\psi \cdot \phi$ is a generalized vertical transformation, with vertical domain F and codomain H. Associativity and identity conditions hold, via componentwise calculation on the underlying natural transformations, so we may take the associator and unitor isomorphisms to be identities.

1.4. Horizontal transformations: Let $F, G: \mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{E}$ be lax functors. A lax horizontal transformation $\phi: F \to G$ is given by data

- a functor $\phi \colon \mathbb{D}_0 \to \mathbb{E}_1$

- a globular natural transformation $\mathbf{n}^{\phi} \colon G \cdot \phi_{\text{dom}} \to \phi_{\text{cod}} \cdot F$ of functors $\mathbb{D}_1 \to \mathbb{E}_1$.

satisfying the following coherence conditions:

- Comparison coherence for the unit: the following diagram commutes

$$\begin{array}{cccc} 1_{Gx} \cdot \phi_x & \stackrel{\gamma}{\longrightarrow} \phi_x \cdot 1_{Fx} \\ e^G \cdot \mathrm{id} & & & \downarrow \mathrm{id} \cdot \mathrm{e}^F \\ G1_x \cdot \phi_x & \stackrel{\phi_{1x}}{\longrightarrow} \phi_x \cdot F1_x \end{array}$$

for all 0-cells x.

and

- Comparison coherence for the composition: the following diagram commutes



for each pair $r: x \to y, s: y \to z$ of horizontal 1-cells.

Oplax horizontal transformations between (op)lax functors are obtained by dualizing 2-cells, and strong horizontal transformations are those whose comparison 2-cells are invertible, and hence are simultaneously lax and oplax.

Proposition 1.5. Let $F \colon \mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{E}$ be a lax functor. The data

- (i) $(1_F)_x = 1_{Fx}$ for each 0-cell x,
- (ii) $(1_F)_f = 1_{Ff}$ for each vertical 1-cell f, (iii) $\mathbf{n}_r^{1_F} = \gamma_{Fr}$ for each horizontal 1-cell r,

defines a strong horizontal transformation $1_F \colon F \to F$.

Proof. The data (i) and (ii) tell us that the underlying functor of 1_F is the composite $1 \circ F_0$: $\mathbb{D}_0 \to \mathbb{E}_1$, and the datum (iii) tells us that the underlying globular natural transformation \mathbf{n}^{1_F} is given by the whiskering $\gamma \cdot F_1$: $F \cdot 1_{\text{dom}} \to 1_{\text{cod}} \cdot F$, so the data is well-defined.

We're left with checking coherence. First, we observe that

$$\begin{array}{cccc} 1_{Fx} \cdot 1_{Fx} & \stackrel{\gamma}{\longrightarrow} & 1_{Fx} \cdot 1_{Fx} \\ & & \downarrow^{\mathsf{id} \cdot \mathsf{e}^F} & & \downarrow^{\mathsf{e}^F \cdot \mathsf{id}} \\ 1_{Fx} \cdot F1_x & \stackrel{\gamma}{\longrightarrow} & F1_x \cdot 1_{Fx} \end{array}$$

commutes by naturality, giving the comparison coherence diagram for the unit. Now, note that we have

(1.1)
$$\alpha^{-1} \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \gamma) \circ \alpha \circ (\gamma \cdot \mathsf{id}) \circ \alpha^{-1} = \gamma$$

by (b), (d) and (c), so that the following diagram commutes



by naturality of γ . Since $\gamma \cdot F_1$ is invertible, we conclude that $1_F \colon F \to F$ is a strong horizontal transformation.

Proposition 1.6. Let $\phi: F \to G, \psi: G \to H$ be law horizontal transformations, where $F, G, H: \mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{E}$ are law functors. The data

- (i) $(\psi \cdot \phi)_x = \psi_x \cdot \phi_x \colon Fx \to Hx$ for each 0-cell x,
- (ii) $(\psi \cdot \phi)_f = \psi_f \cdot \phi_f$ for each vertical 1-cell f,
- (iii) $\mathbf{n}_r^{\psi\cdot\phi} = \alpha^{-1} \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mathbf{n}_r^{\phi}) \circ \alpha \circ (\mathbf{n}_r^{\psi} \cdot \mathsf{id}) \circ \alpha^{-1}$ for each horizontal 1-cell r

defines a lax horizontal transformation $\psi \cdot \phi \colon F \to H$.

Proof. Due to functoriality of horizontal composition and of the underlying functors of ϕ and ψ , it is enough to point out that ϕ_x) and ψ_x are a composable pair of horizontal 1-cells to make sure the data (i) and (ii) define a functor $\mathbb{D}_0 \to \mathbb{E}_1$.

Furthermore, note that the datum (iii) is a composite of globular natural transformations, so it is enough to verify the coherence conditions are satisfied.

We note the following diagram, in which we have supressed the horizontal 1-cells,



commutes, by naturality of α and unit comparison coherence for ψ and ϕ . By 1.1, the top composite is γ , so this confirms unit comparison coherence for $\psi \cdot \phi$.

The next diagram verifies composition coherence for $\psi \cdot \phi$: it is a pasting of composition coherences for ψ and ϕ , a naturality square from the functoriality of \cdot , and the remaining diagrams are coherence and naturality of α .



Hence, we have confirmed composition coherence for $\psi \cdot \phi$, concluding the proof.

1.5. Modifications. Let $F, G, H, K : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{D}$ be lax functors and let $\zeta : F \to H, \xi : G \to K$ be oplax horizontal transformations, and let $\phi : F \to G, \psi : H \to K$ be vertical transformations. A modification

 $\Gamma: \zeta \to \xi$, depicted as

(1.2)
$$\begin{array}{c} F \xrightarrow{\zeta} H \\ \phi \downarrow & \Gamma & \downarrow \psi \\ G \xrightarrow{\epsilon} K \end{array}$$

is a natural transformation $\Gamma: \zeta \to \xi$ on the underlying functors $\zeta, \xi: \mathbb{D}_0 \to \mathbb{E}_1$ such that

commutes for all horizontal 1-cells $r: x \to y$. We say ϕ and ψ are respectively the vertical domain and codomain of Γ .

Proposition 1.7. We have a category $Lax_{opl}(\mathbb{D}, \mathbb{E})$ with oplax horizontal transformations of lax functors $\mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{E}$ as objects, and modifications as morphisms. Moreover, the vertical domain and codomain operations define functors to the category of lax functors and vertical transformations.

Proof. Let $\zeta: F \to G$ be an oplax transformation of lax functors $\mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{E}$. We take the identity modification id_{ζ} on ζ to be given by identity natural transformation on the underlying functor of ζ , whose vertical domain and codomain are taken to be the identity vertical transformations id_F and id_G , respectively. The instance of the diagram (1.3) for id_{ζ} is trivially commutative.

Let Γ, Ξ be modifications given by

$$\begin{array}{ccc} F & \stackrel{\zeta}{\longrightarrow} & G \\ \phi & & \Gamma & \downarrow \psi \\ H & -\xi \to & K \\ \theta & & \Xi & \downarrow \omega \\ L & \xrightarrow{\chi} & M \end{array}$$

We define the composite $\Gamma \circ \Xi$ to be the vertical composition of the underlying natural transformations. Since

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \zeta_{y} \cdot Fr & \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{y} \cdot \phi_{r}} & \xi_{y} \cdot Hr & \xrightarrow{\Xi_{y} \cdot \theta_{r}} & \chi_{y} \cdot Lr \\ \mathfrak{n}_{r}^{\zeta} & & \mathfrak{n}_{r}^{\zeta} & & \downarrow \mathfrak{n}_{r}^{\chi} \\ Gr \cdot \zeta_{x} & \xrightarrow{\psi_{r} \cdot \Gamma_{x}} & Kr \cdot \xi_{x} & \xrightarrow{\omega_{r} \cdot \Xi_{x}} & Mr \cdot \chi_{x} \end{array}$$

commutes for all horizontal 1-cells $r: x \to y$, we confirm $\Xi \circ \Gamma: \phi \to \chi$ is a modification with vertical domain $\theta \circ \phi$ and codomain $\omega \circ \psi$.

Associativity and identity properties are inherited from natural transformations, and functoriality of vertical domain and codomain is an immediate consequence. \Box

Proposition 1.8. Let \mathbb{D} , \mathbb{E} be double categories. Lax_{opl}(\mathbb{D} , \mathbb{E}) has the structure of a double category, with lax functors as 0-cells, vertical transformations as vertical 1-cells, oplax horizontal transformations as horizontal 1-cells, and modifications as 2-cells.

Proof. The underlying categories of cells are provided in Propositions 1.2 and 1.7. moreover, the latter has provided the vertical domain and codomain functors.

We have defined the horizontal unit functor on objects in Proposition 1.5. For a vertical transformation $\phi: F \to G$, we define 1_{ϕ} to be the modification with underlying natural transformation $1 \cdot \phi_0$, with vertical domain 1_F and codomain 1_G ; note that

$$\begin{array}{cccc} 1_F \cdot Fr & \xrightarrow{\mathbf{1}_{\phi} \cdot \phi_r} & \mathbf{1}_G \cdot Gr \\ \gamma & & & & \downarrow \gamma \\ Fr \cdot \mathbf{1}_F & \xrightarrow{\phi_r \cdot \mathbf{1}_{\phi}} & Gr \cdot \mathbf{1}_G \end{array}$$

commutes by naturality of γ . Since this is just whiskering with 1: $\mathbb{E}_0 \to E_1$, this describes a functor.

We have defined the horizontal composition functor on objects in Proposition 1.6. For modifications Γ and Ξ as depicted below

$$\begin{array}{ccc} F & \stackrel{\zeta}{\longrightarrow} & H & \stackrel{\xi}{\longrightarrow} & L \\ \phi & & \Gamma & \downarrow \psi & \Xi & \downarrow \chi \\ G & \stackrel{\theta}{\longrightarrow} & K & \stackrel{\omega}{\longrightarrow} & M \end{array}$$

we define $\Xi \cdot \Gamma$ to be the horizontal composition of the underlying natural transformations. This is a modification, since the following diagram commutes

$$(\xi_{y} \cdot \zeta_{y}) \cdot Fr \xrightarrow{\alpha} \xi_{y} \cdot (\zeta_{y} \cdot Fr) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id} \cdot n_{r}^{\xi}} \xi_{y} \cdot (Hr \cdot \zeta_{x}) \xrightarrow{\alpha^{-1}} \dots$$

$$(\Xi_{y} \cdot \overset{\neg}{y}) \cdot \phi_{r} \qquad \Xi_{y} \cdot \overset{\neg}{(r_{y}} \cdot \phi_{r}) \qquad \Xi_{y} \cdot \overset{\neg}{(r_{r}} \cdot \Gamma_{x})$$

$$(\omega_{y} \cdot \theta_{y}) \cdot Gr \xrightarrow{\alpha} \omega_{y} \cdot (\theta_{y} \cdot Gr) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id} \cdot n_{r}^{\theta}} \omega_{y} \cdot (Kr \cdot \theta_{x}) \xrightarrow{\alpha^{-1}} \dots$$

$$(1.4) \qquad \dots \xrightarrow{\alpha^{-1}} (\xi_{y} \cdot Hr) \cdot \zeta_{x} \xrightarrow{n_{r}^{\xi} \cdot \operatorname{id}} (Lr \cdot \xi_{x}) \cdot \zeta_{x} \xrightarrow{\alpha} Lr \cdot (\xi_{x} \cdot \zeta_{x})$$

$$(\Xi_{y} \cdot \overset{\neg}{\psi_{r}}) \cdot \Gamma_{x} \qquad (\chi_{r} \cdot \overset{\neg}{\Xi_{x}}) \cdot \Gamma_{x} \qquad \chi_{r} \cdot \overset{\neg}{(\Xi_{x}} \cdot \Gamma_{x})$$

$$\dots \xrightarrow{\alpha^{-1}} (\omega_{y} \cdot Kr) \cdot \theta_{x} \xrightarrow{n_{r}^{\omega} \cdot \operatorname{id}} (Mr \cdot \omega_{x}) \cdot \theta_{x} \xrightarrow{\alpha} Mr \cdot (\omega_{x} \cdot \theta_{x})$$

and has vertical domain ϕ and codomain χ .

Since horizontal composition in \mathbb{E} is functorial, we obtain functoriality of horizontal composition of modifications. Moreover, both the horizontal unit and horizontal composition have the required behaviour with respect to vertical domains and codomains.

We're left with providing the unitors and associator, and the respective proofs that these satisfy the required coherence conditions. Moreover, we define $\lambda_{\zeta}: 1_H \cdot \zeta \to \zeta$ to be given by $\lambda_{\zeta_x}: 1_{Hx} \cdot \zeta_x \to \zeta_x$, and ρ_{ζ} is similarly defined. These are globular modifications, as the following diagrams commute

by naturality of λ, ρ , and coherence.

Finally, we let $\pi: L \to P$ be another oplax horizontal transformation. We define $\alpha: (\pi \cdot \xi) \cdot \zeta \to \pi \cdot (\xi \cdot \zeta)$ to be given at x by $\alpha: (\pi_x \cdot \xi_x) \cdot \zeta_x \to \pi_x \cdot (\xi_x \cdot \zeta_x)$. Also a natural isomorphism, and is a globular

modification since the following diagram commutes:

which is obtained by pasting coherence pentagons and naturality squares of α .

By checking componentwise, we find that λ, ρ and α satisfy the desired coherence conditions.

1.6. **Examples:** The pseudodouble categories studied in this body of work are:

- The pseudodouble category \mathcal{V} -Mat of \mathcal{V} -matrices, for distributive monoidal categories \mathcal{V} (that is, for \mathcal{V} with coproducts, which preserved by the tensor product; see [6, 12, 15]).
- The pseudodouble category Span(B) of spans of morphsims in B, for B a category with pullbacks (see [4, 22, 15]).
- The pseudodouble categories $\mathsf{Lax}_{lax}(\mathbb{D},\mathbb{E})$ and $\mathsf{Lax}_{opl}(\mathbb{D},\mathbb{E})$ for double categories \mathbb{D},\mathbb{E} .
- The double categories Lax-T-Alg, Ps-T-Alg of lax and pseudo T-algebras, for T a pseudomonad on a 2-category \mathbb{B} .
- The double category $\mathsf{Mnd}(\mathbb{B}) = \mathsf{Lax}\operatorname{-id}\operatorname{-Alg}$ of monads in a 2-category \mathbb{B} .

We shall specify the double categorical structure of Lax - T- Alg. First, recall that we have 2-categories Lax - T- Alg_{lax} and Lax - T- Alg_{opl} whose 0-cells are lax T-algebras, with their (op)lax morphisms and their respective 2-cells [36]; however, there is a notion of generalized 2-cell which subsumes both structures.

We will be taking the vertical 1-cells to be the oplax morphisms and the horizontal 1-cells to be the lax morphisms. Let $(h, \phi): (w, a, \eta, \mu) \to (x, b, \eta, \mu), (k, \psi): (y, c, \eta, \mu) \to (z, d, \eta, \mu)$ be lax T-algebra lax morphisms and $(f, \zeta): (w, a, \eta, \mu) \to (y, c, \eta, \mu), (g, \xi): (x, b, \eta, \mu) \to (z, d, \eta, \mu)$ be lax T-algebra oplax morphisms. A generalized lax T-algebra 2-cell

$$\begin{array}{ccc} (w, a, \eta, \mu) & \xrightarrow{(h,\phi)} & (x, b, \eta, \mu) \\ (f,\zeta) & & & \downarrow^{(g,\psi)} \\ (y, c, \eta, \mu) & \xrightarrow{(k,\xi)} & (z, d, \eta, \mu) \end{array}$$

consists of a 2-cell $\omega \colon g \cdot h \to k \cdot f$ satisfying the following coherence condition



where we write $\omega^T = (\mathbf{m}^T)^{-1} \circ T \omega \circ \mathbf{m}^T$. Horizontal and vertical composition is defined as expected: to be explicit, we consider generalized lax *T*-algebra 2-cells θ, σ given by

$$\begin{array}{ccc} (y,c,\eta,\mu) \xrightarrow{(k,\xi)} (z,d,\eta,\mu) & (x,b,\eta,\mu) \xrightarrow{(h',\phi')} (w',a',\eta,\mu) \\ (f',\phi') & \downarrow & \theta & \downarrow (g',\psi') & (g,\psi) \\ (x',b',\eta,\mu) \xrightarrow{(m,\pi)} (z',d',\eta,\mu) & (z,d,\eta,\mu) \xrightarrow{(k',\phi')} (y',c',\eta,\mu) \end{array}$$

and we define $\theta \circ \omega = (\theta \cdot f) \circ (g' \cdot \omega)$ and $\sigma \cdot \omega = (k' \cdot \omega) \circ (\sigma \cdot h)$. These provide a double categorical structure to Lax-*T*-Alg, provided the coherence conditions are satisfied for $\theta \circ \omega$ and $\sigma \cdot \omega$, which are given by the commutativity of the following diagrams:



with analogous definitions for θ^T and σ^T , plus a couple of omitted coherence conditions which confirm that $(\theta^T \cdot Tf) \circ (Tg' \cdot \omega^T) = (\theta \circ \omega)^T$ and $(Tk' \cdot \omega^T) \circ (\sigma^T \cdot Th) = (\sigma \cdot \omega)^T$.

2. Spans versus matrices

Let \mathcal{V} be a distributive, cartesian monoidal category with finite limits. Our starting point is the adjunction

(2.1)
$$\operatorname{Set} \underbrace{\overbrace{\bot}}^{-\cdot 1}_{\mathcal{V}(1,-)} \mathcal{V}$$

whose unit and counit we denote by $\hat{\eta}, \hat{\varepsilon}$ respectively; here, $-\cdot 1$ is the copower with the terminal object 1.

After fixing some notation regarding \mathcal{V} -Mat and Span(\mathcal{V}), we confirm that (2.1) induces an adjunction of internal Cat-graph morphisms

$$-\boldsymbol{\cdot} 1\colon \mathcal{V}\operatorname{\!-Mat} \to \operatorname{\mathsf{Span}}(\mathcal{V}) \qquad \mathcal{V}(1,-)\colon \operatorname{\mathsf{Span}}(\mathcal{V}) \to \mathcal{V}\operatorname{\!-Mat}$$

and we will furthermore confirm that $-\cdot 1$ defines an oplax functor.

Together with the tools and terminology provided in Sections 3 and 4, we will be able to deduce that $\mathcal{V}(1,-)$ is a lax functor, and that we have a conjunction in the double category PsDbCat. The unit and counit may be depicted as follows

$$\begin{array}{c|c} \mathcal{V}\text{-}\mathsf{Mat} & \longrightarrow \mathcal{V}\text{-}\mathsf{Mat} & \mathsf{Span}(\mathcal{V}) \xrightarrow{\mathcal{V}(1,-)} \mathcal{V}\text{-}\mathsf{Mat} \\ \hline & -\cdot 1 & \hat{\eta} & \| & \| & \hat{\varepsilon} & \downarrow -\cdot 1 \\ \mathsf{Span}(\mathcal{V}) \xrightarrow{\mathcal{V}(1,-)} \mathcal{V}\text{-}\mathsf{Mat} & \mathsf{Span}(\mathcal{V}) \xrightarrow{} \mathsf{Span}(\mathcal{V}) \end{array}$$

alluding to the fact that these are generalized vertical transformations in PsDbCat.

Notation for $\text{Span}(\mathcal{V})$: The Cat-graph $\text{Span}(\mathcal{V})$ is succintly defined as $[l \leftarrow m \rightarrow r, \mathcal{V}] \rightrightarrows \mathcal{V}$, whose underlying functors are the evaluations at l and r. Throughout this work, we opt to denote spans $p: X \rightarrow Y$ in \mathcal{V} as the following diagram

$$X \xleftarrow{l_p} M_p \xrightarrow{r_p} Y$$

and a 2-cell θ will be denoted as a morphism $M_p \to M_q$ making both of the following squares commute:

$$\begin{array}{cccc} X & \xleftarrow{l_p} & M_p & \xrightarrow{r_p} Y \\ f \downarrow & & \downarrow_{\theta} & & \downarrow_{g} \\ W & \xleftarrow{l_q} & M_q & \xrightarrow{r_q} Z \end{array}$$

The unit span $1_X \colon X \to X$ is defined on objects by $M_{1_X} = X$ and $l_{1_x} = r_{1_x} = id_X$, and on morphisms $f \colon X \to Y$ by $l_f = r_f = f$.

Let $q: Y \not\rightarrow Z$ be another span in \mathcal{V} . We write the pullback which defines $q \cdot p$ as

$$\begin{array}{ccc} M_{q \cdot p} & \xrightarrow{\pi_0} & M_q \\ \pi_1 & & & \downarrow l_q \\ M_p & \xrightarrow{r_p} & Y \end{array}$$

so that we have $l_{q \cdot p} = l_p \circ \pi_1$ and $r_{q \cdot p} = r_q \circ \pi_0$. By abuse of notation, we may refer to instances of such pullback diagrams as $M_{q \cdot p}$.

The unitors $\lambda: 1 \cdot p \to p$ and $\rho: p \cdot 1 \to p$ in $\mathsf{Span}(\mathcal{V})$ are given by the pullback projections $\pi_1: M_{1\cdot p} \to M_p$ and $\pi_0: M_{p\cdot 1} \to M_p$, respectively.

Given a third span $r: Z \to W$, note that the universal property of the pullback $M_{q\cdot p}$ guarantees the existence of a unique map $\pi_2: M_{(r\cdot q)\cdot p} \to M_{q\cdot p}$ such that $\pi_1 \circ \pi_2 = \pi_1$ and $\pi_1 \circ \pi_0 = \pi_0 \circ \pi_2$:



With this, the associator α : $(r \cdot q) \cdot p \to r \cdot (q \cdot p)$ may be defined as the unique map such that $\pi_1 \circ \alpha = \pi_2$ and $\pi_0 \circ \alpha = \pi_0 \circ \pi_0$, via the universal property of the pullback $M_{r \cdot (q \cdot p)}$:



Notation for \mathcal{V} -Mat: Let $p: U \nrightarrow V$ be a \mathcal{V} -matrix. We denote by $p(u, v) \in \mathcal{V}$ the value of p at the pair $(u, v) \in U \times V$. A 2-cell of \mathcal{V} -matrices

$$U \xrightarrow{p} V$$

$$f \downarrow \qquad \theta \qquad \downarrow^{g}$$

$$W \xrightarrow{q} X$$

consists of a family of morphisms $\theta_{u,v}: p(u,v) \to q(fu,gv)$ in \mathcal{V} , for $u \in U$ and $v \in V$. Given another 2-cell

$$\begin{array}{ccc} W & \stackrel{q}{\longrightarrow} X \\ \downarrow^h & \omega & \downarrow^k \\ Y & \stackrel{r}{\longrightarrow} Z \end{array}$$

the composite $\omega \circ \theta$ is given at u, v by the composite of

$$p(u,v) \xrightarrow{\theta_{u,v}} q(fu,gv) \xrightarrow{\omega_{fu,gv}} r(hfu,kgv),$$

exhibiting the structure of \mathcal{V} -Mat as an internal Cat-graph.

Given $u, u' \in U$, we write [u = u'] for the set that is a singleton if u = u' and empty otherwise. Note that if we have a function $f: U \to V$, then there is a unique morphism $[u = u'] \to [fu = fu']$. With this, the unit \mathcal{V} -matrix $1_U: U \to U$ is defined by $1_U(u, u') = [u = u'] \cdot 1$ for a set U, and 1_f is given by $1_f(u, u'): [u = u'] \cdot 1 \to [fu = fu'] \cdot 1$ for a function $f: U \to V$.

Recall that if $t: V \rightarrow W$ is another \mathcal{V} -matrix, we have

$$(t \cdot s)(u, w) = \sum_{v \in V} t(v, w) \times s(u, v)$$

which is the composition of \mathcal{V} -matrices. This is likewise defined for 2-cells.

The unitors and associators are then given by taking coproducts over the unitors and associators for the cartesian monoidal structure of \mathcal{V} .

Lifting the adjunction to Grph(Cat): For a \mathcal{V} -matrix $p: X \nleftrightarrow Y$, we define $M_{p\cdot 1} = \sum_{x,y} p(x,y)$, and we define $p \cdot 1: X \cdot 1 \nrightarrow Y \cdot 1$ to be the span given by taking the coproduct of $p(x,y) \to 1$ indexed by $X \times Y$; this gives a morphism $M_{p\cdot 1} \to X \cdot 1 \times Y \cdot 1$ (see Diagram (2.2) below, which is commutative by the universal property of the coproduct), whose composite with the projections determine $l_{p\cdot 1}$ and $r_{p\cdot 1}$.

We write $\hat{\pi}_0: (t \cdot s) \cdot 1 \to t \cdot 1$ (respectively, $\hat{\pi}_1: (t \cdot s) \cdot 1 \to s \cdot 1$) for the coproducts of the projections $t(v, w) \times s(u, v) \to t(v, w)$ indexed by $U \times V \times W \to V \times W$ (respectively, $t(v, w) \times s(u, v) \to s(u, v)$ indexed by $U \times V \times W \to U \times V$).

For a span $p: V \not\rightarrow W$ in \mathcal{V} , we define the \mathcal{V} -matrix $\mathcal{V}(1,p): \mathcal{V}(1,V) \not\rightarrow \mathcal{V}(1,W)$ to be given at v, w by the following pullback:

(2.3)
$$\begin{array}{c} \mathcal{V}(1,p)(v,w) \xrightarrow{} 1 \\ \downarrow \\ M_p \xrightarrow{} \\ M_p \xrightarrow{} \\ l_p,r_p \longrightarrow V \times W \end{array}$$

and if we have a 2-cell of spans θ :

$$V \xleftarrow{l_p} M_p \xrightarrow{r_p} W$$

$$f \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow_{\theta} \qquad \qquad \downarrow_{g}$$

$$X \xleftarrow{l_q} M_q \xrightarrow{r_q} Y$$

then $\mathcal{V}(1,\theta)$ is the 2-cell uniquely determined by pullback as follows:

We observe that $l_q \circ \theta = f \circ l_p$ and $r_q \circ \theta = f \circ r_p$.

We extend $\hat{\eta}$, $\hat{\varepsilon}$ to \mathcal{V} -Mat and Span(\mathcal{V}): for a \mathcal{V} -matrix $p: X \to Y$, we define $\hat{\eta}_p: p \to \mathcal{V}(1, p \cdot 1)$ at x, y to be given by the dashed arrow



For a span $p: V \to W$, we let $\hat{\varepsilon}_p: \mathcal{V}(1,p) \cdot 1 \to p$ to be given by taking the coproduct of (2.3) indexed by

which yields a commutative square

By taking the coproduct of (2.4) over the diagram



we conclude that $\hat{\varepsilon}_{p\cdot 1} \circ \hat{\eta}_p \cdot 1 = \mathsf{id}_{p\cdot 1}$. Moreover, by considering the following diagram

we conclude $\mathcal{V}(1, \hat{\varepsilon}_s) \circ \eta_{\mathcal{V}(1,s)} = \mathsf{id}_{\mathcal{V}(1,s)}$. Hence, we have confirmed that

Proposition 2.1. We have an adjunction $- \cdot 1 \dashv \mathcal{V}(1, -)$: Span $(\mathcal{V}) \rightarrow \mathcal{V}$ -Mat in Grph(Cat).

Coherence for $-\cdot 1$: Now, we check that $-\cdot 1$ is a normal oplax functor: for a set X, consider the pullback diagram

(2.6)
$$\begin{array}{c} [x=y] \longrightarrow 1 \\ \delta_{x,y} \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow x, y \\ X \longrightarrow X \times X \end{array}$$

so that $\delta_{x,x} = x$ and $\delta_{x,y}$ is uniquely determined when $x \neq y$. Now, we consider the image of the diagram (2.6) under $-\cdot 1$, and take its coproduct indexed by:

This yields us $e_X^{-\cdot 1}$; since $[x = y] \cdot 1 \cong 0$ for $x \neq y$, we conclude that this 2-cell is invertible. Moreover, given a function $f: X \to Y$, we observe that the following diagram

commutes, as it is the image via $-\cdot 1$ of a commutative diagram in Set. Taking the coproduct over (2.7) confirms naturality of $e^{-\cdot 1}$.

For \mathcal{V} -matrices $p: X \nleftrightarrow Y, q: Y \nrightarrow Z, \mathsf{m}^{-1}$ is depicted in Diagram (2.8) below by a dashed arrow, and is uniquely determined by the universal property of the pullback square:

(2.8)
$$M_{(p\cdot q)\cdot 1} \xrightarrow{\hat{\pi}_{0}} \tilde{\pi}_{0} \xrightarrow{\pi_{0}} M_{q\cdot 1}$$
$$M_{(p\cdot 1)\cdot (q\cdot 1)} \xrightarrow{\pi_{0}} M_{q\cdot 1} \xrightarrow{\pi_{1}} M_{p\cdot 1} \xrightarrow{\pi_{1}} M_{p\cdot 1} \xrightarrow{\pi_{0}} Y \cdot 1$$

We consider the following horizontally composable 2-cells of \mathcal{V} -Mat:

We have

$$\pi_j \circ \mathsf{m}_{q_0,q_1}^{-\cdot 1} \circ ((\zeta_1 \cdot \zeta_0) \cdot 1) = (\pi_j \cdot 1) \circ ((\zeta_1 \cdot \zeta_0) \cdot 1)$$
$$= (\zeta_j \cdot 1) \circ (\pi_j \cdot 1)$$
$$= (\zeta_j \cdot 1) \circ \pi_j \circ \mathsf{m}_{p_0,p_1}^{-\cdot 1}$$
$$= \pi_j \circ ((\zeta_1 \cdot 1) \cdot (\zeta_0 \cdot 1)) \circ \mathsf{m}_{p_0,p_1}^{-\cdot 1}$$

for j = 0, 1. We obtain naturality via the universal property of the pullback $M_{(q_1 \cdot 1) \cdot (q_0 \cdot 1)}$. To verify the unit comparison coherence of $- \cdot 1$, we let $p: X \nrightarrow Y$ be a span in \mathcal{V} , and we consider the composite

$$\sum_{x,y,z} 1_Y(y,z) \times p(x,y) \xrightarrow{\mathsf{m}^{-1}} M_{(1_Y \cdot 1) \cdot (p \cdot 1)} \xrightarrow{\mathsf{e}^{-1} \cdot \mathsf{id}} M_{1_Y \cdot 1 \cdot (p \cdot 1)} \xrightarrow{\lambda} \sum_{x,y} p(x,y) \xrightarrow{\mathsf{m}^{-1}} M_{(1_Y \cdot 1) \cdot (p \cdot 1)} \xrightarrow{\mathsf{e}^{-1} \cdot \mathsf{id}} M_{1_Y \cdot 1 \cdot (p \cdot 1)} \xrightarrow{\lambda} \sum_{x,y} p(x,y) \xrightarrow{\mathsf{m}^{-1}} M_{(1_Y \cdot 1) \cdot (p \cdot 1)} \xrightarrow{\mathsf{e}^{-1} \cdot \mathsf{id}} M_{1_Y \cdot 1 \cdot (p \cdot 1)} \xrightarrow{\lambda} \sum_{x,y} p(x,y) \xrightarrow{\mathsf{m}^{-1}} M_{(1_Y \cdot 1) \cdot (p \cdot 1)} \xrightarrow{\mathsf{e}^{-1} \cdot \mathsf{id}} M_{1_Y \cdot 1 \cdot (p \cdot 1)} \xrightarrow{\lambda} \sum_{x,y} p(x,y) \xrightarrow{\mathsf{m}^{-1}} M_{(1_Y \cdot 1) \cdot (p \cdot 1)} \xrightarrow{\mathsf{e}^{-1} \cdot \mathsf{id}} M_{1_Y \cdot 1 \cdot (p \cdot 1)} \xrightarrow{\lambda} \sum_{x,y} p(x,y) \xrightarrow{\mathsf{m}^{-1}} M_{(1_Y \cdot 1) \cdot (p \cdot 1)} \xrightarrow{\mathsf{e}^{-1} \cdot \mathsf{id}} M_{1_Y \cdot 1 \cdot (p \cdot 1)} \xrightarrow{\lambda} \sum_{x,y} p(x,y) \xrightarrow{\mathsf{m}^{-1}} M_{(1_Y \cdot 1) \cdot (p \cdot 1)} \xrightarrow{\mathsf{m}^{-1} \cdot \mathsf{id}} M_{1_Y \cdot 1 \cdot (p \cdot 1)} \xrightarrow{\lambda} \sum_{x,y} p(x,y) \xrightarrow{\mathsf{m}^{-1}} M_{(1_Y \cdot 1) \cdot (p \cdot 1)} \xrightarrow{\mathsf{m}^{-1} \cdot \mathsf{id}} M_{1_Y \cdot 1 \cdot (p \cdot 1)} \xrightarrow{\lambda} \sum_{x,y} p(x,y) \xrightarrow{\mathsf{m}^{-1}} M_{(1_Y \cdot 1) \cdot (p \cdot 1)} \xrightarrow{\mathsf{m}^{-1} \cdot \mathsf{id}} M_{1_Y \cdot 1 \cdot (p \cdot 1)} \xrightarrow{\lambda} \sum_{x,y} p(x,y) \xrightarrow{\mathsf{m}^{-1}} M_{(1_Y \cdot 1) \cdot (p \cdot 1)} \xrightarrow{\mathsf{m}^{-1} \cdot \mathsf{id}} M_{1_Y \cdot 1 \cdot (p \cdot 1)} \xrightarrow{\lambda} \sum_{x,y} p(x,y) \xrightarrow{\mathsf{m}^{-1} \cdot \mathsf{id}} M_{1_Y \cdot 1} \xrightarrow{\mathsf{m}^{-1} \cdot \mathsf{id}} M_{1_Y \cdot 1 \cdot (p \cdot 1)} \xrightarrow{\lambda} \sum_{x,y} p(x,y) \xrightarrow{\mathsf{m}^{-1} \cdot \mathsf{id}} M_{1_Y \cdot 1} \xrightarrow{\mathsf{m}^{-1} \cdot \mathsf{id}} M_{1_Y \cdot$$

By definition, $\lambda: M_{1_{Y}\cdot 1\cdot (p\cdot 1)} \to M_{p\cdot 1}$ is simply the pullback projection, thus $\lambda \circ (\mathbf{e}^{-\cdot 1} \cdot \mathbf{id}) = \pi_1$ is the pullback projection $M_{(1_Y\cdot 1)\cdot (p\cdot 1)} \to M_{p\cdot 1}$, and therefore $\lambda \circ (\mathbf{e}^{-\cdot 1} \cdot \mathbf{id}) \circ \mathbf{m}^{-\cdot 1} = \pi_1 \circ \mathbf{m}^{-\cdot 1} = \hat{\pi}_1$ by (2.8). But $\hat{\pi}_1$ itself is the coproduct of $\hat{1}_Y(y,z) \times p(x,y) \to p(x,y)$ indexed by the projection $X \times Y \times Z \to Y \times Z$, which is just $\lambda \cdot 1$. A similar argument confirms the right unitor case.

Now, we're left with verifying the composition comparison coherence of $-\cdot 1$. For the remainder of the section, we will denote horizontal composition simply by concatenation. For an easier understanding of the calculations, we provide the following diagram:



First, we verify that $\mathbf{m}^{-\cdot 1} \circ (\pi_1 \cdot 1) \circ (\alpha \cdot 1) = \pi_1 \circ \alpha \circ (\mathbf{m}^{-\cdot 1} \cdot \mathsf{id}) \circ \mathbf{m}^{-\cdot 1}$ as 2-cells $((ts)r) \cdot 1 \to (s \cdot 1)(r \cdot 1)$. We have

$$\pi_{0} \circ \mathbf{m}^{-\cdot 1} \circ \hat{\pi}_{1} \circ (\alpha \cdot 1) = \hat{\pi}_{0} \circ \hat{\pi}_{1} \circ (\alpha \cdot 1)$$

$$= \hat{\pi}_{1} \circ \hat{\pi}_{0}$$

$$= \pi_{1} \circ \mathbf{m}^{-\cdot 1} \circ \pi_{0} \circ \mathbf{m}^{-\cdot 1}$$

$$= \pi_{1} \circ \pi_{0} \circ (\mathbf{m}^{-\cdot 1} \cdot \mathbf{id}) \circ \mathbf{m}^{-\cdot 1}$$

$$= \pi_{0} \circ \pi_{1} \circ \alpha \circ (\mathbf{m}^{-\cdot 1} \cdot \mathbf{id}) \circ \mathbf{m}^{-\cdot 1}$$

$$\pi_{1} \circ \mathbf{m}^{-\cdot 1} \circ \hat{\pi}_{1} \circ (\alpha \cdot 1) = \hat{\pi}_{1} \circ \hat{\pi}_{1} \circ (\alpha \cdot 1)$$

$$= \hat{\pi}_{1}$$

$$= \pi_{1} \circ \mathbf{m}^{-\cdot 1}$$

$$= \pi_{1} \circ (\mathbf{m}^{-\cdot 1} \cdot \mathbf{id}) \circ \mathbf{m}^{-\cdot 1}$$

$$= \pi_{1} \circ (\mathbf{m}^{-\cdot 1} \cdot \mathbf{id}) \circ \mathbf{m}^{-\cdot 1}$$

and then we apply the universal property of the pullback $M_{(s\cdot 1)(r\cdot 1)}$. With this, we finish our proof: note that

$$\begin{aligned} \pi_0 \circ \alpha \circ (\mathsf{m}^{-\cdot 1} \cdot \mathsf{id}) \circ \mathsf{m}^{-\cdot 1} &= \pi_0 \circ \pi_0 \circ (\mathsf{m}^{-\cdot 1} \cdot \mathsf{id}) \circ \mathsf{m}^{-\cdot 1} \\ &= \pi_0 \circ \mathsf{m}^{-\cdot 1} \circ \pi_0 \circ \mathsf{m}^{-\cdot 1} \\ &= (\pi_0 \cdot 1) \circ (\pi_0 \cdot 1) \\ &= (\pi_0 \cdot 1) \circ (\alpha \cdot 1) \\ &= \pi_0 \circ \mathsf{m}^{-\cdot 1} \circ (\alpha \cdot 1) \\ &= \pi_0 \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mathsf{m}^{-\cdot 1}) \circ \mathsf{m}^{-\cdot 1} \circ (\alpha \cdot 1) \\ &= \mathsf{m}^{-\cdot 1} \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mathsf{m}^{-\cdot 1}) \circ \mathsf{m}^{-\cdot 1} \circ (\alpha \cdot 1) \\ &= \mathsf{m}^{-\cdot 1} \circ (\pi_1 \cdot 1) \circ (\alpha \cdot 1) \\ &= \pi_1 \circ \alpha \circ (\mathsf{m}^{-\cdot 1} \cdot \mathsf{id}) \circ \mathsf{m}^{-\cdot 1} \end{aligned}$$

then we apply the universal property of $M_{(t\cdot 1)((s\cdot 1)(r\cdot 1))}$. This concludes the proof of

Proposition 2.2. $- \cdot 1$: \mathcal{V} -Mat \rightarrow Span (\mathcal{V}) is a normal oplax functor.

 π

3. Conjoints and companions

As introduced in [19], and studied in [42, 15, 16, 41], there exist two notions of "adjunction" between vertical and horizontal 1-cells in a pseudodouble category; these were introduced as *orthogonal adjunctions*.

To be precise, let \mathbb{D} be a pseudodouble category, and let $f: a \to b$ be a vertical 1-cell, $r: b \not\rightarrow a$ be a horizontal 1-cell. Following the terminology from [42, 41], we say that r is the *conjoint* of f if there exist 2-cells

such that $\varepsilon \circ \eta = 1_f$ and $\eta \cdot \varepsilon = \rho^{-1} \circ \lambda$. We say η , ε are the unit, counit of the conjoint, respectively. Also denote by *companion* the horizontally dual notion of conjoint; we denote the unit and counit 2-cells of a companion as $\nu: 1 \to r$ and $\delta: r \to 1$, respectively.

In any pseudodouble category \mathbb{D} , the identity vertical 1-cell on any 0-cell x always has both a companion and a conjoint; in both cases, it is given by the horizontal unit 1_x , with unit and counit given by $\mathsf{id}_{1_x} = 1_{\mathsf{id}_x}$, which trivially satisfies all four conditions. Unless otherwise specified, 1_x will be our fixed choice of companion/conjoint for id_x .

We say that \mathbb{D} is *conjoint (companion) closed* if every vertical 1-cell of \mathbb{D} has a conjoint (companion). For instance, *equipments* may be defined as the pseudodouble categories which are both conjoint and companion closed (see [42, Theorem A.2]), of which Span(\mathcal{V}) and \mathcal{V} -Mat are examples.

Let T be a pseudomonad on a 2-category \mathbb{B} , and consider the double category of lax T-algebras as described in Section 1. Our next result, Proposition 3.1, given in [36, Theorems 1.4.11 and 1.4.14], originally stated for strict T-algebras in [28], may be used to characterize conjoints and companions in Lax-T-Alg. Since this is just a restatement of the results of [36, Chapter 1], we omit the argument.

Proposition 3.1 (Doctrinal adjunction). Let $(f, g, \eta, \varepsilon)$ be an adjunction in a 2-category \mathbb{B} . There is a bijection between 2-cells ζ making (f, ζ) into an lax T-algebra oplax morphism and 2-cells ξ making (g, ξ) into a lax T-algebra lax morphism.

Moreover, (f, ζ) is the conjoint of (g, ξ) in Lax-T-Alg if and only if ζ and ξ correspond to each other via the aforementioned bijection, and f has a companion if and only if ζ is invertible; in which case, its companion is (f, ζ^{-1}) .

As is the case with ordinary adjunctions in a 2-category, there is also a notion of *mate theory* for conjoints (and dually, companions), which we present in Lemma 3.2. Results along these lines were already present in [19, 1.6], as well as [15, Corollary 7.21] and [41, Propositions 5.13 and 5.19]. We have decided to provide a slightly different statement and proof: our goal is to provide explicit formulas as an aid for calculations involving conjoints and companions, abundant in this work.

Lemma 3.2. Let $(f, f^*, \eta, \varepsilon)$ and $(g, g^*, \eta, \varepsilon)$ be conjoints, and consider 2-cells

(3.1)
$$\begin{array}{cccc} u & \xrightarrow{r} & x & v & \xrightarrow{r \cdot f^*} & x \\ k \circ f \downarrow & \zeta & \downarrow g \circ h & k \downarrow & \xi & \downarrow h \\ w & \xrightarrow{s} & z & w & \xrightarrow{g^* \cdot s} & y \end{array}$$

Then the following are equivalent:

(a)
$$\xi = \rho \circ \left(\left((\eta \circ 1_h) \cdot \zeta \right) \cdot (1_k \circ \varepsilon) \right) \circ \alpha^{-1} \circ \lambda^{-1},$$

(b) $\zeta = \lambda \circ (\varepsilon \cdot \operatorname{id}_s) \circ \xi \circ (\operatorname{id}_r \cdot \eta) \circ \rho^{-1},$

- (c) $\lambda \circ (\varepsilon \cdot \mathsf{id}_s) \circ \xi = \rho \circ (\zeta \cdot (1_k \circ \varepsilon)),$
- (d) $\xi \circ (\mathsf{id}_r \cdot \eta) \circ \rho^{-1} = ((\eta \circ 1_h) \cdot \zeta) \circ \lambda^{-1}$

In particular, the sets of 2-cells as given in (3.1) are in pairwise correspondence, explicitly given by the formulas (a) and (b). Pairs of such 2-cells are said to be mates or under mate correspondence.

Proof. We will prove that (c) \rightarrow_i (b) \rightarrow_{ii} (d) \rightarrow_{iii} (a) \rightarrow_{iv} (c).

(i) Since $\varepsilon \circ \eta = 1_f$, we have

$$\begin{split} \lambda \circ (\varepsilon \cdot \mathsf{id}_q) \circ \xi \circ (\mathsf{id}_p \cdot \eta) \circ \rho^{-1} &= \rho \circ \left(\zeta \cdot (1 \circ \varepsilon) \right) \circ (\mathsf{id}_p \cdot \eta) \circ \rho^{-1} \\ &= \rho \circ \left((\zeta \circ \mathsf{id}_p) \cdot (1 \circ \varepsilon \circ \eta) \right) \circ \rho^{-1} = \zeta \end{split}$$

(ii) Since $\eta \cdot \varepsilon = \rho^{-1} \circ \lambda$, we have

$$\begin{split} \left((\eta \circ 1) \cdot \zeta \right) \circ \lambda^{-1} &= \left((\eta \circ 1) \cdot \left(\lambda \circ (\varepsilon \cdot \mathrm{id}_q) \circ \xi \circ (\mathrm{id}_q \cdot \eta) \circ \rho^{-1}) \right) \right) \circ \lambda^{-1} \\ &= (\mathrm{id}_s \cdot \lambda) \circ (\eta \cdot (\varepsilon \cdot \mathrm{id}_q)) \circ \left(1 \cdot (\xi \circ (\mathrm{id}_p \cdot \eta) \circ \rho^{-1}) \right) \circ \lambda^{-1} \\ &= (\mathrm{id}_s \cdot \lambda) \circ \alpha \circ (\rho^{-1} \cdot \mathrm{id}_q) \circ (\lambda \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ \alpha^{-1} \circ \lambda^{-1} \circ \xi \circ (\mathrm{id}_p \cdot \eta) \circ \rho^{-1} \end{split}$$

and coherence guarantees

$$(\mathsf{id}\cdot\lambda)\circ\alpha\circ(\rho^{-1}\cdot\mathsf{id})\circ(\lambda\cdot\mathsf{id})\circ\alpha^{-1}\circ\lambda^{-1}=\mathsf{id},$$

as desired.

(iii) Since $\eta \cdot \varepsilon = \rho^{-1} \circ \lambda$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left((\eta \circ 1) \cdot \zeta \right) \cdot (1 \circ \varepsilon) &= \left(\xi \circ (\mathrm{id}_p \cdot \eta) \circ \rho^{-1} \circ \lambda \right) \cdot \varepsilon \\ &= (\xi \cdot 1) \circ ((\mathrm{id}_p \cdot \eta) \cdot \varepsilon) \circ ((\rho^{-1} \circ \lambda) \cdot \mathrm{id}_g) \\ &= (\xi \cdot 1) \circ \alpha^{-1} \circ (\mathrm{id}_p \cdot (\rho^{-1} \circ \lambda)) \circ \alpha \circ ((\rho^{-1} \circ \lambda) \cdot \mathrm{id}_{g^*}) \end{aligned}$$

and coherence guarantees

$$\rho \circ \alpha^{-1} \circ (\mathrm{id}_p \cdot (\rho^{-1} \circ \lambda)) \circ \alpha \circ ((\rho^{-1} \circ \lambda) \cdot \mathrm{id}_{g^*}) \circ \alpha^{-1} \circ \lambda^{-1} = \mathrm{id},$$

as desired.

(iv) Since $\varepsilon \circ \eta = 1_g$, we have

$$\begin{split} (\varepsilon \cdot \mathrm{id}_q) \circ \xi &= (\varepsilon \cdot \mathrm{id}_q) \circ \rho \circ \left(((\eta \circ 1) \cdot \zeta) \cdot (1 \circ \varepsilon) \right) \circ \alpha^{-1} \circ \lambda^{-1} \\ &= \rho \circ ((\varepsilon \cdot \mathrm{id}_q) \cdot \mathrm{id}_1) \circ (((\eta \circ 1) \cdot \zeta) \cdot (1 \circ \varepsilon)) \circ \alpha^{-1} \circ \lambda^{-1} \\ &= \rho \circ ((1 \cdot \zeta) \cdot \varepsilon) \circ \alpha^{-1} \circ \lambda^{-1} \\ &= \rho \circ \alpha^{-1} \circ \lambda^{-1} \circ (\zeta \cdot \varepsilon) \end{split}$$

and coherence guarantees

$$\rho \circ \alpha^{-1} \circ \lambda^{-1} = \lambda^{-1} \circ \rho,$$

as desired.

Remark 3.3. Once more, we consider the pair of 2-cells ζ, ξ given in (3.1). We will consider the following specialized instances of the mate correspondence:

(i) For k = id, (c) becomes $(\varepsilon \cdot id) \circ \xi = \gamma^{-1} \circ (\zeta \cdot \varepsilon)$.

- (ii) For h = id, (d) becomes $\xi \circ (id \cdot \eta) = (\eta \cdot \zeta) \circ \gamma^{-1}$.
- (iii) For s = 1, (c) becomes $\varepsilon \circ \theta = \rho \circ (\zeta \cdot (1_k \circ \varepsilon))$, where $\theta = \rho \circ \xi$.
- (iv) For r = 1, (d) becomes $\theta \circ \eta = ((\eta \circ 1_h) \cdot \zeta) \circ \lambda^{-1}$, where $\theta = \xi \circ \lambda^{-1}$.
- (v) For f = id, both (b) and (c) become $\zeta = \lambda \circ (\varepsilon \cdot id) \circ \theta$, where $\theta = \xi \circ \rho^{-1}$.
- (vi) For q = id, both (b) and (d) become $\zeta = \theta \circ (id \cdot \eta) \circ \rho^{-1}$, where $\theta = \lambda \circ \xi$.

And by combining these, we may obtain simpler forms. For example, (v) and (iii) (respectively, (vi) and (iv))) provide the result that the counit (unit) of a conjunction is a cartesian (opcartesian) 2-cell in the sense of [42, 15].

The combination of (iii) and (iv) is mainly used under the hypothesis that we have a commutative square $k \circ f = g \circ h$ of vertical 1-cells, that is, $\zeta = id$. In this case, the unit $1_{g \circ h} = 1_{k \circ f}$ has two mates; they are said to be the *mates of the commutative square* $k \circ f = g \circ h$, and are the unique 2-cells θ , ω , respectively satisfying

$$\varepsilon \circ \theta = 1_k \circ \varepsilon$$
 and $\theta \circ \eta = \eta \circ 1_h$
 $\varepsilon \circ \omega = 1_q \circ \varepsilon$ and $\omega \circ \eta = \eta \circ 1_f$

In practice, we will consider "the" mate of a commutative square $k \circ f = g \circ h$, and we let context determine which mate is being considered.

We proceed to review well-known [15, 19, 16, 42, 41], yet fundamental results about companions and conjoints. Our aim is to demonstrate the applications of their mate theory, while fixing notation to use for later reference in Sections 5 and 6.

Let $F: \mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{E}$ be a lax functor of conjoint closed pseudodouble categories, and let f is a vertical 1-cell in \mathbb{D} . We denote the mate of $F\eta \circ e^F$ obtained via (vi) by $\sigma_f^F: (Ff)^* \to F(f^*)$:

$$\begin{array}{c|c} \cdot & 1 & \cdot & \cdot & 1 \\ Ff & \eta & \| & \| & e^F & \| \\ \cdot & - (F^{F})^* \to \cdot & = & \cdot & -F1 \to \cdot \\ & \sigma_f^F & \| & Ff & F\eta & \| \\ \cdot & F(f^*) & \cdot & \cdot & \cdot & F(f^*) \end{array}$$

We say that F preserves the conjoint of f if σ_f^F is an invertible 2-cell; we say F preserves conjoints if σ_f^F is invertible for all vertical 1-cells f. We can show that:

Lemma 3.4. Let $F: \mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{E}$ be a lax functor of conjoint closed pseudodouble categories. The following are equivalent:

- (a) F preserves conjoints of identities,
- (b) F preserves all conjoints,
- (c) F is normal.

Proof. We begin by showing that any lax functor F satisfies the identity $F\varepsilon \circ \sigma^F = e^F \circ \varepsilon$, for we have

$$F\varepsilon \circ \sigma^F \circ \eta = F\varepsilon \circ F\eta \circ \mathbf{e}^F = F\mathbf{1}_f \circ \mathbf{e}^F = \mathbf{e}^F \circ \mathbf{1}_{Ff} = \mathbf{e}^F \circ \varepsilon \circ \eta,$$

so the desired equation follows by (vi).

Moreover, whenever σ_f^F is invertible, the following relations hold:

$$\begin{split} \varepsilon \circ (\sigma^F)^{-1} \circ F\eta \circ \mathbf{e}^F &= \varepsilon \circ \eta = \mathbf{1}_f, \\ \mathbf{e}^F \circ \varepsilon \circ (\sigma^F)^{-1} \circ F\eta &= F\varepsilon \circ F\eta = F\mathbf{1}_f. \end{split}$$

Hence, if σ_{id}^F is invertible for all 0-cells, we conclude that e^F is invertible; this confirms (a) \rightarrow (c).

Now, if we assume F is normal, we let χ^F be the unique 2-cell such that $\varepsilon \circ \chi^F = (\mathbf{e}^F)^{-1} \circ F\varepsilon$, obtained via (v). From this, it is clear that $\chi^F \circ \sigma^F = \mathrm{id}$, since

$$\varepsilon \circ \chi^F \circ \sigma^F = (\mathbf{e}^F)^{-1} \circ F \varepsilon \circ \sigma^F = \varepsilon,$$

$$\begin{split} \rho^{-1} \circ \sigma^F \circ \chi^F \circ \lambda &= (\sigma^F \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ \rho^{-1} \circ \lambda \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \chi^F) \\ &= (\sigma^F \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ (\eta \cdot \varepsilon) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \chi^F) \\ &= (\sigma^F \circ \eta) \cdot (\varepsilon \circ \chi^F) \\ &= (F\eta \circ \mathrm{e}^F) \cdot ((\mathrm{e}^F)^{-1} \circ F\varepsilon) \\ &= (\mathrm{id} \cdot (\mathrm{e}^F)^{-1}) \circ (F\eta \cdot F\varepsilon) \circ (\mathrm{e}^F \cdot \mathrm{id}) \\ &= \rho^{-1} \circ F\rho \circ \mathrm{m}^F \circ (F\eta \cdot F\varepsilon) \circ (\mathrm{e}^F \cdot \mathrm{id}) \\ &= \rho^{-1} \circ F\rho \circ F(\eta \cdot \varepsilon) \circ \mathrm{m}^F \circ (\mathrm{e}^F \cdot \mathrm{id}) \\ &= \rho^{-1} \circ \lambda \end{split}$$

confirms that χ^F is the inverse of σ^F . We have shown that (c) \rightarrow (b), and of course, (a) is a particular case of (b).

For the case of companions, we write $\tau_f^F \colon (Ff)_! \to F(f_!)$ for the mate of $F\nu \circ e^F$, and we say that F preserves the companion of f if τ^F is invertible. The horizontally dual result states that F preserves companions iff F is normal. Thus, we obtain the result that these three notions are equivalent for lax functors between pseudodouble categories ([16, Proposition 3.8]).

Lemma 3.5. Let $F: \mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{E}$ be a lax functor between conjoint closed pseudodouble categories, and let $r: x \to y$, $f: z \to y$ be horizontal, vertical 1-cells respectively. Then the 2-cell

$$(Ff)^* \cdot Fr \xrightarrow{\sigma^F \cdot \mathrm{id}} F(f^*) \cdot Fr \xrightarrow{\mathsf{m}^F} F(f^* \cdot r)$$

is invertible. In particular, $\mathbf{m}^F \colon F(f^*) \cdot Fr \to F(f^* \cdot r)$ is invertible for all such r, f if and only if F is normal.

Proof. We claim the inverse l^F is given by the mate of $F\theta$ via

$$l^{F} = \begin{array}{c} \cdot \xrightarrow{F(f^{*} \cdot r)} \cdot & \cdot \xrightarrow{r} \cdot \xrightarrow{f^{*}} \cdot \\ \parallel & \lambda^{-1} & \parallel \\ \cdot F(f^{*} \cdot r) \cdot -1 \rightarrow \cdot \\ \parallel & F\theta \xrightarrow{f} \eta \\ \cdot \xrightarrow{Fr} \cdot \xrightarrow{r} \cdot \xrightarrow{r} \cdot \\ (Ff)^{*} \cdot \end{array}, \text{ where } \begin{array}{c} \theta = \cdot \xrightarrow{r} \cdot \xrightarrow{f^{*}} \cdot \\ \parallel & \varepsilon \\ \parallel & \varepsilon \\ \cdot \xrightarrow{r} \cdot \xrightarrow{r} \cdot 1 \rightarrow \cdot \end{array}, \\ \parallel & \lambda \\ \cdot \xrightarrow{r} \cdot \xrightarrow{r} \cdot \end{array}$$

Note that l^F is the mate of $F\theta$, and θ is the mate of $id_{f^*.r}$, via (iv) and (v), respectively. Now, note that

$$\begin{split} (\varepsilon \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ l^F \circ \mathrm{m}^F \circ (\sigma^F \cdot \mathrm{id}) &= \lambda^{-1} \circ F\theta \circ \mathrm{m}^F \circ (\sigma^F \cdot \mathrm{id}) \\ &= \lambda^{-1} \circ F\lambda \circ \mathrm{m}^F \circ (F\varepsilon \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ (\sigma^F \cdot \mathrm{id}) \\ &= \lambda^{-1} \circ F\lambda \circ \mathrm{m}^F \circ (\mathrm{e}^F \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ (\varepsilon \cdot \mathrm{id}) = \varepsilon \cdot \mathrm{id} \\ \mathrm{m}^F \circ (\sigma^F \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ l^F &= \mathrm{m}^F \circ (F\eta \cdot F\theta) \circ (\mathrm{e}^F \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ \lambda^{-1} \\ &= F(\eta \cdot \theta) \circ \mathrm{m}^F \circ (\mathrm{e}^F \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ \lambda^{-1} = \mathrm{id} \end{split}$$

So, the result follows by the mate correspondence.

In a conjoint closed pseudodouble category \mathbb{D} , let f, g be composable vertical 1-cells with conjoints f^* and g^* , and let $\pi: f^* \cdot g^* \to (g \circ f)^*$ be the mate of $1_g \circ \varepsilon: f^* \to 1$. Via (i) and (iii), we obtain:

We can also define a 2-cell $(g \circ f)^* \to f^* \cdot g^*$ as the mate of $\eta \circ 1_f$, which can be shown to be the inverse of π , using a method similar to the proof of Lemma 3.5; as this is not needed, we omit the details.

Now that we have fixed the notation we will need for the rest of the paper, we end the section with Theorem 3.6, to justify the utility of conjoints and companions.

Theorem 3.6. Let \mathbb{D}, \mathbb{E} be pseudodouble categories. If \mathbb{E} is conjoint closed, then so is $\mathsf{Lax}_{lax}(\mathbb{D}, \mathbb{E})$. Dually, if \mathbb{E} is companion closed, then so is $\mathsf{Lax}_{opl}(\mathbb{D}, \mathbb{E})$.

Proof. Fix a vertical transformation $\phi: F \to G$ where $F, G: \mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{E}$ are lax functors. For each 0-cell x, we write

for the 2-cells satisfying $\varepsilon_x \circ \eta_x = 1_{\phi_x}$ and $\eta_x \cdot \varepsilon_x = \rho^{-1} \circ \lambda$, so that ϕ_x^* is the conjoint of ϕ_x for all x. Define $\phi_f^* \colon \phi_x^* \to \phi_y^*$ to be the mate of 1_{Ff} via (ii), so that $\phi_f^* \circ \eta_x = \eta_y \circ 1_{Ff}$ and $\varepsilon_y \circ \phi_f^* = 1_{Gf} \circ \varepsilon_x$. Moreover, note that

$$\phi_g^* \circ \phi_f^* \circ \eta_x = \phi_g^* \circ \eta_y \circ 1_{Ff} = \eta_z \circ 1_{Gf} \circ 1_{Ff} = \eta_z \circ 1_{G(g \circ f)},$$

so we conclude that $\phi_{g \circ f}^* = \phi_g^* \circ \phi_f^*$ by mate correspondence. Similarly, we have $\phi_{\mathsf{id}_x}^* = \mathsf{id}_{\phi_x}^*$. Next, we consider the map $r \mapsto Fr \cdot \phi_x^*$, where $r \colon x \nrightarrow y$ is a horizontal 1-cell. It is functorial: for 2-cells

(3.3)
$$\begin{array}{cccc} x & \xrightarrow{r} & y & u & \xrightarrow{q} & v \\ f \downarrow & \theta & \downarrow g & h \downarrow & \xi & \downarrow k \\ w & \xrightarrow{s} & z & x & \xrightarrow{r} & y \end{array}$$

we have

$$F(\theta \circ \chi) \cdot \phi_{h \circ f}^* = (F\theta \circ F\chi) \cdot (\phi_h^* \circ \phi_f^*) = (F\theta \cdot \phi_h^*) \circ (F\chi \cdot \phi_f^*),$$

and $F(\mathsf{id}) \cdot \phi_{\mathsf{id}}^* = \mathsf{id}$, as desired. Analogously, $r \mapsto \phi_y^* \cdot Gr$ is also functorial.

We define $\mathbf{n}_r^{\phi^*} \colon Fr \cdot \phi_x^* \to \phi_y^* \cdot Gf$ to be the mate of

$$\begin{array}{ccc} Fx & \xrightarrow{Fr} & Fy \\ \downarrow \phi_x & & \phi_r & \downarrow \phi_r \\ Gx & \xrightarrow{Gr} & Gy \end{array}$$

via (i). We claim this data makes ϕ^* into a lax horizontal transformation $G \nrightarrow F$.

Given a 2-cell θ as in the left diagram of (3.3), we have $\phi_s \circ F\theta = G\theta \circ \phi_r$, since ϕ is a vertical transformation. The following pairs

$$\begin{aligned} G\theta \circ \phi_r \quad \text{and} \quad \mathsf{n}_s^{\phi^*} \circ (F\theta \cdot \phi_f^*), \\ \phi_s \circ F\theta \quad \text{and} \quad (\phi_g^* \cdot G\theta) \circ \mathsf{n}_r^{\phi^*} \end{aligned}$$

are mates, so that we have

 $\mathbf{n}_{s}^{\phi^{*}} \circ (F\theta \cdot \phi_{f}^{*}) = (\phi_{a}^{*} \cdot G\theta) \circ \mathbf{n}_{r}^{\phi^{*}},$

giving naturality. To confirm this,

$$\begin{split} \lambda \circ (\varepsilon \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ \mathbf{n}_{s}^{\phi^{*}} \circ (F\theta \cdot \phi_{f}^{*}) &= \rho \circ (\phi_{s} \cdot \varepsilon) \circ \circ (F\theta \cdot \phi_{f}^{*}) \\ &= \rho \circ \left((\phi_{s} \circ F\theta) \cdot (\varepsilon \circ \phi_{f}^{*}) \right) \\ &= \rho \circ \left((\phi_{s} \circ F\theta) \cdot (1 \circ \varepsilon) \right), \\ (\phi_{g}^{*} \cdot G\theta) \circ \mathbf{n}_{r}^{\phi^{*}} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \eta) \circ \rho^{-1} &= (\phi_{g}^{*} \cdot G\theta) \circ (\eta \cdot \phi_{r}) \circ \lambda^{-1} \\ &= \left((\phi_{g}^{*} \circ \eta) \cdot (G\theta \circ \phi_{r}) \right) \circ \lambda^{-1} \\ &= \left((\eta \circ 1) \cdot (G\theta \circ \phi_{r}) \right) \circ \lambda^{-1} \end{split}$$

Now, we note that $\phi_{1_x} \circ \mathbf{e}_x^F = \mathbf{e}_x^G \circ \mathbf{1}_{\phi_x}$ and $\phi_{s \cdot r} \circ \mathbf{m}^F = \mathbf{m}^G \circ (\phi_s \cdot \phi_r)$. We shall deduce that the coherence diagrams for ϕ^* commute by taking the mates of these commutative squares, thereby confirming that ϕ^* is a lax horizontal transformation. Via (i), we will prove that the following pairs

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{m}^{G} \circ (\phi_{s} \cdot \phi_{r}) & \text{and} & (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mathbf{m}^{G}) \circ \alpha \circ (\phi_{s}^{*} \cdot \mathsf{id}) \circ \alpha^{-1} \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \phi_{r}^{*}) \circ \alpha \\ \phi_{s \cdot r} \circ \mathbf{m}^{F} & \text{and} & \mathbf{n}_{s \cdot r}^{\phi^{*}} \circ (\mathbf{m}^{F} \cdot \mathsf{id}) \\ \phi_{1_{x}} \circ \mathbf{e}^{F} & \text{and} & \mathbf{n}_{1_{x}}^{\phi^{*}} \circ (\mathbf{e}^{F} \cdot \mathsf{id}) \\ \mathbf{e}^{G} \circ \mathbf{1}_{\phi_{x}} & \text{and} & (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mathbf{e}^{G}) \circ \rho^{-1} \circ \lambda \end{split}$$

are under mate correspondence. The last three are one-liners, respectively:

$$\begin{split} \lambda \circ (\varepsilon \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ \mathbf{n}_{s \cdot r}^{\phi^*} \circ (\mathbf{m}^{F'} \cdot \mathrm{id}) &= \rho \circ (\phi_{s \cdot r} \cdot \varepsilon) \circ (\mathbf{m}^{F'} \cdot \mathrm{id}) = \rho \circ ((\phi_{s \cdot r} \circ \mathbf{m}^{F'}) \cdot \varepsilon), \\ \lambda \circ (\varepsilon \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ \mathbf{n}_{1x}^{\phi^*} \circ (\mathbf{e}^F \cdot \mathrm{id}) &= \rho \circ (\phi_{1x} \cdot \varepsilon) \circ (\mathbf{e}^F \cdot \mathrm{id}) = \rho \circ ((\phi_{1x} \circ \mathbf{e}^F) \cdot \mathrm{id}) \\ \lambda \circ (\varepsilon \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \mathbf{e}^G) \circ \rho^{-1} \circ \lambda \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \eta) \circ \rho^{-1} &= \mathbf{e}^G \circ \lambda \circ (\varepsilon \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ \rho^{-1} \circ \eta = \mathbf{e}^G \circ \mathbf{1}_{\phi x}. \end{split}$$

For the first pair, observe that

$$\begin{split} \lambda \circ (\varepsilon \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \mathrm{m}^{G}) \circ \alpha &= \lambda \circ (1 \cdot \mathrm{m}^{G}) \circ (\varepsilon \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ \alpha \\ &= \mathrm{m}^{G} \circ \lambda \circ \alpha \circ ((\varepsilon \cdot \mathrm{id}) \cdot \mathrm{id}) \\ &= \mathrm{m}^{G} \circ (\lambda \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ ((\varepsilon \cdot \mathrm{id}) \cdot \mathrm{id}) \\ ((\varepsilon \cdot \mathrm{id}) \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ (\mathrm{n}_{s}^{\phi^{*}} \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ \alpha^{-1} &= (((\varepsilon \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ \mathrm{n}_{s}^{\phi^{*}}) \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ \alpha^{-1} \\ &= ((\gamma^{-1} \circ (\phi_{s} \cdot \varepsilon)) \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ \alpha^{-1} \\ &= (\gamma^{-1} \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ ((\phi_{s} \cdot \varepsilon) \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ \alpha^{-1} \\ &= (\lambda^{-1} \cdot \lambda) \circ (\phi_{s} \cdot (\varepsilon \cdot \mathrm{id})) \\ (\phi_{s} \cdot (\varepsilon \cdot \mathrm{id})) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \mathrm{n}_{r}^{\phi^{*}}) \circ \alpha &= (\phi_{s} \cdot ((\varepsilon \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ \mathrm{n}_{r}^{\phi^{*}})) \circ \alpha \\ &= (\phi_{s} \cdot (\gamma^{-1} \circ (\phi_{r} \cdot \varepsilon))) \circ \alpha \\ &= (\mathrm{id} \cdot \gamma^{-1}) \circ (\phi_{s} \cdot (\phi_{r} \cdot \varepsilon)) \circ \alpha \\ &= (\mathrm{id} \cdot \gamma^{-1}) \circ \alpha \circ ((\phi_{s} \cdot \phi_{r}) \cdot \varepsilon) \end{split}$$

and pasting the expressions above together verifies the claim.

Finally, note that

$$\mathbf{n}_{r}^{\phi^{*}} \circ (\mathrm{id}_{Fr} \cdot \eta_{x}) = (\eta_{y} \cdot \phi_{r}) \circ \gamma^{-1}$$
$$(\varepsilon_{y} \cdot \mathrm{id}_{Gr}) \circ \mathbf{n}_{r}^{\phi^{*}} = \gamma \circ (\phi_{r} \cdot \varepsilon_{x})$$

are immediate consequences of mate correspondence. Thus, η and ε define modifications, and by calculating pointwise, we conclude that ϕ^* is the conjoint of ϕ .

We say that a vertical transformation ϕ has a strong conjoint (companion) if its conjoint (companion) in the appropriate pseudodouble category is a strong horizontal transformation; that is, if \mathbf{n}^{ϕ^*} (\mathbf{n}^{ϕ_1}) is an invertible natural transformation. The notion of a vertical transformation ϕ having a strong companion (conjoint) is present in [15, A.4]; therein, the terminology is (co)horizontally strong.

To provide a class of examples, recall from [15, A.6] that for a natural transformation $\phi: F \to G$ between pullback-preserving functors $F: \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{C}$ on categories with pullbacks, the induced vertical transformation $\hat{\phi}: \hat{F} \to \hat{G}$ between the induced strong functors $\hat{F}, \hat{G}: \text{Span}(\mathcal{B}) \to \text{Span}(\mathcal{C})$ has a strong conjoint if and only if it has a strong companion, if and only if ϕ is a cartesian natural transformation.

We also have the following the result:

Lemma 3.7. Let $\phi: F \to G$ be a vertical transformation of lax functors $F, G: \mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{E}$, let $H: \mathbb{E} \to \mathbb{F}$ be another lax functor. We assume \mathbb{E} is conjoint closed, and that ϕ has a strong conjoint.

 $H\phi$ has a strong conjoint if and only if $\mathbf{m}^{H} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \sigma^{H}) \colon HFr \cdot (H\phi_{x})^{*} \to H(Fr \cdot \phi_{x}^{*})$ is invertible for all x and all r.

Proof. We shall verify that

$$(3.4) \qquad \qquad \begin{pmatrix} (H\phi_x)_* \\ \bullet \\ (H\phi_x)_* \\ \bullet \\ (H\phi_x)_* \\ \bullet \\ (H\phi_y)_* \\ (H\phi_y)_$$

for all r and x, from which our result follows as a consequence of Lemma 3.5. Note that

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{m}^{H} \circ (\sigma^{H} \cdot \mathsf{id}) \circ \mathsf{n}_{r}^{(H\phi)^{*}} \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \eta) &= \mathsf{m}^{H} \circ (\sigma^{H} \cdot \mathsf{id}) \circ (\eta \cdot H\phi_{r}) \circ \gamma^{-1} \\ &= \mathsf{m}^{H} \circ (H\eta \cdot H\phi_{r}) \circ (\mathsf{e}^{H} \cdot \mathsf{id}) \circ \gamma^{-1} \\ &= H(\eta \cdot \phi_{r}) \circ \mathsf{m}^{H} \circ (\mathsf{e}^{H} \cdot \mathsf{id}) \circ \gamma^{-1} \\ &= H(\eta \cdot \phi_{r}) \circ H\lambda^{-1} \circ \rho \\ H \,\mathsf{n}_{r}^{\phi^{*}} \circ \mathsf{m}^{H} \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \sigma^{H}) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \eta) &= H \,\mathsf{n}_{r}^{\phi^{*}} \circ \mathsf{m}^{H} \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot H\eta) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mathsf{e}^{H}) \\ &= H \,\mathsf{n}_{r}^{\phi^{*}} \circ H(\mathsf{id} \cdot \eta) \circ \mathsf{m}^{H} \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mathsf{e}^{H}) \\ &= H(\eta \cdot \phi_{r}) \circ H\gamma^{-1} \circ \mathsf{m}^{H} \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mathsf{e}^{H}) \\ &= H(\eta \cdot \phi_{r}) \circ H\lambda^{-1} \circ \rho \end{split}$$

so (3.4) holds by mate correspondence.

This invertibility condition is satisfied, for instance, by Barr extensions of monads on Set; see [24, 1.10.2(2)], and by strong functors.

4. Double categories as pseudo-algebras

This section is devoted to proving the following result:

Proposition 4.1. We have an equivalence of double categories PsDbCat \simeq Ps- \mathfrak{F} -Alg, where $\mathfrak{F} = (\mathfrak{F}, m, e)$ is the free internal category 2-monad on Grph(Cat), and Ps- \mathfrak{F} -Alg is the sub-double category of Lax- \mathfrak{F} -Alg consisting of the pseudo- \mathfrak{F} -algebras.

The proof is laid out as follows:

- We recall the definition of \mathfrak{F} , verifying it is a 2-monad.
- We provide a construction of a pseudo- \mathfrak{F} -algebra from a given pseudodouble category.
- We provide a construction of (op)lax morphisms of pseudo- \mathfrak{F} -algebras from given (op)lax functors of pseudodouble categories. Moreover, we verify this construction defines a functor $\mathsf{PsDbCat}_{lax} \to \mathsf{Ps}-\mathfrak{F}-\mathsf{Alg}_{lax}$ (and dually, $\mathsf{PsDbCat}_{opl} \to \mathsf{Ps}-\mathfrak{F}-\mathsf{Alg}_{opl}$).
- We prove the aforementioned functor is fully faithful and essentially surjective.
- Let $H: \mathbb{A} \to \mathbb{B}$ and $K: \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{D}$ be lax functors, and let $F: \mathbb{A} \to \mathbb{C}$ and $G: \mathbb{B} \to \mathbb{D}$ be oplax functors, and consider the induced lax and oplax \mathfrak{F} -algebra morphisms (as in (4.3)). Given a 2-cell $\omega: GH \to KF$ of internal Cat-graphs, we prove that ω is a generalized vertical transformation if and only if ω is a generalized 2-cell of pseudo \mathfrak{F} -algebras.

We begin by recalling that $\operatorname{Grph}(\operatorname{Cat})$ is the functor 2-category $[\cdot_1 \rightrightarrows \cdot_0, \operatorname{Cat}]$, whose 2-cells $\theta: F \to G$ are pairs of natural transformations $\theta_i: F_i \to G_i$ for i = 0, 1 such that $d_j \cdot \theta_1 = \theta_0 \cdot d_j$ for j = 0, 1.

Since Cat is an extensive category with pullbacks, we can define the free internal category monad $\mathfrak{F} = (\mathfrak{F}, m, e)$ on the underlying category of Grph(Cat).

To extend \mathfrak{F} to a 2-monad, let $\theta: F \to G$ be a 2-cell in $\mathsf{Grph}(\mathsf{Cat})$. We define $\mathfrak{F}\theta$ by letting $(\mathfrak{F}\theta)_0 = \theta_0$ and $(\mathfrak{F}\theta)_1: (\mathfrak{F}F)_1 \to (\mathfrak{F}G)_1$ is given at a composable string of horizontal arrows r_1, \ldots, r_n by

$$(\mathfrak{F}\theta)_{r_1,\ldots,r_n}=(\theta_{r_1},\ldots,\theta_{r_n}),$$

which is a horizontally composable string of 2-cells, and $(\mathfrak{F}\theta)_{()} = \theta_0$.

We must check $(\mathfrak{F}\theta)_1$ is natural; indeed, if $\phi_i : r_i \to s_i$ is a horizontally composable string of 2-cells, then $\theta_{s_i} \circ F \phi_i = G \phi_i \circ \theta_{r_i}$ for all i, so

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathfrak{F}\theta)_{s_1,\dots,s_n} \circ (\mathfrak{F}F)(\phi_1,\dots,\phi_n) &= (\theta_{s_1},\dots,\theta_{s_n}) \circ (F\phi_1,\dots,F\phi_n) \\ &= (G\phi_1,\dots,G\phi_n) \circ (\theta_{r_1},\dots,\theta_{r_n}) \\ &= (\mathfrak{F}G)(\phi_1,\dots,\phi_n) \circ (\mathfrak{F}\theta)_{r_1,\dots,r_n}, \end{aligned}$$

and since θ_0 is already natural, there is nothing to check for n = 0.

Finally, note that $d_1 \cdot (\mathfrak{F}\theta)_{r_1,\ldots,r_n} = d_1(\theta_{r_1},\ldots,\theta_{r_n}) = d_1(\theta_{r_1}) = \theta_{d_1r_1} = \theta_{d_1(r_1,\ldots,r_n)}$, and likewise $d_0 \cdot (\mathfrak{F}\theta)_1 = \theta_0 \cdot d_0$.

To verify \mathfrak{F} is a 2-functor, we must prove we have strict preservation of vertical and horizontal composition of 2-cells. Therefore, let $\omega: G \to H$ and $\xi: H \to K$ be 2-cells, with H, K composable with F, G respectively. We have $\mathfrak{F}(\omega \circ \theta)_0 = \mathfrak{F}(\omega)_0 \circ \mathfrak{F}(\theta)_0$ and $\mathfrak{F}(\xi \circ \theta)_0 = \mathfrak{F}(\xi)_0 \cdot \mathfrak{F}(\theta)_0$. Moreover, given a composable string of horizontal arrows r_1, \ldots, r_n , we have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathfrak{F}(\omega \circ \theta)_{r_1,\dots,r_n} &= \left((\omega \circ \theta)_{r_1},\dots, (\omega \circ \theta)_{r_n} \right) \\ &= \left(\omega_{r_1},\dots, \omega_{r_n} \right) \circ \left(\theta_{r_1},\dots, \theta_{r_n} \right) \\ &= \mathfrak{F}(\omega)_{r_1,\dots,r_n} \circ \mathfrak{F}(\theta)_{r_1,\dots,r_n}, \\ \mathfrak{F}(\xi \cdot \theta)_{r_1,\dots,r_n} &= \left((\xi \cdot \theta)_{r_1},\dots, (\xi \cdot \theta)_{r_n} \right) \\ &= \left(\xi_{r_1},\dots, \xi_{r_n} \right) \cdot \left(\theta_{r_1},\dots, \theta_{r_n} \right) \\ &= \mathfrak{F}(\xi)_{r_1,\dots,r_n} \cdot \mathfrak{F}(\theta)_{r_1,\dots,r_n}, \end{aligned}$$

as desired. Nothing needs to be done to verify that m, e are 2-natural transformations.

A pseudodouble category consists of a graph of categories $\mathbb{D} = (\mathbb{D}_1 \rightrightarrows \mathbb{D}_0)$, with vertical domain and codomain functors. The algebra structure $a: \mathfrak{FD} \rightarrow \mathbb{D}$ is the identity on 0-cells and vertical 1-cells. We define a() = 1 (at 0-cells), and if a is defined for $\mathbb{D}^{(n)}$, we define

$$a(r_1, \ldots, r_{n+1}) = r_{n+1} \cdot a(r_1, \ldots, r_n).$$

We let $\eta: \operatorname{id} \to a \cdot e$ be the identity on $\operatorname{id}_{\mathbb{D}_0}$, and $\eta_r: r \to a(r)$ is given by

$$\rho^{-1} \colon r \to r \cdot 1 = r \cdot a() = a(r)$$

We define $\mu: a \cdot \mathfrak{F}a \to a \cdot m$ to be the identity on $\mathsf{id}_{\mathbb{D}_0}$, and on $\mathfrak{FFD}_1 \to \mathfrak{FD}_1$ by double induction:

$$\begin{split} \boldsymbol{\mu}_{()} &= \mathsf{id}, \\ \mu_{k_1,\dots,k_n,0} &= \mu_{k_1,\dots,k_n} \circ \lambda, \\ \mu_{k_1,\dots,k_{n+1}+1} &= (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mu_{k_1,\dots,k_{n+1}}) \circ \alpha \end{split}$$

where

$$\mu_{k_1,\dots,k_n} \colon a(a(r_{1,1},\dots,r_{1,k_1}),\dots,a(r_{n,1},\dots,r_{n,k_n})) \to a(r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n,k_n}).$$

To prove that $(\mathbb{D}, a, \eta, \mu)$ is a pseudo- \mathfrak{F} -algebra, we must verify that

$$\mu_m \circ \eta_{a(r_1,\dots,r_m)} = \mathsf{id},$$

$$\mu_{1,\dots,1} \circ a(\eta_{r_1},\dots,\eta_{r_m}) = \mathsf{id},$$

$$\mu_{j_{1,1},\dots,j_{n,k_n}} \circ \mu_{k_1,\dots,k_n} = \mu_{\hat{j}_{1,k_1},\dots,\hat{j}_{n,k_n}} \circ a(\sigma_1,\dots,\sigma_n)$$

where we use the following abbreviations:

$$\hat{j}_{i,k_i} = \sum_{p=1}^{k_i} j_{i,p}$$
$$\sigma_p = \mu_{j_{p,1},\dots,j_{p,k_p}}$$

For the first and second, we argue by induction. When m = 0, the first becomes $\lambda_1 \circ \rho_1^{-1} = id$, and the second trivializes. If we assume the equations hold for some m, then

$$\mu_{m+1} \circ \rho^{-1} = (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mu_m) \circ \alpha \circ \rho^{-1} = (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mu_m) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) = \mathsf{id},$$

and

$$\mu_{1,\dots,1,1} \circ a(\rho^{-1},\dots,\rho^{-1},\rho^{-1}) = (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mu_{1,\dots,1}) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \lambda) \circ \alpha \circ (\rho^{-1} \cdot \mathsf{id}) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot a(\rho^{-1},\dots,\rho^{-1}))$$

= $(\mathsf{id} \cdot \mu_{1,\dots,1}) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot a(\rho^{-1},\dots,\rho^{-1}))$
= id

For the third, we use triple induction. If n = 0, it trivializes, so we assume it holds for some n. If $k_{n+1} = 0$, we have

$$\mu_{j_{1,1},\dots,j_{n,k_n}} \circ \mu_{k_1,\dots,k_n,k_{n+1}} = \mu_{j_{1,1},\dots,j_{n,k_n}} \circ \mu_{k_1,\dots,k_n} \circ \lambda$$

$$= \mu_{\hat{j}_{1,k_1},\dots,\hat{j}_{n,k_n}} \circ a(\sigma_1,\dots,\sigma_n) \circ \lambda$$

$$= \mu_{\hat{j}_{1,k_1},\dots,\hat{j}_{n,k_n},0} \circ a(\sigma_1,\dots,\sigma_n,\mathsf{id})$$

$$= \mu_{\hat{j}_{1,k_1},\dots,\hat{j}_{n,k_n},\hat{j}_{n+1,k_{n+1}}} \circ a(\sigma_1,\dots,\sigma_n,\sigma_{n+1}).$$

Now, we assume it holds for some k_{n+1} . If $j_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1} = 0$, we have

$$\begin{split} \mu_{j_{1,1},\dots,j_{n+1,k_{n+1}},0} \circ \mu_{k_1,\dots,k_n,k_{n+1}+1} &= \mu_{j_{1,1},\dots,j_{n+1,k_{n+1}}} \circ \lambda \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mu_{k_1,\dots,k_{n+1}}) \circ \alpha \\ &= \mu_{j_{1,1},\dots,j_{n+1,k_{n+1}}} \circ \mu_{k_1,\dots,k_{n+1}} \circ \lambda \circ \alpha \\ &= \mu_{\hat{j}_{1,k_1},\dots,\hat{j}_{n+1,k_{n+1}}} \circ a(\sigma_1,\dots,\sigma_{n+1}) \circ (\lambda \cdot \mathsf{id}) \\ &= \mu_{\hat{j}_{1,k_1},\dots,\hat{j}_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}} \circ a(\sigma_1,\dots,(\sigma_{n+1}\circ\lambda)), \end{split}$$

and finally, if we assume it holds for some $j_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}$, then we have

$$\begin{split} \mu_{j_{1,1},\dots,j_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}+1} &= (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mu_{j_{1,1},\dots,j_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}}) \circ \alpha \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mu_{k_{1},\dots,k_{n+1}}) \circ \alpha \\ &= (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mu_{j_{1,1},\dots,j_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}}) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mu_{k_{1},\dots,k_{n+1}})) \circ \alpha \circ \alpha \\ &= (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mu_{j_{1,1},\dots,j_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}}) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mu_{k_{1},\dots,k_{n+1}})) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \alpha) \circ \alpha \circ (\alpha \cdot \mathsf{id}) \\ &= (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mu_{j_{1,k_{1}},\dots,j_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}}) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot a(\sigma_{1},\dots,\sigma_{n+1})) \circ \alpha \circ (\alpha \cdot \mathsf{id}) \\ &= (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mu_{j_{1,k_{1}},\dots,j_{n+1,k_{n+1}}}) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot a(\sigma_{1,\dots,\sigma_{n+1}})) \circ \alpha \circ (\alpha \cdot \mathsf{id}) \\ &= (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mu_{j_{1,k_{1}},\dots,j_{n+1,k_{n+1}}}) \circ \alpha \circ ((\mathsf{id} \cdot \sigma_{n+1}) \cdot a(\sigma_{1},\dots,\sigma_{n})) \circ (\alpha \cdot \mathsf{id}) \\ &= \mu_{j_{1,k_{1}},\dots,j_{n+1,k_{n+1}}+1} \circ a(\sigma_{1,\dots,\sigma_{n}},(\mathsf{id} \cdot \sigma_{n+1}) \circ \alpha), \end{split}$$

so the result holds by induction. It should be noted that the proof (so far) remains unchanged if we consider left-biased double categories, in which case $(\mathbb{D}, a, \eta, \mu)$ is a lax \mathfrak{F} -algebra instead. Respectively, right-biased double categories \rightarrow oplax \mathfrak{F} -algebras.

If we have a lax functor $F: \mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{E}$ between ordinary double categories, we define a pseudo \mathfrak{F} -algebra lax morphism $(F, \gamma^F): (\mathbb{D}, a, \eta, \mu) \to (\mathbb{E}, b, \eta, \mu)$, taking F to be the same underlying graph morphism, and we define $\gamma^F: b \circ \mathfrak{F} \to F \circ a$ inductively as follows:

$$\begin{split} \gamma^F_x &= \mathsf{e}^F_x,\\ \gamma^F_{r_1,\dots,r_{n+1}} &= \mathsf{m}^F \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \gamma^F_{r_1,\dots,r_n}). \end{split}$$

to confirm (F, γ^F) is indeed a lax morphism, we will prove that

$$F\eta = \gamma_r \circ \eta$$

and

$$\gamma_{r_{1,1},\ldots,r_{n,k_n}} \circ \mu_{k_1,\ldots,k_n} = F\mu_{k_1,\ldots,k_n} \circ \gamma_{s_1,\ldots,s_n} \circ b(\sigma_1,\ldots,\sigma_n),$$

where

$$s_i = a(r_{i,1}, \dots, r_{i,k_i}),$$

$$\sigma_i = \gamma_{r_{i,1},\dots, r_{i,k_i}}.$$

The first is just a restatement of the coherence diagram for the right unitor. For the second, when n = 0, the equation is trivial; $e^F = e^F$. Now, we assume the equation holds for some n. If $k_{n+1} = 0$,

then

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n,k_{n}}} \circ \mu_{k_{1},\dots,k_{n},0} &= \gamma_{r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n,k_{n}}} \circ \mu_{k_{1},\dots,k_{n}} \circ \lambda \\ &= F\mu_{k_{1},\dots,k_{n}} \circ \gamma_{s_{1},\dots,s_{n}} \circ b(\sigma_{1},\dots,\sigma_{n}) \circ \lambda \\ &= \lambda \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot F\mu_{k_{1},\dots,k_{n}}) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \gamma_{s_{1},\dots,s_{n}}) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot b(\sigma_{1},\dots,\sigma_{n})) \\ &= F\lambda \circ \mathsf{m}^{F} \circ (\mathsf{e}^{F} \cdot \mathsf{id}) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot F\mu_{k_{1},\dots,k_{n}}) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \gamma_{s_{1},\dots,s_{n}}) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot b(\sigma_{1},\dots,\sigma_{n})) \\ &= F\lambda \circ F(\mathsf{id} \cdot \mu_{k_{1},\dots,k_{n}}) \circ \mathsf{m}^{F} \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \gamma_{s_{1},\dots,s_{n}}) \circ (\mathsf{e}^{F} \cdot b(\sigma_{1},\dots,\sigma_{n})) \\ &= F\mu_{k_{1},\dots,k_{n},0} \circ \gamma_{s_{1},\dots,s_{n},s_{n+1}} \circ b(\sigma_{1},\dots,\sigma_{n},\sigma_{n+1}), \end{split}$$

so, we assume the identity holds for some k_{n+1} . We have

$$\begin{split} &\gamma r_{1,1,\dots,r_{n+1,k_{n+1}},r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}} \circ \mu_{k_1,\dots,k_n,k_{n+1}+1} \\ &= \mathsf{m}^F \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \gamma_{r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n+1,k_{n+1}}}) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mu_{k_1,\dots,k_{n+1}}) \circ \alpha \\ &= \mathsf{m}^F \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot F \mu_{k_1,\dots,k_{n+1}}) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \gamma_{s_1,\dots,s_n,s_{n+1}}) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot b(\sigma_1,\dots,\sigma_n,\sigma_{n+1})) \circ \alpha \\ &= F(\mathsf{id} \cdot \mu_{k_1,\dots,k_{n+1}}) \circ \mathsf{m}^F \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mathsf{m}^F) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot (\mathsf{id} \cdot \gamma_{s_1,\dots,s_n})) \circ \alpha \circ ((\mathsf{id} \cdot \sigma_{n+1}) \cdot b(\sigma_1,\dots,\sigma_n)) \\ &= F(\mathsf{id} \cdot \mu_{k_1,\dots,k_{n+1}}) \circ F \alpha \circ \mathsf{m}^F \circ (\mathsf{m}^F \cdot \mathsf{id}) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \gamma_{s_1,\dots,s_n}) \circ ((\mathsf{id} \cdot \sigma_{n+1}) \cdot b(\sigma_1,\dots,\sigma_n)) \\ &= F \mu_{k_1,\dots,k_{n+1}+1} \circ \gamma_{s_1,\dots,s_{n+1}} \circ b(\sigma_1,\dots,\sigma_n,\mathsf{m}^F \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \sigma_{n+1})), \end{split}$$

so, the result follows by induction.

This assignment preserves maps identities to identities (trivially), and preserves composition; that is, this defines a functor $\mathsf{PsDbCat}_{lax} \to \mathsf{Ps}-\mathfrak{F}-\mathsf{Alg}_{lax}$. To see this, let $G \colon \mathbb{E} \to \mathbb{C}$ be another lax functor. We have

$$\begin{split} (G\gamma^F \circ \gamma^G)_{()} &= G \operatorname{e}^F \circ e^G, \\ (G\gamma^F \circ \gamma^G)_{r_1, \dots, r_{n+1}} &= \operatorname{m}^{GF} \circ (\operatorname{id} \cdot G\gamma^F_{r_1, \dots, r_n}) \circ (\operatorname{id} \cdot \gamma^G_{Fr_1, \dots, Fr_n}) \\ &= G \operatorname{m}^F \circ \operatorname{m}^G \circ (\operatorname{id} \cdot G\gamma^F_{r_1, \dots, r_n}) \circ (\operatorname{id} \cdot \gamma^G_{Fr_1, \dots, Fr_n}) \\ &= G \operatorname{m}^F \circ G(\operatorname{id} \cdot \gamma^F_{r_1, \dots, r_n}) \circ \operatorname{m}^G \circ (\operatorname{id} \cdot \gamma^G_{Fr_1, \dots, Fr_n}) \\ &= G(\gamma^F_{r_1, \dots, r_{n+1}}) \circ \gamma^G_{Fr_1, \dots, Fr_{n+1}}. \end{split}$$

We claim the functor $\mathsf{PsDbCat}_{\mathsf{lax}} \to \mathsf{Ps}-\mathfrak{F}-\mathsf{Alg}_{\mathsf{lax}}$ is fully faithful; if $(F, \gamma^F) \colon (\mathbb{D}, a, \eta, \mu) \to (\mathbb{E}, b, \eta, \mu)$ is a lax morphism between (the image of) double categories, we define

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{e}_x^F &= \gamma_x^F \\ \mathbf{m}_{r,s}^F &= F(\mathsf{id}\cdot\rho) \circ \gamma_{r,s}^F \circ (\mathsf{id}\cdot\rho^{-1}) \end{split}$$

We must confirm these satisfy the coherence conditions. First, we observe that

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{m}_{1,s}^{F} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \mathbf{e}^{F}) &= F(\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho) \circ \gamma_{1,s}^{F} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \mathbf{e}^{F}) \\ &= F(\mathrm{id} \cdot \lambda) \circ F(\rho \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ \gamma_{1,a(s)}^{F} \circ (F\rho^{-1} \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot (\mathbf{e}^{F} \cdot \mathrm{id})) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \lambda^{-1}) \\ &= F\mu_{0,1} \circ \gamma_{1,a(s)}^{F} \circ b(\gamma_{()}^{F}, \gamma_{s}^{F}) \circ \mu_{0,1}^{-1} = \gamma_{s}^{F}, \\ \mathbf{m}_{r,1}^{F} \circ (\mathbf{e}^{F} \cdot \mathrm{id}) &= F(\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho) \circ \gamma_{r,1}^{F} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \circ (\mathbf{e}^{F} \cdot \mathrm{id}) \\ &= F(\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho) \circ F(\mathrm{id} \cdot (\rho \cdot \mathrm{id})) \circ \gamma_{a(r),1}^{F} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot (F\rho^{-1} \cdot \mathrm{id})) \circ (\mathbf{e}^{F} \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \\ &= F(\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho) \circ F(\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho) \circ \gamma_{a(r),1}^{F} \circ b(\gamma_{r}^{F}, \gamma_{()}^{F}) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \\ &= F(\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho) \circ F(\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho) \circ F\mu_{1,0}^{-1} \circ \gamma_{r}^{F} \circ \mu_{1,0} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \\ &= F\lambda^{-1} \circ F\rho \circ \gamma_{r}^{F} \circ \rho^{-1} \circ \lambda \\ &= F\lambda^{-1} \circ \lambda \end{split}$$

which gives the unit comparison coherences for F, and after calculating

$$\begin{aligned} \mu_{1,2} &= \alpha \circ ((\mathsf{id} \cdot \rho) \cdot (\rho \cdot \mathsf{id})) \\ \mu_{2,1} &= (\mathsf{id} \cdot \alpha) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot ((\mathsf{id} \cdot \rho) \cdot \mathsf{id})) \circ (\rho \cdot \mathsf{id}) \end{aligned}$$

we verify that

$$\begin{split} F\alpha \circ \mathbf{m}_{r,t\cdot s}^{F} \circ (\mathbf{m}_{s,t}^{F} \cdot \mathrm{id}) \\ &= F\alpha \circ F(\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho) \circ \gamma_{r,t\cdot s}^{F} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \circ (F(\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho) \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ (\gamma_{s,t}^{F} \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ ((\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \cdot \mathrm{id}) \\ &= F\alpha \circ F(\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho) \circ F((\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho) \cdot (\rho \cdot \mathrm{id})) \circ \gamma_{a(r),a(s,t)}^{F} \circ (\gamma_{s,t}^{F} \cdot (F\rho^{-1} \cdot \mathrm{id})) \circ ((\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \cdot \rho^{-1}) \\ &= F(\mathrm{id} \cdot (\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho)) \circ F\alpha \circ F((\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho) \cdot (\rho \cdot \mathrm{id})) \circ \gamma_{a(r),a(s,t)}^{F} \circ b(\gamma_{r}^{F}, \gamma_{s,t}^{F}) \circ ((\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \cdot (\rho^{-1} \cdot \mathrm{id})) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \\ &= F(\mathrm{id} \cdot (\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho)) \circ \gamma_{r,s,t}^{F} \circ \alpha \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{m}_{s \cdot r,t}^{F} &\circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mathbf{m}_{r,s}^{F}) \circ \alpha \\ &= F(\mathsf{id} \cdot \rho) \circ \gamma_{s \cdot r,t}^{F} \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot F(\mathsf{id} \cdot \rho)) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \gamma_{r,s}^{F}) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot (\mathsf{id} \cdot \rho^{-1})) \circ \alpha \\ &= F(\mathsf{id} \cdot \rho) \circ F(\rho \cdot ((\mathsf{id} \cdot \rho) \cdot \mathsf{id})) \circ \gamma_{a(r,s),a(t)}^{F} \circ (F\rho^{-1} \cdot (F(\mathsf{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \cdot \mathsf{id})) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot F(\mathsf{id} \cdot \rho)) \\ &\circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \gamma_{r,s}^{F}) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot (\mathsf{id} \cdot \rho^{-1})) \circ \alpha \\ &= F(\mathsf{id} \cdot (\mathsf{id} \cdot \rho)) \circ F(\rho \cdot \rho) \circ \gamma_{a(r,s),a(t)}^{F} \circ b(\gamma_{r,s}^{F}, \gamma_{t}^{F}) \circ (\rho^{-1} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot (\mathsf{id} \cdot \rho^{-1})) \circ \alpha \\ &= F(\mathsf{id} \cdot (\mathsf{id} \cdot \rho)) \circ \gamma_{r,s,t}^{F} \circ \alpha \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \end{split}$$

which confirms coherence for the associator comparison. We further verify that, by induction, $\mu_{n,1} \circ$ $(\rho^{-1}\cdot\rho^{-1})=\mathsf{id}$ (pattern matching), so that

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{m}_{a(r_1,\dots,r_n),r_{n+1}}^F \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \gamma_{r_1,\dots,r_n}^F) &= F(\mathsf{id} \cdot \rho) \circ \gamma_{a(r_1,\dots,r_n),r_{n+1}}^F \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \gamma_{r_1,\dots,r_n}^F) \\ &= F(\rho \cdot \rho) \circ \gamma_{a(r_1,\dots,r_n),a(r_{n+1})}^F \circ b(\gamma_{r_1,\dots,r_n}^F,\gamma_{r_{n+1}}^F) \circ (\rho^{-1} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \\ &= \gamma_{r_1,\dots,r_{n+1}}^F, \end{split}$$

confirming that the functor $\mathsf{PsDbCat}_{lax} \to \mathsf{Ps}-\mathfrak{F}-\mathsf{Alg}_{lax}$ is fully faithful. We claim the functor $\mathsf{PsDbCat}_{lax} \to \mathsf{Ps}-\mathfrak{F}-\mathsf{Alg}_{lax}$ is essentially surjective; let $(\mathbb{D}, a, \eta, \mu)$ be a pseudo- \mathfrak{F} -algebra. We define

$$\begin{split} &1 = a(), \\ &s \cdot r = a(r,s), \\ &\lambda_r = \eta_r^{-1} \circ \mu_{r,-} \circ a(\eta_r, \mathsf{id}), \\ &\rho_r = \eta_r^{-1} \circ \mu_{-,r} \circ a(\mathsf{id}, \eta_r), \\ &\alpha_{r,s,t} = a(\mathsf{id}, \eta_t^{-1}) \circ \mu_{rs,t}^{-1} \circ \mu_{r,st} \circ a(\eta_r, \mathsf{id}). \end{split}$$

These endow \mathbb{D} with the structure of a double category; to see this, we must verify the coherence conditions hold. First, we have

$$\begin{split} (\mathrm{id} \cdot \lambda_r) \circ \alpha_{r,1,s} &= a(\eta_r^{-1}, \mathrm{id}) \circ a(\mu_{r,-}, \mathrm{id}) \circ a(a(\eta_r, \mathrm{id}), \mathrm{id}) \circ a(\mathrm{id}, \eta_s^{-1}) \circ \mu_{r1,s}^{-1} \circ \mu_{r,1s} \circ a(\eta_r, \mathrm{id}) \\ &= a(\eta_r^{-1}, \eta_s^{-1}) \circ a(\mu_{r,-}, \mathrm{id}) \circ a(a(\eta_r, \mathrm{id}), \mathrm{id}) \circ \mu_{r1,s}^{-1} \circ \mu_{r,1s} \circ a(\eta_r, \mathrm{id}) \\ &= \mu_{r,s} \circ a(\mu_{r,-}, \mathrm{id}) \circ \mu_{a(r)1,s}^{-1} \circ a(\eta_r, \mathrm{id}, \mathrm{id}) \circ \mu_{r,1s} \circ a(\eta_r, \mathrm{id}) \\ &= \mu_{r,s} \circ a(\mu_{r,-}, \mu_s) \circ \mu_{a(r)1,a(s)}^{-1} \circ a(\eta_r, \mathrm{id}, \eta_s) \circ \mu_{r,1s} \circ a(\eta_r, \mathrm{id}) \\ &= \mu_{r,-,s} \circ \mu_{a(r),1a(s)} \circ a(a(\eta_r), a(\mathrm{id}, \eta_s)) \circ a(\eta_r, \mathrm{id}) \\ &= \mu_{r,s} \circ a(\mu_r, \mu_{-,s}) \circ a(a(\eta_r), a(\mathrm{id}, \eta_s)) \circ a(\eta_r, \mathrm{id}) \\ &= a(\eta_r^{-1}, \eta_s^{-1}) \circ a(\mathrm{id}, \mu_{-,s}) \circ a(\mathrm{id}, a(\mathrm{id}, \eta_s)) \circ a(\eta_r, \mathrm{id}) \\ &= a(\mathrm{id}, \eta_s^{-1}) \circ a(\mathrm{id}, \mu_{-,s}) \circ a(\mathrm{id}, a(\mathrm{id}, \eta_s)) = \rho_s \cdot \mathrm{id}. \end{split}$$

and for the associator pentagon, we have, on one hand

$$\begin{split} (\mathsf{id} \cdot \alpha_{r,s,t}) &\circ \alpha_{q,a(r,s),t} \circ (\alpha_{q,r,s} \cdot \mathsf{id}) \\ &= a(a(\mathsf{id}, \eta_s^{-1}), \mathsf{id}) \circ a(\mu_{qr,s}^{-1}, \mathsf{id}) \circ a(\mu_{q,rs}, \mathsf{id}) \circ a(a(\eta_q, \mathsf{id}), \mathsf{id}) \\ &\circ a(\mathsf{id}, \eta_t^{-1}) \circ \mu_{qa(r,s),t}^{-1} \circ \mu_{q,a(r,s)t} \circ a(\eta_q, \mathsf{id}) \\ &\circ a(\mathsf{id}, \eta_t^{-1})) \circ a(\mathsf{id}, \mu_{rs,t}^{-1}) \circ a(\mathsf{id}, \mu_{r,s,t}) \circ a(\mathsf{id}, a(\eta_r, \mathsf{id})) \\ &= a(a(\mathsf{id}, \eta_s^{-1}), \eta_t^{-1}) \circ a(\mu_{qr,s}^{-1}, \mathsf{id}) \circ a(\mu_{q,rs}, \mathsf{id}) \\ &\circ a(\mathsf{id}, \mu_{rs,t}^{-1}) \circ a(\mathsf{id}, \mu_{r,s,t}) \circ a(\mathsf{id}, \mu_{r,s,t}) \circ a(\mathsf{id}, a(\mathsf{id}, \eta_t^{-1})) \\ &\circ a(\mathsf{id}, \mu_{rs,t}^{-1}) \circ a(\mathsf{id}, \mu_{r,s,t}) \circ a(\mathsf{id}, \mu_{q,r,s,t}) \circ a(\mathsf{id}, a(\mathsf{id}, \eta_t^{-1})) \\ &\circ a(\mathsf{id}, \eta_s^{-1}), \eta_t^{-1}) \circ a(\mu_{qr,s}^{-1}, \mathsf{id}) \circ a(\mu_{q,rs,s}, \mathsf{id}) \\ &\circ a(\mathsf{id}, a(\mathfrak{q}_t^{-1})) \circ \mu_a(\mathsf{id})_a(\mathsf{a}(\mathsf{r},\mathsf{s})_a(t) \circ \mu_a(\mathsf{q})_a(\mathsf{r},\mathsf{s})_a(t) \circ a(\mathsf{a}(\eta_q), \mathsf{id}) \\ &\circ a(\mathsf{id}, a(\mathfrak{q}_t^{-1})) \circ a(\mathsf{id}, \mu_{r,s,t}) \circ a(\mathfrak{q}, \mathfrak{q}, \mathfrak{q}(\mathfrak{q}, \mathsf{r}, \mathsf{id})) \\ &= a(a(\mathsf{id}, \eta_s^{-1}), \eta_t^{-1}) \circ a(\mu_{qr,s}^{-1}, \mathsf{id}) \circ a(\mu_{q,rs,s}, \mathfrak{u}) \\ &\circ a(\mathsf{id}, \mu_{rs,t}^{-1}) \circ a(\mathsf{id}, \mu_{r,s,t}) \circ a(\mathfrak{q}, \mathfrak{q}, \mathfrak{q}(\mathfrak{q}, \mathsf{r}, \mathsf{id})) \\ &= a(a(\mathsf{id}, \eta_s^{-1}), \eta_t^{-1}) \circ a(\mu_{qr,s}^{-1}, \mathsf{id}) \circ a(\mu_{q,rs,s}, \mathfrak{u}) \\ &\circ a(\mu_q^{-1}, \mu_{rs,t}^{-1}) \circ a(\mathsf{id}, \mu_{r,s,t}) \circ a(\mathfrak{q}, \mathfrak{q}, \mathfrak{q}(\mathfrak{q}, \mathsf{r}, \mathsf{id})) \\ &= a(a(\mathsf{id}, \eta_s^{-1}), \eta_t^{-1}) \circ a(\mu_{qr,s}^{-1}, \mathsf{id}) \circ \mu_{qr,s,t} \\ &\circ \mu_{q,rs,t} \circ a(\mathsf{id}, \mu_{r,s,t}) \circ a(\eta_q, \mathfrak{q}(\mathfrak{q}, \mathsf{r}, \mathsf{id})) \\ &= a(a(\mathsf{id}, \eta_s^{-1}), \eta_t^{-1}) \circ a(\mu_{qr,s}^{-1}, \mathsf{id}) \circ \mu_{qr,s,t} \\ &\circ \mu_{q,rs,t} \circ a(\mathsf{id}, \mu_{r,s,t}) \circ a(\eta_q, \mathfrak{q}(\mathfrak{q}, \mathsf{r}, \mathsf{id})), \end{split}$$

while on the other, we have

$$\begin{split} & \alpha_{a(q,r),s,t} \circ \alpha_{q,r,a(s,t)} = a(\mathrm{id},\eta_{t}^{-1}) \circ \mu_{a(q,r),s,t}^{-1} \circ \mu_{q,ra(s,t)} \circ a(\eta_{q}(q,r), \mathrm{id}) \\ & \circ a(\mathrm{id},\eta_{a(s,t)}^{-1}) \circ \mu_{a(q,r),s,t}^{-1} \circ \mu_{q,ra(s,t)} \circ a(\eta_{q}, \mathrm{id}) \\ & = a(\mathrm{id},\eta_{t}^{-1}) \circ \mu_{a(q,r),s,t}^{-1} \circ a(\mathrm{id},\eta_{s}^{-1},\eta_{r}^{-1}) \circ \mu_{a(q,r),a(s)a(t)} \\ & \circ a(\mathrm{id},a(\eta_{s},\eta_{t})) \circ a(\mathrm{id},\eta_{a(s,t)}^{-1}) \circ a(\eta_{a(q,r)},\mathrm{id}) \circ a(a(\eta_{q},\eta_{r}),\mathrm{id}) \\ & \circ \mu_{a(q)a(r),a(s,t)}^{-1} \circ a(\eta_{q}^{-1},\eta_{r}^{-1},\mathrm{id}) \circ \mu_{q,ra(s,t)} \circ a(\eta_{q},\mathrm{id}) \\ & = a(\mathrm{id},\eta_{t}^{-1}) \circ \mu_{a(q,r),s,t}^{-1} \circ a(\mathrm{id},\eta_{s}^{-1},\eta_{r}^{-1}) \\ & \circ \mu_{a(q,r),a(s)a(t)} \circ a(\eta_{a(q,r)},a(\eta_{s},\eta_{t})) \\ & \circ a(a(\eta_{q}^{-1},\eta_{r}^{-1}),\eta_{a(s,t)}^{-1}) \circ \mu_{a(q)a(r),a(s,t)} \\ & \circ a(\eta_{q},\eta_{r},\mathrm{id}) \circ \mu_{q,ra(s,t)} \circ a(\eta_{q},\mathrm{id}) \\ & = a(\mathrm{id},\eta_{t}^{-1}) \circ \mu_{a(q,r),s,t}^{-1} \circ a(\mathrm{id},\eta_{s}^{-1},\eta_{r}^{-1}) \circ \mu_{qr,s,t}^{-1} \\ & \circ \mu_{q,r,st} \circ a(\eta_{q},\eta_{r},\mathrm{id}) \circ \mu_{q,ra(s,t)} \circ a(\eta_{q},\mathrm{id}) \\ & = a(\mathrm{id},\eta_{t}^{-1}) \circ \mu_{a(q,r),s,t}^{-1} \circ a(\mathrm{id},\eta_{s}^{-1},\eta_{r}^{-1}) \circ \mu_{qr,s,t}^{-1} \\ & \circ a(\mu_{q,r},\mu_{s},\mu_{t}) \circ \mu_{a(q)a(r),a(s),a(t)} \\ & \circ a(\eta_{q},\eta_{r},\mathrm{id}) \circ \mu_{q,ra(s,t)} \circ a(\eta_{q},\mathrm{id}) \\ & = a(\mathrm{id},\eta_{t}^{-1}) \circ \mu_{a(q,r),s,t}^{-1} \circ a(\mathrm{id},\eta_{s}^{-1},\eta_{r}^{-1}) \\ & \circ a(\mu_{q,r},\mu_{s},\mu_{t}) \circ \mu_{a(q)a(r),a(s),a(t)} \\ & \circ a(\eta_{q},\eta_{r},\mathrm{id}) \circ \mu_{q,ra(s,t)} \circ a(\eta_{q},\mathrm{id}) \\ & = a(\mathrm{id},\eta_{t}^{-1}) \circ \mu_{a(q,r),s,t}^{-1} \circ a(\mathrm{id},\eta_{s}^{-1},\eta_{r}^{-1}) \\ & \circ a(\eta_{q},\eta_{r},\mathrm{id}) \circ \mu_{q,ra(s,t)} \circ a(\eta_{q},\mathrm{id}) \\ & = a(\mathrm{a}(\mathrm{id},\eta_{s}^{-1}),\eta_{t}^{-1}) \circ a(\mathrm{id},\mu_{t}) \circ \mu_{a(q,r)a(s),a(t)} \\ & \circ a(\mu_{q,r},\mu_{s},\mu_{t}) \circ \mu_{a(q)a(r),a(s),a(t)} \\ & \circ a(\mu_{q,r},\mu_{s},\mu_{t}) \circ \mu_{a(q)a(r),a(s),a(t)} \\ & \circ a(\mu_{q,r},\mu_{s}) \circ a(\mu_{q}^{-1},\mu_{r}^{-1},\mu_{s,t}^{-1}) \\ & \circ a(\mu_{q,q},a(r)(a(s)) \circ a(\mu_{q}^{-1},\mu_{r}^{-1},\mu_{s,t}^{-1}) \\ & \circ a(\mu_{q,q},a(r),a(s)(t) \circ a(\mu_{q}^{-1},\mu_{r}^{-1},\mu_{s,t}^{-1}) \\ & \circ a(\mu_{q,q},\mu_{r}) \circ a(\mu_{q},\mathrm{id}) \circ a(\eta_{q},\eta_{r},\mathrm{id})), \\ \end{array}$$

so, our goal is to prove that

$$(4.1) \qquad a(\mu_{qr,s}^{-1}, \mu_t^{-1}) \circ \mu_{qrs,t}^{-1} \circ \mu_{q,rst} \circ a(\mu_q, \mu_{r,st}) = \mu_{a(q,r)a(s),a(t)}^{-1} \circ a(\mu_{q,r}, \mu_s, \mu_t) \\ \circ \mu_{a(q)a(r),a(s),a(t)}^{-1} \circ \mu_{a(q),a(r),a(s)a(t)} \\ \circ a(\mu_q^{-1}, \mu_r^{-1}, \mu_{s,t}^{-1}) \circ \mu_{a(q),a(r)a(s,t)}.$$

And to do so, we observe that the following diagrams

$$\begin{array}{c} a(a(a(q)), a(a(r), a(s, t))) & \xrightarrow{a(\mu_q, \mu_{r,st})} a(a(q), a(r, s, t)) \\ & \mu_{a(q), a(r)a(s, t)} \downarrow & \downarrow^{\mu_{q,rst}} \\ a(a(q), a(r), a(s, t)) & \xrightarrow{\mu_{q,r,st}} a(q, r, s, t) \\ & a(\mu_q^{-1}, \mu_r^{-1}, \mu_{s,t}^{-1}) \downarrow & \downarrow^{\mu_q^{-1}} \\ a(a(a(q)), a(a(r)), a(a(s), a(t)))_{\mu_{\overline{a(q), a(r), a(s)a(t)}}} a(a(q), a(r), a(s), a(t)) \\ & a(a(q, r, s), a(t)) & \xrightarrow{a(\mu_{qr,s}^{-1}, \mu_t^{-1})} a(a(a(q, r), a(s)), a(a(t))) \\ & \mu_{qrs,t}^{-1} & \uparrow^{\mu_{a(q,r)a(s), a(t)}} \\ & a(q, r, s, t) & \xrightarrow{\mu_{qr,s,t}^{-1}} a(a(q, r), a(s), a(t)) \\ & \mu_{q,r,s,t}^{-1} & \uparrow^{a(\mu_{qr,s,t}, \mu_t)} \\ a(a(q), a(r), a(s), a(t))_{\mu_{\overline{a(q)a(r), a(s), a(t)}}} a(a(a(q), a(r)), a(a(s)), a(a(t))) \end{array}$$

are pastings of associativity squares for μ , and are therefore commutative. Pasting these diagrams along $\mu_{q,r,s,t}$ will confirm (4.1), and we conclude that \mathbb{D} has the structure of a pseudodouble category.

Now, write $(\mathbb{D}, \overline{a}, \overline{\eta}, \overline{\mu})$ for the pseudo- \mathfrak{F} -algebra induced by the above double category. We define $\gamma : \overline{a} \to a$ to be the natural transformation inductively given by

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{()} &= \mathsf{id}, \\ \gamma_{r_1, \dots, r_n, r_{n+1}} &= \mu_{r_1 \cdots r_n, r_{n+1}} \circ a(\gamma_{r_1, \dots, r_n}, \eta_{r_{n+1}}) \end{split}$$

We claim that $(id, \gamma): (\mathbb{D}, a, \eta, \mu) \to (\mathbb{D}, \overline{a}, \overline{\eta}, \overline{\mu})$ is an invertible lax morphism of pseudo- \mathfrak{F} -algebras. First, note that

$$\gamma_r \circ \overline{\eta}_r = \mu_{-,r} \circ a(\mathsf{id}, \eta_r) \circ a(\mathsf{id}, \eta_r^{-1}) \circ \mu_{-,r}^{-1} \circ \eta_r = \eta_r,$$

and we shall prove that

$$(4.2) \quad \gamma_{r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n,k_n}} \circ \overline{\mu}_{k_1,\dots,k_n} = \mu_{(r_{1,i})_{i=1}^{k_1},\dots,(r_{n,i})_{i=1}^{k_n}} \circ \gamma_{a(r_{1,i})_{i=1}^{k_1},\dots,(r_{n,i})_{i=1}^{k_n}} \circ \overline{a}(\gamma_{r_{1,1},\dots,r_{1,k_1}},\dots,\gamma_{r_{n,1},\dots,r_{n,k_n}})$$

by double induction. When n = 0, the above reduces to

$$\mathsf{id} = \mu_{()} \circ a(\mathsf{id}),$$

which holds, so assume the above is true for some n. If $k_{n+1} = 0$, the left-hand side of (4.2) becomes

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n,k_n}} \circ \overline{\mu}_{k_1,\dots,k_n,0} &= \gamma_{r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n,k_n}} \circ \overline{\mu}_{k_1,\dots,k_n} \circ \lambda \\ &= \lambda \circ a(\gamma_{r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n,k_n}},\mathsf{id}) \circ a(\overline{\mu}_{k_1,\dots,k_n},\mathsf{id}) \end{split}$$

while the right-hand side of (4.2) becomes

$$\begin{split} \mu_{(r_{1,i}),\dots,(r_{n,i}),()} &\circ \gamma_{a(r_{1,i}),\dots,a(r_{n,i})} \circ \overline{a}(\gamma_{r_{1,i}},\dots,\gamma_{r_{n,i}},\mathsf{id}) \\ &= \mu_{(r_{1,i}),\dots,(r_{n,i}),()} \circ \mu_{a(r_{1,i})\cdots a(r_{n,i}),a()} \circ a(\gamma_{a(r_{1,i}),\dots,a(r_{n,i})},\eta_{a()}) \circ a(\overline{a}(\gamma_{r_{1,i}},\dots,\gamma_{r_{n,i}}),\mathsf{id}) \\ &= \mu_{r_{1,1}\cdots r_{n,i},()} \circ a(\mu_{(r_{1,i}),\dots,(r_{n,i})},\mu_{(())}) \circ a(\gamma_{a(r_{1,i}),\dots,a(r_{n,i})},\eta_{a()}) \circ a(\overline{a}(\gamma_{r_{1,i}},\dots,\gamma_{r_{n,i}}),\mathsf{id}) \\ &= \mu_{r_{1,1}\cdots r_{n,i},()} \circ a(\gamma_{r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n,k_n}},\mathsf{id}) \circ a(\overline{\mu}_{k_1,\dots,k_n},\mathsf{id}) \end{split}$$

so the equality holds by verifying that

$$\mu_{r_1\cdots r_n,()} = \lambda,$$

which is equivalent to proving that the following diagram commutes

which is given by the coherence condition $\mu \circ \mathfrak{F}\mu = \mu \circ \mu_{\mathfrak{F}}$; recall that $\mu_{()} = \mathsf{id}$. Hence, for the final induction step, we suppose (4.2) holds for some k_{n+1} . For $k_{n+1}+1$, the left-hand side of (4.2) is given by

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{r_{1},1,\dots,r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}} &\circ \overline{\mu}_{k_{1},\dots,k_{n+1}+1} \\ &= \mu_{r_{1},1}\cdots r_{n+1,k_{n+1},r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}} \circ a(\gamma_{r_{1},1,\dots,r_{n+1,k_{n+1}}},\eta_{r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}}) \\ &\circ a(\overline{\mu}_{k_{1},\dots,k_{n+1}},\text{id}) \circ \alpha \\ &= \mu_{r_{1},1}\cdots r_{n+1,k_{n+1},r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}} \circ a(\mu_{(r_{1,i}),\dots,(r_{n+1,i})},\text{id}) \\ &\circ a(\gamma_{a(r_{1,i}),\dots,a(r_{n+1,i})},\eta_{r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}}) \circ \alpha \\ &= \mu_{r_{1,1}\cdots r_{n+1,k_{n+1}},r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}} \circ a(\mu_{(r_{1,i}),\dots,(r_{n+1,i})},\text{id}) \\ &\circ a(a(\alpha_{(\alpha_{i}(r_{1,i}),\dots,\alpha_{i}(r_{n+1,i})},\eta_{a(r_{n+1,i})}),\text{id}) \\ &\circ a(a(\overline{\alpha}(\gamma_{r_{1,i}},\dots,\gamma_{r_{n,i}}),\gamma_{r_{n+1,i}}),\text{id}) \\ &\circ a(a(\mu_{(r_{1,i}),\dots,(r_{n,i})},\mu_{(r_{n+1,i})}),\text{id}) \\ &\circ a(a(\mu_{(r_{1,i}),\dots,(r_{n,i})},a(\gamma_{r_{n+1,i}},\eta_{r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}})) \\ &= \mu_{r_{1,1}\cdots r_{n+1,k_{n+1}},r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}} \circ a(\mu_{(r_{1,i}\cdots r_{n,k_n}),(r_{n+1,i})},\text{id}) \\ &\circ a(\overline{\alpha}(\gamma_{r_{1,i},\dots,\gamma_{r_{n,i}}}),a(\gamma_{r_{n+1,i}},\eta_{r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}})) \\ &= \mu_{r_{1,1}\cdots r_{n+1,k_{n+1}},r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}} \circ a(\mu_{(r_{1,i}\cdots r_{n,k_n}),(r_{n+1,i})},\text{id}) \circ \alpha \\ &\circ a(\gamma_{r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n,k_n}},\text{id}) \\ &\circ a(\overline{\mu}_{k_{1,\dots,k_n}},\text{id}) \\ &\circ a(\overline{\mu}_{k_{1,\dots,k_n}},\overline{\eta},\eta_{r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}})), \end{split}$$

while the right-hand side is given by

$$\begin{split} & \mu(r_{1,i}), \dots, (r_{n,i}), (r_{n+1,i}, r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}) \circ \gamma_a(r_{1,i}), \dots, a(r_{n,i}), a(r_{n+1,i}, r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}) \circ \overline{a}(\gamma_{r_{1,i}}, \dots, \gamma_{r_{n,i}}, \gamma_{r_{n+1,i}, r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}}) \\ & = \mu(r_{1,i}), \dots, (r_{n,i}), (r_{n+1,i}, r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}) \circ \mu_a(r_{1,i}) \dots a(r_{n,i}), a(r_{n+1,i}, r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}) \\ & \circ a(\gamma_a(r_{1,i}), \dots, a(r_{n,i}), \eta_a(r_{n+1,i}, r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1})) \\ & \circ a(\overline{a}(\gamma_{r_{1,i}}, \dots, \gamma_{r_{n,i}}), \gamma_{r_{n+1,i}, r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}) \\ & \circ a(\gamma_a(r_{1,i}), \dots, a(r_{n,i}), \eta_a(r_{n+1,i}, r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1})) \\ & \circ a(\overline{a}(\gamma_{r_{1,i}}, \dots, \gamma_{r_{n,i}}), \eta_a(r_{n+1,i}, r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1})) \\ & \circ a(\overline{a}(\gamma_{r_{1,i}}, \dots, \gamma_{r_{n,i}}), \mathbf{id}) \\ & \circ a(\mathbf{id}, \mu(r_{n+1,i}), r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}) \\ & \circ a(\mathbf{id}, a(\gamma_{r_{n+1,i}}, \eta_{r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}})) \\ & = \mu_{(r_{1,1}, \dots, r_{n,k_n}), (r_{n+1,i}, r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}) \circ a(\gamma_{r_{1,1}, \dots, r_{n,k_n}}, \mathbf{id}) \\ & \circ a(\mathbf{id}, \mu(r_{n+1,i}), r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}) \\ & \circ a(\mathbf{id}, a(\gamma_{r_{n+1,i}}, \eta_{r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}})), \end{split}$$

and therefore, proving (4.2) reduces to verifying that

$$\begin{split} & \mu_{r_{1,1}\cdots r_{n+1,k_{n+1}},r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}} \circ a(\mu_{(r_{1,i}\cdots r_{n,k_n}),(r_{n+1,i})},\mathsf{id}) \circ \alpha \\ & = \mu_{(r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n,k_n}),(r_{n+1,i},r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1})} \circ a(\mathsf{id},\mu_{(r_{n+1,i}),r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}}). \end{split}$$

Here, we have

$$\begin{split} \alpha &= a(\mathsf{id}, \mu_{r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}}) \circ \mu_{a(r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n,k_n})a(r_{n+1,i}),a(r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1})}^{-1} \\ &\circ \mu_{a(r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n,k_n}),a(r_{n+1,i})a(r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1})} \\ &\circ a(\mu_{r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n,k_n}}^{-1},\mathsf{id}), \end{split}$$

so we just need to verify that

$$\mu_{r_{1,1}\cdots r_{n+1,k_{n+1}},r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}} \circ a(\mu_{(r_{1,i}\cdots r_{n,k_n}),(r_{n+1,i})},\mu_{r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}}) \circ \mu_{a(r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n,k_n})a(r_{n+1,i}),a(r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1})}^{-1} \\ = \mu_{(r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n,k_n}),(r_{n+1,i},r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1})} \circ a(\mu_{r_{1,1}\cdots r_{n,k_n}}\mu_{(r_{n+1,i}),r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}}) \circ \mu_{a(r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n,k_n}),a(r_{n+1,i}),a(r_{n+1,i})a(r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1})}^{-1} \\ = \mu_{(r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n,k_n}),(r_{n+1,i},r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1})} \circ a(\mu_{r_{1,1}\cdots r_{n,k_n}}\mu_{(r_{n+1,i}),r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}}) \circ \mu_{a(r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n,k_n})a(r_{n+1,i}),a(r_{n+1,i},r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1})}^{-1} \\ = \mu_{(r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n,k_n}),(r_{n+1,i},r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1})} \circ a(\mu_{r_{1,1}\cdots r_{n,k_n}}\mu_{(r_{n+1,i}),r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}}) \circ \mu_{a(r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n,k_n})a(r_{n+1,i}),a(r_{n+1,i},r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1})}^{-1} \\ = \mu_{(r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n,k_n}),(r_{n+1,i},r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1})} \circ a(\mu_{r_{1,1}\cdots r_{n,k_n}}\mu_{(r_{n+1,i}),r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}}) \circ \mu_{a(r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n,k_n}),a(r_{n+1,i}),a(r_{n+1,i},r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1})}^{-1} \\ = \mu_{(r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n,k_n}),(r_{n+1,i},r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1})} \circ a(\mu_{r_{1,1}\cdots r_{n,k_n}}\mu_{(r_{n+1,i}),r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}}) \circ \mu_{a(r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n,k_n}),a(r_{n+1,i}),a(r_{n+1,i},r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1})}^{-1} \\ = \mu_{(r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n,k_n}),(r_{n+1,i},r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1})} \circ a(\mu_{r_{1,1}\cdots r_{n,k_n}}\mu_{(r_{n+1,i}),r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}}) \circ \mu_{a(r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n,k_n}),a(r_{n+1,i},r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1})}^{-1} \\ = \mu_{(r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1)}} \circ a(\mu_{r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}}) \circ \mu_{a(r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1)}}^{-1} \\ = \mu_{(r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1)}} \circ a(\mu_{r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}}) \circ \mu_{a(r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1})} \circ \mu_{a(r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1)}} \circ \mu_{a(r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1)}}^{-1} \\ = \mu_{(r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1,\dots,r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1})} \circ \mu_{a(r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1,\dots,r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1})} \circ \mu_{a(r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1,\dots,r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1})} \circ \mu_{a(r_{1,1},\dots,r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1,\dots,r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1})}$$

which holds, since both sides of the above expression equal

$$\mu_{r_{1,1}\cdots r_{n,k_n},(r_{n+1,i}),r_{n+1,k_{n+1}+1}},$$

confirming that (id, γ) is an invertible pseudo-morphism of pseudo- \mathfrak{F} -algebras.

We consider double categories, lax (horizontal) and oplax (vertical) functors as in the following diagram, and the respective diagram in the double category $Ps-\mathfrak{F}-Alg$.

(4.3)
$$\begin{array}{c} \mathbb{A} \xrightarrow{H} \mathbb{B} & (\mathbb{A}, a, \eta, \mu) \xrightarrow{(H, \gamma^{H})} (\mathbb{B}, b, \eta, \mu) \\ F \downarrow & \downarrow G & (F, \delta^{F}) \downarrow & \downarrow (G, \delta^{G}) \\ \mathbb{C} \xrightarrow{K} \mathbb{D} & (\mathbb{C}, c, \eta, \mu) \xrightarrow{(K, \gamma^{K})} (\mathbb{D}, d, \eta, \mu) \end{array}$$

Let ω be a 2-cell $GH \to KF$ of internal Cat-graphs. The claim is that ω is a generalized vertical transformation if and only if ω is a generalized 2-cell of pseudo- \mathfrak{F} -algebras.

If ω is a generalized vertical transformation, we wish to prove that the following diagram commutes



For all n and all horizontal 1-cells r_1, \ldots, r_n . We proceed by induction: when n = 0, the above is just coherence of ω for the unit comparison. If true for some n, then

$$\begin{split} K\delta^F_{r_1,\dots,r_{n+1}} &\circ \omega_{a(r_1,\dots,r_{n+1})} \circ G\gamma^H_{r_1,\dots,r_{n+1}} \\ &= K(\operatorname{id} \cdot \delta^F_{r_1,\dots,r_n}) \circ K \operatorname{m}^F \circ \omega_{r_{n+1} \cdot a(r_1,\dots,r_n)} \circ G \operatorname{m}^H \circ G(\operatorname{id} \cdot \gamma^H_{r_1,\dots,r_n}) \\ &= K(\operatorname{id} \cdot \delta^F_{r_1,\dots,r_n}) \circ \operatorname{m}^K \circ (\omega_{r_{n+1}} \cdot \omega_{a(r_1,\dots,r_n)}) \circ \operatorname{m}^G \circ G(\operatorname{id} \cdot \gamma^H_{r_1,\dots,r_n}) \\ &= \operatorname{m}^K \circ (\operatorname{id} \cdot K\delta^F_{r_1,\dots,r_n}) \circ (\omega_{r_{n+1}} \cdot \omega_{a(r_1,\dots,r_n)}) \circ (\operatorname{id} \cdot G\gamma^H_{r_1,\dots,r_n}) \circ \operatorname{m}^G \\ &= \operatorname{m}^K \circ (\operatorname{id} \cdot \gamma^K_{Fr_1,\dots,Fr_n}) \circ (\omega_{r_{n+1}} \cdot d(\omega_{r_1},\dots,\omega_{r_n})) \circ (\operatorname{id} \cdot \delta^G_{Hr_1,\dots,Hr_n}) \circ \operatorname{m}^G \\ &= \gamma^K_{Fr_1,\dots,Fr_{n+1}} \circ d(\omega_{r_1},\dots,\omega_{r_{n+1}}) \circ \delta^G_{Hr_1,\dots,Hr_{n+1}}, \end{split}$$

so ω is a pseudo- \mathfrak{F} -algebra 2-cell as well.

Now, if ω is a pseudo- \mathfrak{F} -algebra 2-cell, the coherence for the unit comparison holds by definition, and

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{m}_{Fr,Fs}^{K} \circ (\omega_{s} \cdot \omega_{r}) \circ \mathbf{m}_{Hr,Hs}^{G} \\ &= K(\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho) \circ \gamma_{Fr,Fs}^{K} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \circ (\omega_{s} \cdot \omega_{r}) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho) \circ \delta_{Hr,Hs}^{G} \circ G(\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \\ &= K(\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho) \circ \gamma_{Fr,Fs}^{K} \circ (\omega_{s} \cdot (\omega_{r} \cdot \mathrm{id})) \circ \delta_{Hr,Hs}^{G} \circ G(\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \\ &= K(\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho) \circ \gamma_{Fr,Fs}^{K} \circ d(\omega_{r},\omega_{s}) \circ \delta_{Hr,Hs}^{G} \circ G(\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \\ &= K(\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho) \circ K \delta_{r,s}^{F} \circ \omega_{a(r,s)} \circ G \gamma_{r,s}^{H} \circ G(\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \\ &= K(\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho) \circ K \delta_{r,s}^{F} \circ KF(\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \circ \omega_{s \cdot r} \circ GH(\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho) \circ G(\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \\ &= K(\mathbf{m}^{F}) \circ \omega_{s \cdot r} \circ G(\mathbf{m}^{H}), \end{split}$$

verifies coherence for composition comparsion, completing our proof.

Now, as promised at the start of Section 2, we obtain:

Proposition 4.2. We have a conjunction

$$\mathcal{V}\operatorname{-Mat}_{\mathcal{V}(1,-)}^{-\cdot 1} \operatorname{Span}(\mathcal{V})$$

in the double category PsDbCat.

Proof. Via the equivalence $PsDbCat \simeq Ps-\mathfrak{F}-Alg$, we simply apply Proposition 3.1 to the adjunction $-\cdot 1 \dashv \mathcal{V}(1,-)$ in Grph(Cat), with the oplax functor structure of $-\cdot 1$: $Span(\mathcal{V}) \rightarrow \mathcal{V}-Mat$, all of which were described in Section 2.

5. Horizontal Lax Algebras and change of base

We will review the notion of categories of *horizontal lax algebras* introduced in [15], and we define the *change-of-base* functors between such categories, induced by an appropriate notion of monad morphism. We begin by fixing monads $S = (\mathbb{D}, S, m, e)$ and $T = (\mathbb{E}, T, m, e)$ in the 2-category $\mathsf{PsDbCat}_{lax}$.

We define the category $\mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax}$ -T-Alg of horizontal lax T-algebras, as follows:

– Objects are given by 4-tuples (x, a, v, μ) where x is a 0-cell, $a: Tx \rightarrow x$ is a horizontal 1-cell, and v, μ are 2-cells

satisfying

$$\begin{split} \mu \circ (\upsilon \cdot e_a) &= \lambda \\ \mu \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot (T\upsilon \circ \mathbf{e}^T)) &= \rho \\ \mu \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot (T\mu \circ \mathbf{m}^T)) &= \mu \circ (\mu \cdot m_a) \circ \alpha^{-1} \end{split}$$

– A morphism $(x, a, v, \mu) \to (y, b, v, \mu)$ is a pair (f, ζ) where $f: x \to y$ is a vertical 1-cell and ζ is a 2-cell

$$\begin{array}{ccc} Tx & \stackrel{a}{\longrightarrow} x \\ Tf & \zeta & \downarrow f \\ Ty & \stackrel{b}{\longrightarrow} y \end{array}$$

satisfying $\zeta \circ \upsilon = \upsilon \circ 1_f$ and $\zeta \circ \mu = \mu \circ (\zeta \cdot T\zeta)$.

It should be noted that $id = (id, id): (x, a, v, \mu) \rightarrow (x, a, v, \mu)$ is a horizontal lax *T*-algebra morphism, and if (f, ζ) , (g, ξ) are composable horizontal lax *T*-algebra morphisms, then so is $(g, \xi) \circ (f, \zeta) = (g \circ f, \xi \circ \zeta)$. Associativity and identity properties are inherited from \mathbb{E}_0 and \mathbb{E}_1 , making $\mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax} - T$ -Alg into a category. Our work focuses on the cases $\mathbb{E} = \text{Span}(\mathcal{V})$, with T induced by a cartesian monad (also denoted by T) on \mathcal{V} , and $\mathbb{D} = \mathcal{V}$ -Mat with S a lax monad. Then, $\mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax} - T - \operatorname{Alg} = \operatorname{Cat}(T, \mathcal{V})$ is the category of *internal T-categories* of [22], while $\mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax} - S - \operatorname{Alg} = (S, \mathcal{V})$ -Cat is a generalization of the category of *enriched S-categories* introduced by [12], by not requiring S to be normal.³

Let $(F, \phi): S \to T$ be a monad oplax morphism, and we assume \mathbb{E} is conjoint closed. By Theorem 3.6, ϕ has a conjoint, given by a lax horizontal transformation $\phi^*: TF \to FS$. We define a 2-cell $e^{\phi_x^*}$ for each 0-cell x given by

$$\begin{array}{c|c} Fx & \xrightarrow{1} & Fx \\ e_{Fx} \downarrow & e^{\phi_x^*} & \downarrow^{Fe_x} \\ TFx & \xrightarrow{\phi_x^*} & FSx \end{array}$$

as the mate of the commutative square $\phi_x \circ Fe_x = e_{Fx} \circ id$, and a 2-cell $\mathsf{m}^{\phi_x^*}$ given by

$$\begin{array}{cccc} TTFx \xrightarrow{(T\phi_x)^*} TFSx \xrightarrow{\phi_{Sx}^*} FSSx \\ \parallel & \pi & \parallel \\ TTFx \xrightarrow{(T\phi_x \circ \phi_{Sx})^*} & \longrightarrow FSSx \\ m_{Fx} \downarrow & 1^{\vee} & \downarrow Fm_x \\ TFx \xrightarrow{\phi_x^*} & FSx \end{array}$$

where π is given as in (3.2), and 1^{\vee} is the mate of the commutative square $\phi_x \circ Fm_x = m_{Fx} \circ (T\phi_x \circ \phi_{Sx})$. To be explicit, via mate correspondence we have

(5.1)
$$\varepsilon \circ \mathbf{e}^{\phi_x^*} = \mathbf{1}_{e_{Fx}}, \text{ and } \varepsilon \circ \mathbf{m}^{\phi_x^*} = \mathbf{1}_{m_{Fx}} \circ \rho \circ ((\mathbf{1}_{T\phi_x} \circ \varepsilon) \cdot \varepsilon)$$

Analogously, when \mathbb{D} is companion closed, we define 2-cells $\mathbf{e}_{y}^{\psi_{l}}$ and $\mathbf{m}_{y}^{\psi_{l}}$ for a monad lax morphism $(G, \psi): T \to S$.

Lemma 5.1. If $(F, \phi) : S \to T$ is a monad oplax morphism and \mathbb{E} is conjoint closed, then e^{ϕ^*} and m^{ϕ^*} are modifications, and the following relations hold:

 $(a) \ \mathbf{m}_{x}^{\phi^{*}} \circ (\mathbf{e}_{Sx}^{\phi^{*}} \cdot \mathbf{e}_{\phi_{x}}^{\vee}) = \lambda,$ $(b) \ \mathbf{m}_{x}^{\phi^{*}} \circ (\phi_{e}^{*} \cdot \mathbf{e}_{x}^{(T\phi)^{*}}) = \rho,$ $(c) \ \mathbf{m}_{x}^{\phi^{*}} \circ (\mathbf{m}_{Sx}^{\phi^{*}} \cdot \mathbf{m}_{\phi_{x}}^{\vee}) = \mathbf{m}^{\phi^{*}_{x}} \circ (\phi_{m}^{*} \cdot \mathbf{m}_{x}^{(T\phi)^{*}}) \circ \alpha,$

where $e_{\phi_x}^{\vee}$ and $m_{\phi_x}^{\vee}$ are the mates of the naturality squares of e and m at ϕ_x , and $e_x^{(T\phi)^*}$, $m^{(T\phi)^*_x}$ are respectively given by the mate of the commutative square $T\phi_x \circ TFe_x = Te_{Fx} \circ id$, and the mate of the commutative square $T\phi_x \circ TFm_x = Tm_{Fx} \circ (TT\phi_x \circ T\phi_{Sx})$ composed with π , satisfying properties similar to (5.1).

Proof. Note that π is given as a 2-cell (modification) in $Lax(\mathbb{D}, \mathbb{E})_{lax}$, and e^{ϕ^*} and 1^{\vee} are mates of equations of vertical 1-cells. It follows that e^{ϕ^*} and m^{ϕ^*} are modifications.

We have

$$\begin{split} \varepsilon \circ \mathbf{m}_{x}^{\phi^{*}} \circ (\mathbf{e}_{Sx}^{\phi^{*}} \cdot e_{\phi_{x}}^{\vee}) &= \mathbf{1}_{m_{Fx}} \circ \lambda \circ \left((\mathbf{1}_{T\phi_{x}} \circ \varepsilon) \cdot \varepsilon\right) \circ \left(\mathbf{e}_{Sx}^{\phi^{*}} \cdot e_{\phi_{x}}^{\vee}\right) \\ &= \mathbf{1}_{m_{Fx}} \circ \lambda \circ \left(\mathbf{1}_{T\phi_{x} \circ e_{FSx}} \cdot \left(\mathbf{1}_{e_{TFx}} \circ \varepsilon\right)\right) \\ &= \mathbf{1}_{m_{Fx}} \circ \mathbf{1}_{e_{TFx}} \circ \varepsilon \circ \lambda = \varepsilon \circ \lambda, \\ \varepsilon \circ \mathbf{m}_{x}^{\phi^{*}} \circ \left(\phi_{e}^{*} \cdot \mathbf{e}_{x}^{(T\phi)^{*}}\right) &= \mathbf{1}_{m_{Fx}} \circ \rho \circ \left(\left(\mathbf{1}_{T\phi_{x}} \circ \varepsilon\right) \cdot \varepsilon\right) \circ \left(\phi_{e}^{*} \cdot \mathbf{e}_{x}^{(T\phi)^{*}}\right) \\ &= \mathbf{1}_{m_{Fx}} \circ \rho \circ \left(\left(\mathbf{1}_{T\phi_{x} \circ TFe_{x}} \circ \varepsilon\right) \cdot \mathbf{1}_{TeFx}\right) \\ &= \mathbf{1}_{m_{Fx}} \circ \mathbf{1}_{TeFx} \circ \varepsilon \circ \rho = \varepsilon \circ \rho, \end{split}$$

Now, we note that

(5.2)
$$\varepsilon \circ \mathsf{m}_{x}^{\phi^{*}} \circ (\mathsf{m}_{Sx}^{\phi^{*}} \cdot m_{\phi_{x}}^{\vee}) = \rho \circ \left((1_{m_{Fx} \circ T\phi_{x}} \circ \varepsilon \circ \mathsf{m}_{Sx}^{\phi^{*}}) \cdot (1_{m_{Fx}} \circ \varepsilon \circ m_{\phi_{x}}^{\vee}) \right),$$

and we note that

$$\varepsilon \circ \mathsf{m}_{Sx}^{\phi^*} = \rho \circ \left((1_{m_{FSx} \circ T\phi_{Sx}} \circ \varepsilon) \cdot (1_{m_{FSx}} \circ \varepsilon) \right),$$

³When \mathcal{V} is a quantale, this generalization is already present in [40].

and

$$\varepsilon \circ m_{\phi_x}^{\vee} = \mathbf{1}_{m_{FSx}} \circ \varepsilon$$

so that (5.2) becomes

$$\varepsilon \circ \mathsf{m}_x^{\phi^*} \circ (\mathsf{m}_{Sx}^{\phi^*} \cdot \mathsf{m}_{\phi_x}^{\vee}) = \rho \circ (\rho \cdot \mathsf{id}) \circ ((A \cdot B) \cdot C)$$

where $A = 1_{\hat{A}} \circ \varepsilon$, $B = 1_{\hat{B}} \circ \varepsilon$, $C = 1_{\hat{C}} \circ \varepsilon$, and

- $-\hat{A} = m_{Fx} \circ T\phi_x \circ m_{FSx} \circ T\phi_{Sx},$ $-\hat{B} = m_{Fx} \circ T\phi_x \circ m_{FSx},$ $\hat{\alpha}$
- $-\hat{C}=m_{Fx}\circ m_{TFx}.$

On the other hand, we have

(5.3)
$$\varepsilon \circ \mathsf{m}^{\phi_x^*} \circ (\phi_m^* \cdot \mathsf{m}_x^{(T\phi)^*}) \circ \alpha = \rho \circ \left((1_{m_{Fx}} \circ T\phi_x \circ \varepsilon \circ \phi_m^*) \cdot (1_{m_{Fx}} \circ \varepsilon \circ \mathsf{m}_x^{(T\phi)^*}) \right),$$

and we note that

$$\varepsilon \circ \phi_m^* = \mathbf{1}_{TFm_x} \circ \varepsilon$$

and

$$\varepsilon \circ \mathsf{m}_x^{(T\phi)^*} = \lambda \circ \big((1_{Tm_{Fx} \circ TT\phi_x} \circ \varepsilon) \cdot (1_{Tm_{Fx}} \circ \varepsilon) \big),$$

so that (5.3) becomes

$$\varepsilon \circ \mathsf{m}^{\phi_x^*} \circ (\phi_m^* \cdot \mathsf{m}_x^{(T\phi)^*}) \circ \alpha = \rho \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \lambda) \circ \alpha \circ ((X \cdot Y) \cdot Z),$$

where $X = 1_{\hat{X}} \circ \varepsilon$, $Y = 1_{\hat{Y}} \circ \varepsilon$, $Z = 1_{\hat{Z}} \circ \varepsilon$, and

 $- \hat{X} = m_{Fx} \circ T\phi_x \circ TFm_x,$ $- \hat{Y} = m_{Fx} \circ Tm_{Fx} \circ TT\phi_x,$ $- \hat{Z} = m_{Fx} \circ Tm_{Fx}.$

We conclude the proof by observing that A = X, B = Y and C = Z.

Theorem 5.2. We suppose that $(F, \phi): S \to T$ is an monad oplax morphism and that \mathbb{E} is conjoint closed. If ϕ and $T\phi$ have strong conjoints (see Lemma 3.7), then (F, ϕ) induces a functor $F_1: \mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax} - S - \operatorname{Alg} \to \mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax} - T - \operatorname{Alg}$.

Analogously, if we suppose that $(G, \psi): T \to S$ is a monad lax morphism and that \mathbb{D} is companion closed, then (G, ψ) induces a functor $G_!: \mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax} - T - \operatorname{Alg} \to \mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax} - S - \operatorname{Alg}$.

Proof. The functors $F_{!}$ and $G_{!}$ are given on objects by

 $F_!(x,a,\upsilon,\mu) = (Fx,Fa \cdot \phi_x^*,F_!\upsilon,F_!\mu) \quad \text{and} \quad G_!(y,b,\upsilon,\mu) = (Gy,Gb \cdot \psi_{y!},G_!\upsilon,G_!\mu),$

where $F_{!}v$, $F_{!}\mu$ are respectively given by the following 2-cells:

$$\begin{array}{c|c} Fx & \xrightarrow{1} & Fx & \xrightarrow{1} & Fx \\ & & \parallel & e^{F} & \parallel \\ e_{Fx} & e_{x}^{\phi^{*}} & Fx & -F1 \rightarrow Fx \\ & & & F_{e_{x}}^{i} & Fv & \parallel \\ & & & & Fx \\ & & & & & Fx \end{array}$$

$$\begin{array}{c|c} Fx & \xrightarrow{1} & Fx \\ e_{Fx} & e_{x}^{\phi^{*}} & Fv & \parallel \\ TFx & \xrightarrow{-\phi^{*}_{x}} & FSx & \xrightarrow{-Fa} & Fx \end{array}$$

$$\begin{array}{c|c} TTFx & \xrightarrow{T(Fa \cdot \phi_x^*)} & TFx & \longrightarrow FSx & \longrightarrow Fa \to Fx \\ \hline & \theta_{\phi}^T & \parallel & \parallel & \parallel \\ TTFx & -(T\phi_x)^* + TFSx & \longrightarrow TFa \to TFx & \longrightarrow \phi_x^* \to FSx \\ \parallel & \parallel & (\mathbf{n}_a^{\phi^*})^{-1} & \parallel \\ TTFx & -(T\phi_x)^* + TFSx & \longrightarrow \phi_{Sx}^* \to FSSx & \longrightarrow FSx & \longrightarrow Fx \\ \parallel & & \mathbf{m}^F & \parallel \\ m_{Fx} & & \mathbf{m}_x^{\phi^*} & FSSx & \longrightarrow F(a \cdot Sa) & \longrightarrow Fx \\ \downarrow & & \mathbf{m}_x^{\phi^*} & FSx & \longrightarrow Fxx \\ \downarrow & & \mathbf{m}_x^{\phi^*} & FSx & \longrightarrow Fx \\ \downarrow & & \mathbf{m}_x^{\phi^*} & FSx & \longrightarrow Fx \\ \downarrow & & \mathbf{m}_x^{\phi^*} & FSx & \longrightarrow Fx \\ \downarrow & & \mathbf{m}_x^{\phi^*} & FSx & \longrightarrow Fx \\ \downarrow & & \mathbf{m}_x^{\phi^*} & Fx \\ \downarrow &$$

where θ_{ϕ}^{T} is the inverse of $\mathbf{m}^{T} \circ (\mathbf{id} \cdot \sigma^{T})$, and $G_{!}v, G_{!}\mu$ are respectively given by the following 2-cells:

$$\begin{array}{c|c} Gy & \stackrel{1}{\longrightarrow} Gy & \stackrel{1}{\longrightarrow} Gy \\ & & & \parallel & e^{G} & \parallel \\ e^{Gy} & & e^{\psi_{!}}_{y} & Gy - G1 \rightarrow Gy \\ & & & & G^{e}_{y} & Gv & \parallel \\ SGy & \stackrel{1}{\longrightarrow} & GTy & \stackrel{1}{\longrightarrow} Gy \end{array}$$

where θ_{ψ}^{S} is the inverse of $\mathbf{m}^{S} \circ (\mathbf{id} \cdot \tau^{S})$, given by Lemma 3.5.

If $(f, \zeta): (w, a, v, \mu) \to (x, b, v, \mu)$ is a horizontal lax S-algebra morphism, and if $(g, \xi): (y, c, v, \mu) \to (z, d, v, \mu)$ is a horizontal lax T-algebra morphism, then we have

$$F_!(f,\zeta) = (Ff, F\zeta \cdot \phi_f^*)$$
 and $G_!(g,\xi) = (Gg, G\xi \cdot \psi_{f!}).$

We observe that ϕ and $T\phi$ are required to have strong conjoints only to guarantee the existence of $F_!\mu$. All other things being equal, up to a letter substitution, we conclude it is enough to verify that one of $F_!(x, a, v, \mu)$, $G_!(y, b, v, \mu)$ is a horizontal lax algebra, and likewise for the morphisms.

Throughout the calculations, we will use the following abbreviations:

$$\begin{split} &-\upsilon^F = F\upsilon \circ \mathbf{e}^F, \\ &-\mu^F = F\mu \circ \mathbf{m}^F, \\ &-\hat{\alpha} = (\mathsf{id} \cdot \alpha^{-1}) \circ \alpha, \\ &-\tilde{\theta} = \mathsf{id} \cdot (\theta \cdot \mathsf{id}) \text{ for a 2-cell } \theta. \\ &-N_p^{\omega} = \hat{\alpha}^{-1} \circ (\tilde{\mathbf{n}}_p^{\omega})^{-1} \circ \hat{\alpha} \text{ for a strong (lax) horizontal transformation } \omega. \end{split}$$

We begin by verifying that the following equalities hold:

(5.4)
$$\theta^T \circ e_{Fa \cdot \phi_x^*} = e_{Fa} \cdot e_{\phi_x}^{\vee},$$

(5.5)
$$\theta^T \circ T(v^F \cdot \mathbf{e}_x^{\phi^*}) \circ T\rho^{-1} \circ \mathbf{e}^T = (v^{TF} \cdot \mathbf{e}_x^{(T\phi)^*}) \circ \rho^{-1},$$

We obtain (5.4), via mate correspondence, by noting that

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{m}^{T} \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \sigma^{T}) \circ (e_{Fa} \cdot e_{\phi_{x}}^{\vee}) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \eta) \circ \rho^{-1} &= \mathsf{m}^{T} \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \sigma^{T}) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \eta) \circ (e_{Fa} \cdot 1_{e_{FSx}}) \circ \rho^{-1} \\ &= \mathsf{m}^{T} \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot T\eta) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mathsf{e}^{T}) \circ \rho^{-1} \circ e_{Fa} \\ &= T(\mathsf{id} \cdot \eta) \circ \mathsf{m}^{T} \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mathsf{e}^{T}) \circ \rho^{-1} \circ e_{Fa} \\ &= T(\mathsf{id} \cdot \eta) \circ T\rho^{-1} \circ e_{Fa} \\ &= e_{Fa \cdot \phi_{x}^{*}} \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \eta) \circ \rho^{-1}, \end{split}$$

and (5.5), directly, since

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{m}^{T} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \sigma^{T}) \circ (\upsilon^{TF} \cdot \mathbf{e}_{x}^{(T\phi)^{*}}) \circ \rho^{-1} &= \mathbf{m}^{T} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot T\eta) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \mathbf{e}^{T}) \circ (\upsilon^{TF} \cdot \mathbf{1}_{TFe_{x}}) \circ \rho^{-1} \\ &= T(\mathrm{id} \cdot \eta) \circ \mathbf{m}^{T} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \mathbf{e}^{T}) \circ \rho^{-1} \circ \upsilon^{TF} \\ &= T(\mathrm{id} \cdot \eta) \circ T\rho^{-1} \circ \upsilon^{TF} \\ &= T(\mathrm{id} \cdot \eta) \circ T(\upsilon^{F} \cdot \mathbf{1}_{Fe_{x}}) \circ T\rho^{-1} \circ \mathbf{e}^{T} \\ &= T(\upsilon^{F} \cdot \mathbf{e}_{x}^{\phi^{*}}) \circ T\rho^{-1} \circ \mathbf{e}^{T} . \end{split}$$

Furthermore, since e^{ϕ^*} is a modification and n^{ϕ^*} is natural, we respectively obtain

(5.6)
$$(\mathsf{n}_a^{\phi^*})^{-1} \circ (\mathsf{e}_x^{\phi^*} \circ e_{Fa}) = (Fe_a \cdot \mathsf{e}_{Sx}^{\phi^*}) \circ \gamma,$$

(5.7)
$$(\mathbf{n}_a^{\phi^*})^{-1} \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \upsilon^{TF}) = (\upsilon^{FS} \cdot \phi_e^*) \circ \gamma.$$

And lastly, we note that the following diagrams commute





which respectively confirm that

(5.8)
$$\mu^{F} \circ (v^{F} \cdot Fe_{a}) = \lambda,$$
(5.9)
$$\mu^{F} \circ (\operatorname{id} \cdot v^{FS}) = a,$$

By applying
$$(5.4)$$
, (5.6) , (5.8) , and (a) from Lemma 5.1, we obtain

$$\begin{split} (\mu^{F} \cdot \mathbf{m}_{x}^{\phi^{*}}) \circ N_{a}^{\phi^{*}} \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \theta^{T}) \circ \left((v^{F} \cdot \mathbf{e}_{x}^{\phi^{*}}) \cdot e_{Fa \cdot \phi_{x}^{*}} \right) \circ (\lambda^{-1} \cdot \mathsf{id}) \\ &= (\mu^{F} \cdot \mathbf{m}_{x}^{\phi^{*}}) \circ N_{a}^{\phi^{*}} \circ \left((v^{F} \cdot \mathbf{e}_{x}^{\phi^{*}}) \cdot (e_{Fa} \cdot e_{\phi_{x}}^{\vee}) \right) \circ (\lambda^{-1} \cdot \mathsf{id}) \\ &= (\mu^{F} \cdot \mathbf{m}_{x}^{\phi^{*}}) \circ \left((v^{F} \cdot Fe_{a}) \cdot (\mathbf{e}_{Sx}^{\phi^{*}} \cdot \mathbf{e}_{\phi_{x}}^{\vee}) \right) \circ N_{a}^{1} \circ (\lambda^{-1} \cdot \mathsf{id}) \\ &= (\lambda \cdot \lambda) \circ \hat{\alpha}^{-1} \circ \tilde{\gamma} \circ \hat{\alpha} \circ (\lambda^{-1} \cdot \mathsf{id}) = \lambda, \end{split}$$

verifying the left identity law, and by applying (5.5), (5.7), (5.9) and (b) from Lemma 5.1, we obtain

$$\begin{split} (\mu^{F} \cdot \mathbf{m}_{x}^{\phi^{*}}) \circ N_{a}^{\phi^{*}} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \theta^{T}) \circ \left(\mathrm{id} \cdot (T(\upsilon^{F} \cdot \mathbf{e}^{\phi^{*}}) \circ T\lambda^{-1} \circ \mathbf{e}^{T})\right) \\ &= (\mu^{F} \cdot \mathbf{m}_{x}^{\phi^{*}}) \circ N_{a}^{\phi^{*}} \circ \left(\mathrm{id} \cdot (\upsilon^{TF} \cdot \mathbf{e}_{x}^{(T\phi)^{*}})\right) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \\ &= (\mu^{F} \cdot \mathbf{m}_{x}^{\phi^{*}}) \circ \left((\mathrm{id} \cdot \upsilon^{FS}) \cdot (\phi_{e}^{*} \cdot \mathbf{e}_{x}^{(T\phi)^{*}})\right) \circ N_{a}^{1} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \\ &= (\rho \cdot \rho) \circ \hat{\alpha}^{-1} \circ \tilde{\gamma} \circ \hat{\alpha} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) = \rho, \end{split}$$

verifying the right identity law.

Now, note that

(5.10)
$$\theta^T \circ m_{Fa \cdot \phi_x^*} = (m_{Fa} \cdot m_{\phi_x}^{\vee}) \circ \theta^{TT}$$

holds via mate correspondence, since we have

$$\begin{split} m_{Fa \cdot \phi_x^*} \circ \mathbf{m}^{TT} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \sigma^{TT}) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \eta) \circ \rho^{-1} &= m_{Fa \cdot \phi_x^*} \circ \mathbf{m}^{TT} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot TT\eta) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \mathbf{e}^{TT}) \circ \rho^{-1} \\ &= m_{Fa \cdot \phi_x^*} \circ TT (\mathrm{id} \cdot \eta) \circ \mathbf{m}^{TT} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \mathbf{e}^{TT}) \circ \rho^{-1} \\ &= T (\mathrm{id} \cdot \eta) \circ m_{Fa \cdot 1} \circ TT\rho^{-1} \\ &= T (\mathrm{id} \cdot \eta) \circ T\rho^{-1} \circ m_{Fa}, \\ \mathbf{m}^T \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \sigma^T) \circ (m_{Fa} \cdot m_{\phi_x}^{\vee}) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \eta) \circ \rho^{-1} &= \mathbf{m}^T \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \sigma^T) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \eta) \circ (m_{Fa} \cdot 1) \circ \rho^{-1} \\ &= \mathbf{m}^T \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot T\eta) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \mathbf{e}^T) \circ \rho^{-1} \circ m_{Fa} \\ &= T (\mathrm{id} \cdot \eta) \circ \mathbf{m}^T \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \mathbf{e}^T) \circ \rho^{-1} \circ m_{Fa} \\ &= T (\mathrm{id} \cdot \eta) \circ \mathbf{m}^T \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \mathbf{e}^T) \circ \rho^{-1} \circ m_{Fa} \\ &= T (\mathrm{id} \cdot \eta) \circ T\rho^{-1} \circ m_{Fa}, \end{split}$$

and since m^{ϕ^*} is a modification, we get

(5.11)
$$(\mathsf{n}_{a}^{\phi^{*}})^{-1} \circ (\mathsf{m}_{x}^{\phi^{*}} \cdot m_{Fa}) = (Fm_{a} \cdot \mathsf{m}_{Sx}^{\phi^{*}}) \circ (\mathsf{n}_{a}^{\phi^{*}_{S} \cdot (T\phi)^{*}})^{-1}.$$

Now, note that the following diagram commutes

which confirms

(5.12)
$$\mu^F \circ (\mu^F \cdot Fm_a) = \mu^F \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mu^{FS}) \circ \alpha.$$

Our next step is to confirm that

$$(5.13) \quad ((\mathsf{id} \cdot \mathsf{m}^{FS}) \cdot \mathsf{id}) \circ (\alpha \cdot \alpha) \circ N_a^{\phi_S^* \cdot (T\phi)^*} \circ (N_a^{\phi^*} \cdot \mathsf{id}) = N_{a \cdot Sa}^{\phi^*} \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot (\mathsf{m}^{TF} \cdot \mathsf{id})) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot N_a^{(T\phi)^*}) \circ \alpha.$$

First, we recall that

$$\mathbf{n}_{a}^{\phi_{S}^{*}\cdot(T\phi)^{*}} = \alpha^{-1} \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mathbf{n}_{a}^{(T\phi)^{*}}) \circ \alpha \circ (\mathbf{n}_{Sa}^{\phi^{*}} \cdot \mathsf{id}) \circ \alpha^{-1},$$

and

$$\mathbf{n}_{a\cdot Sa}^{\phi^*} \circ (\mathbf{m}^{FS} \cdot \mathbf{id}) = (\mathbf{id} \cdot \mathbf{m}^{TF}) \circ \alpha \circ (\mathbf{n}_a^{\phi^*} \cdot \mathbf{id}) \circ \alpha^{-1} \circ (\mathbf{id} \cdot \mathbf{n}_{Sa}^{\phi^*}) \circ \alpha,$$

and note that by coherence, we have

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\alpha} \circ \hat{\alpha} \circ (\hat{\alpha}^{-1} \cdot \mathrm{id}) &= \alpha^{-1} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \hat{\alpha}) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \hat{\alpha}) \circ \alpha, \\ (\alpha \cdot \alpha) \circ \hat{\alpha}^{-1} \circ \tilde{\alpha} &= \hat{\alpha}^{-1} \circ \tilde{\alpha}^{-1} \circ \hat{\alpha} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \alpha), \\ \hat{\alpha} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \alpha) \circ \tilde{\alpha}^{-1} \circ \alpha^{-1} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \hat{\alpha}) &= \tilde{\alpha} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \hat{\alpha}^{-1}), \\ \hat{\alpha}^{-1} \circ \tilde{\alpha} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \hat{\alpha})^{-1} &= (\mathrm{id} \cdot \hat{\alpha}^{-1}) \circ \alpha^{-1} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \alpha) \\ \alpha^{-1} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \alpha) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \hat{\alpha}) \circ \alpha \circ (\hat{\alpha} \cdot \mathrm{id}) &= (\mathrm{id} \cdot \hat{\alpha}) \circ \alpha, \end{split}$$

so that

$$\begin{split} &((\mathrm{id}\cdot\mathrm{m}^{FS})\cdot\mathrm{id})\circ(\alpha\cdot\alpha)\circ N_a^{\phi_S^{*}\cdot(T\phi)^*}\circ(N_a^{\phi^*}\cdot\mathrm{id})\\ &=((\mathrm{id}\cdot\mathrm{m}^{FS})\cdot\mathrm{id})\circ(\alpha\cdot\alpha)\circ\hat{\alpha}^{-1}\circ\tilde{\alpha}\circ(\mathrm{id}\cdot((\mathrm{n}_{Sa}^{\phi^*}\cdot\mathrm{id})\cdot\mathrm{id}))^{-1}\circ\tilde{\alpha}^{-1}\\ &\circ(\mathrm{id}\cdot((\mathrm{id}\cdot\mathrm{n}_a^{(T\phi)^*})\cdot\mathrm{id}))^{-1}\circ\tilde{\alpha}\circ\hat{\alpha}\circ(\hat{\alpha}^{-1}\cdot\mathrm{id})\circ((\mathrm{id}\cdot(\mathrm{n}_a^{\phi^*}\cdot\mathrm{id}))\cdot\mathrm{id})^{-1}\circ(\hat{\alpha}\cdot\mathrm{id})\\ &=\hat{\alpha}^{-1}\circ(\mathrm{id}\cdot((\mathrm{m}^{FS}\cdot\mathrm{id})\cdot\mathrm{id}))\circ\tilde{\alpha}^{-1}\circ(\mathrm{id}\cdot((\mathrm{id}\cdot\mathrm{n}_{Sa}^{\phi^*})\cdot\mathrm{id}))^{-1}\\ &\circ\hat{\alpha}\circ(\mathrm{id}\cdot\alpha)\circ\tilde{\alpha}^{-1}\circ\alpha^{-1}\circ(\mathrm{id}\cdot\hat{\alpha})\circ(\mathrm{id}\cdot(\mathrm{n}_a^{\phi^*}\cdot\mathrm{id}))^{-1}\\ &\circ(\mathrm{id}\cdot(\mathrm{id}\cdot(\mathrm{n}_a^{(T\phi)^*}\cdot\mathrm{id})))^{-1}\circ(\mathrm{id}\cdot\hat{\alpha})\circ\alpha\circ(\hat{\alpha}\cdot\mathrm{id})\\ &=\hat{\alpha}^{-1}\circ(\mathrm{id}\cdot((\mathrm{m}^{FS}\cdot\mathrm{id})\cdot\mathrm{id}))\circ\tilde{\alpha}^{-1}\circ(\mathrm{id}\cdot((\mathrm{id}\cdot\mathrm{n}_{Sa}^{\phi^*})\cdot\mathrm{id}))^{-1}\circ\tilde{\alpha}\circ(\mathrm{id}\cdot((\mathrm{n}_a^{\phi^*}\cdot\mathrm{id})\cdot\mathrm{id}))^{-1}\\ &\circ(\mathrm{id}\cdot\hat{\alpha})^{-1}\circ(\mathrm{id}\cdot(\mathrm{id}\cdot(\mathrm{n}_a^{(T\phi)^*}\cdot\mathrm{id})))^{-1}\circ(\mathrm{id}\cdot\hat{\alpha})\circ\alpha\circ(\hat{\alpha}\cdot\mathrm{id})\\ &=\hat{\alpha}^{-1}\circ(\mathrm{id}\cdot(\mathrm{n}_a^{\phi^*}\cdot\mathrm{id}))^{-1}\circ(\mathrm{id}\cdot((\mathrm{id}\cdot\mathrm{m}^{TF})\cdot\mathrm{id}))\circ\tilde{\alpha}\circ(\mathrm{id}\cdot N_a^{(T\phi)^*})\circ\alpha\circ(\hat{\alpha}\cdot\mathrm{id})\\ &=N_{a\cdot Sa}^{\phi^*}\circ(\mathrm{id}\cdot(\mathrm{m}^{TF}\cdot\mathrm{id}))\circ(\mathrm{id}\cdot\hat{\alpha}^{-1})\circ(\mathrm{id}\cdot\hat{n}_a^{(T\phi)^*})^{-1}\circ\alpha^{-1}\circ(\mathrm{id}\cdot\alpha)\circ(\mathrm{id}\cdot\hat{\alpha})\circ\alpha\circ(\hat{\alpha}\cdot\mathrm{id})\\ &=N_{a\cdot Sa}^{\phi^*}\circ(\mathrm{id}\cdot(\mathrm{m}^{TF}\cdot\mathrm{id}))\circ(\mathrm{id}\cdot\hat{n}_a^{(T\phi)^*})\circ\alpha. \end{split}$$

Next, we observe that

(5.14)
$$(FS\mu \cdot \phi_m^*) \circ (\mathsf{n}_{a \cdot Sa}^{\phi^*})^{-1} = (\mathsf{n}_a^{\phi^*})^{-1} \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot TF\mu)$$

holds by naturality of n^{ϕ^*} , and lastly we must confirm that

(5.15)
$$(\mu^{TF} \cdot \mathsf{m}_{a}^{(T\phi)^{*}}) \circ N_{a}^{(T\phi)^{*}} \circ (\theta^{T} \cdot \theta^{TT}) = \theta^{T} \circ T(\mu^{F} \cdot \mathsf{m}_{x}^{\phi^{*}}) \circ TN_{a}^{\phi^{*}} \circ T(\mathsf{id} \cdot \theta^{T}) \circ \mathsf{m}^{T},$$

which we reduce to proving the following relations:

$$TN_a^{\phi^*} \circ T(\mathsf{id} \cdot \theta^T) \circ \mathsf{m}^T \circ (\mathsf{m}^T \cdot \mathsf{m}^{TT}) \circ ((\mathsf{id} \cdot \sigma^T) \cdot (\mathsf{id} \cdot \sigma^{TT})) = \mathsf{m}^T \circ (\mathsf{m}^T \cdot \mathsf{m}^T) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot (\sigma^T \cdot \sigma^T)) \circ N_a^{(T\phi)^*}$$

$$\sigma^T \circ \mathsf{m}_x^{(T\phi)^*} = T \, \mathsf{m}_x^{\phi^*} \circ \mathsf{m}^T \circ (\sigma^T \cdot \sigma^T)$$

For the first, we have the commutativity of the following diagram, omitting horizontal 1-cells



then we observe that

$$\begin{split} T(\mathsf{id} \cdot \theta^T) &\circ \mathsf{m}^T \circ (\mathsf{m}^T \cdot \mathsf{m}^{TT}) \circ ((\mathsf{id} \cdot \sigma^T) \cdot (\mathsf{id} \cdot \sigma^{TT})) \\ &= \mathsf{m}^T \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot T\theta^T) \circ (\mathsf{m}^T \cdot \mathsf{m}^{TT}) \circ ((\mathsf{id} \cdot \sigma^T) \cdot (\mathsf{id} \cdot \sigma^{TT})) \\ &= \mathsf{m}^T \circ (\mathsf{m}^T \cdot \mathsf{m}^T) \circ ((\mathsf{id} \cdot \sigma^T) \cdot (\mathsf{id} \cdot \sigma^T)), \end{split}$$

and finally recall from (3.4) that

$$\mathsf{m}^T \circ (\sigma^T \cdot \mathsf{id}) \circ \mathsf{n}_a^{(T\phi)^*} = T \, \mathsf{n}_a^{\phi^*} \circ \mathsf{m}^T \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \sigma^T),$$

so that we may calculate

$$\begin{split} T(\operatorname{id} \cdot \theta^T) &\circ \operatorname{m}^T \circ (\operatorname{m}^T \cdot \operatorname{m}^{TT}) \circ ((\operatorname{id} \cdot \sigma^T) \cdot (\operatorname{id} \cdot \sigma^{TT})) \circ \hat{\alpha}^{-1} \circ \tilde{\operatorname{n}}^{(T\phi)^*} \circ \hat{\alpha} \\ &= \operatorname{m}^T \circ (\operatorname{m}^T \cdot \operatorname{m}^T) \circ ((\operatorname{id} \cdot \sigma^T) \cdot (\operatorname{id} \cdot \sigma^T)) \circ \hat{\alpha}^{-1} \circ \tilde{\operatorname{n}}^{(T\phi)^*} \circ \hat{\alpha} \\ &= \operatorname{m}^T \circ (\operatorname{m}^T \cdot \operatorname{m}^T) \circ \hat{\alpha}^{-1} \circ (\operatorname{id} \cdot ((\sigma^T \cdot \operatorname{id}) \cdot \sigma^T)) \circ \tilde{\operatorname{n}}^{(T\phi)^*} \circ \hat{\alpha} \\ &= T\hat{\alpha}^{-1} \circ \operatorname{m}^T \circ (\operatorname{id} \cdot \operatorname{m}^T) \circ \tilde{\operatorname{m}}^T \circ (\operatorname{id} \cdot ((\sigma^T \cdot \operatorname{id}) \cdot \sigma^T)) \circ \tilde{\operatorname{n}}^{(T\phi)^*} \circ \hat{\alpha} \\ &= T\hat{\alpha}^{-1} \circ \operatorname{m}^T \circ (\operatorname{id} \cdot \operatorname{m}^T) \circ (\operatorname{id} \cdot (T\operatorname{n}_a^{\phi^*} \cdot \operatorname{id})) \circ \tilde{\operatorname{m}}^T \circ (\operatorname{id} \cdot ((\operatorname{id} \cdot \sigma^T) \cdot \sigma^T)) \circ \hat{\alpha} \\ &= T\hat{\alpha}^{-1} \circ T\tilde{\operatorname{n}}_a^{\phi^*} \circ \operatorname{m}^T \circ (\operatorname{id} \cdot \operatorname{m}^T) \circ \tilde{\operatorname{m}}^T \circ \hat{\alpha} \circ (\operatorname{id} \cdot (\sigma^T \cdot \sigma^T)) \\ &= T\hat{\alpha}^{-1} \circ T\tilde{\operatorname{n}}_a^{\phi^*} \circ T\hat{\alpha} \circ \operatorname{m}^T \circ (\operatorname{m}^T \cdot \operatorname{m}^T) \circ (\operatorname{id} \cdot (\sigma^T \cdot \sigma^T)) \end{split}$$

The second follows by applying the mate correspondence twice: we have

$$\begin{split} \sigma^T \circ \mathsf{m}_x^{(T\phi)^*} \circ & (\eta \cdot (\eta \circ 1)) \circ \rho^{-1} = \sigma^T \circ 1^{\vee} \circ \eta \\ &= \sigma^T \circ \eta \circ 1 \\ &= T\eta \circ \mathsf{e}^T \circ 1 \\ &= T(\eta \circ 1) \circ \mathsf{e}^T, \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} T \operatorname{\mathsf{m}}_x^{\phi^*} \circ \operatorname{\mathsf{m}}^T \circ (\sigma^T \cdot \sigma^T) \circ (\eta \cdot (\eta \circ 1)) \circ \rho^{-1} &= T \operatorname{\mathsf{m}}_x^{\phi^*} \circ \operatorname{\mathsf{m}}^T \circ (T\eta \cdot T(\eta \circ 1)) \circ (\operatorname{\mathsf{e}}^T \cdot \operatorname{\mathsf{e}}^T) \circ \rho^{-1} \\ &= T \operatorname{\mathsf{m}}_x^{\phi^*} \circ T(\eta \cdot (\eta \circ 1)) \circ \operatorname{\mathsf{m}}^T \circ (\operatorname{\mathsf{id}} \cdot \operatorname{\mathsf{e}}^T) \circ \rho^{-1} \circ \operatorname{\mathsf{e}}^T \\ &= T(1^{\vee} \circ \eta) \circ \operatorname{\mathsf{e}}^T \\ &= T(\eta \circ 1) \circ \operatorname{\mathsf{e}}^T . \end{split}$$

We obtain (5.15) via the following calculation:

$$\begin{split} T(\mu^{F} \cdot \mathbf{m}_{x}^{\phi^{*}}) &\circ TN\phi_{a}^{*} \circ T(\mathrm{id} \cdot \theta^{T}) \circ \mathbf{m}^{T} \circ (\mathbf{m}^{T} \cdot \mathbf{m}^{TT}) \circ ((\mathrm{id} \cdot \sigma^{T}) \cdot (\mathrm{id} \cdot \sigma^{TT})) \circ (N_{a}^{(T\phi)^{*}})^{-1} \\ &= T(\mu^{F} \cdot \mathbf{m}_{x}^{\phi^{*}}) \circ \mathbf{m}^{T} \circ (\mathbf{m}^{T} \cdot \mathbf{m}^{T}) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot (\sigma^{T} \cdot \sigma^{T})) \\ &= \mathbf{m}^{T} \circ (\mu^{TF} \cdot \mathbf{m}_{x}^{\phi^{*}}) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \mathbf{m}^{T}) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot (\sigma^{T} \cdot \sigma^{T})) \\ &= \mathbf{m}^{T} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \sigma^{T}) \circ (\mu^{TF} \cdot \mathbf{m}_{x}^{(T\phi)^{*}}). \end{split}$$

Now, we apply (5.10), (5.11), (5.12), (c) from Lemma 5.1, (5.13), (5.14), (5.15) in succession, to obtain

$$\begin{split} (\mu^{F} \cdot \mathbf{m}_{x}^{\phi^{*}}) &\circ N_{a}^{\phi^{*}} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \theta^{T}) \circ ((\mu^{F} \cdot \mathbf{m}_{x}^{\phi^{*}}) \cdot m_{Fa \cdot \phi^{*}}) \circ (N_{a}^{\phi^{*}} \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ ((\mathrm{id} \cdot \theta^{T}) \cdot \mathrm{id}) \\ &= (\mu^{F} \cdot \mathbf{m}_{x}^{\phi^{*}}) \circ N_{a}^{\phi^{*}} \circ ((\mu^{F} \cdot \mathbf{m}_{x}^{\phi^{*}}) \cdot (m_{Fa} \cdot m_{\phi^{*}}^{\vee})) \circ (N_{a}^{\phi^{*}} \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ ((\mathrm{id} \cdot \theta^{T}) \cdot \theta^{TT}) \\ &= (\mu^{F} \cdot \mathbf{m}_{x}^{\phi^{*}}) \circ ((\mu^{F} \cdot Fm_{a}) \cdot (\mathbf{m}_{Sx}^{\phi^{*}} \cdot m_{\phi^{*}}^{\vee})) \circ N_{a}^{\phi^{*}_{S} \cdot (T\phi)^{*}} \circ (N_{a}^{\phi^{*}} \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ ((\mathrm{id} \cdot \theta^{T}) \cdot \theta^{TT}) \\ &= (\mu^{F} \cdot \mathbf{m}_{x}^{\phi^{*}}) \circ ((\mathrm{id} \cdot \mu^{FS}) \cdot (\phi_{m}^{*} \cdot m_{\phi^{*}}^{\vee})) \circ (\alpha \cdot \alpha) \circ N_{a}^{\phi^{*}_{S} \cdot (T\phi)^{*}} \circ (N_{a}^{\phi^{*}} \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ ((\mathrm{id} \cdot \theta^{T}) \cdot \theta^{TT}) \\ &= (\mu^{F} \cdot \mathbf{m}_{x}^{\phi^{*}}) \circ ((\mathrm{id} \cdot FS\mu) \cdot (\phi_{m}^{*} \cdot m_{\phi^{*}}^{\vee})) \circ N_{a \cdot Sa}^{\phi^{*}} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot (\mathbf{m}^{TF} \cdot \mathrm{id})) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot N_{a}^{(T\phi)^{*}}) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot (\theta^{T} \cdot \theta^{TT})) \circ \alpha \\ &= (\mu^{F} \cdot \mathbf{m}_{x}^{\phi^{*}}) \circ N_{a}^{\phi^{*}} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot (\mu^{TF} \cdot \mathbf{m}_{x}^{(T\phi)^{*}})) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot N_{a}^{(T\phi)^{*}}) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot T(\mathrm{id} \cdot \theta^{T})) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \mathbf{m}^{T}) \circ \alpha \\ &= (\mu^{F} \cdot \mathbf{m}_{x}^{\phi^{*}}) \circ N_{a}^{\phi^{*}} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \theta^{T}) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot T(\mu^{F} \cdot \mathbf{m}_{x}^{\phi^{*}})) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot TN_{a}^{\phi^{*}}) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot T(\mathrm{id} \cdot \theta^{T})) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \mathbf{m}^{T}) \circ \alpha \end{split}$$

which confirms the associativity law.

We conclude the proof by confirming that $(Ff, F\zeta \cdot \phi_f^*)$ is a horizontal lax *T*-algebra morphism, for any given horizontal lax *S*-algebra morphism (f, ζ) : indeed, note that the following diagrams commute

$$\begin{array}{cccc} 1_{Fx} & \xrightarrow{\lambda} & 1_{Fx} \cdot 1_{Fx} & \xrightarrow{v^F \cdot \mathbf{e}_x^{\phi^*}} & Fa \cdot \phi_x^* \\ 1_{Ff} & & \downarrow^{1_{Ff} \cdot 1_{Ff}} & \downarrow^{F\zeta \cdot \phi_f^*} \\ 1_{Fy} & \xrightarrow{\lambda} & 1_{Fy} \cdot 1_{Fy} & \xrightarrow{v^F \cdot \mathbf{e}_y^{\phi^*}} & Fb \cdot \phi_y^* \end{array}$$

$$\begin{array}{cccc} (Fa \cdot \phi_x^*) \cdot T(Fa \cdot \phi_x^*) & \xrightarrow{(F\zeta \cdot \phi_f^*) \cdot T(F\zeta \cdot \phi_f^*)} & (Fb \cdot \phi_y^*) \cdot T(Fb \cdot \phi_y^*) \\ & id \cdot \theta^T & & \downarrow id \cdot \theta^T \\ (Fa \cdot \phi_x^*) \cdot (TFa \cdot (T\phi)_x^*) & \xrightarrow{(F\zeta \cdot \phi_f^*) \cdot (TF\zeta \cdot (T\phi)_f^*)} & \longrightarrow (Fb \cdot \phi_y^*) \cdot (TFb \cdot (T\phi)_y^*) \\ & & & \downarrow N_b^{\phi^*} \\ (Fa \cdot FSa) \cdot (\phi_{Sx}^* \cdot (T\phi)_x^*) & \xrightarrow{(F\zeta \cdot FS\zeta) \cdot (\phi_{Sf}^* \cdot (T\phi)_f^*)} & \longrightarrow (Fb \cdot FSb) \cdot (\phi_{Sy}^* \cdot (T\phi)_y^*) \\ & & & \downarrow \mu^F \cdot \mathfrak{m}_y^{\phi^*} \\ & & & Fa \cdot \phi_x^* & \xrightarrow{F\zeta \cdot \phi_f^*} & Fb \cdot \phi_y^* \end{array}$$

via pasting of naturality and modification squares.

Functoriality is confirmed componentwise.

We close this section with a comparative analysis of Theorem 5.2 with the notions of change-ofbase for internal *T*-categories described in [33], and with the notions of change-of-base for enriched *T*-categories described in [12, Sections 5 and 6]; we confirm all of these generalize to our setting. The description of our main object of study, the functor $(\overline{T}, \mathcal{V})$ -Cat \rightarrow Cat (T, \mathcal{V}) induced by $-\cdot 1: \mathcal{V}$ -Mat \rightarrow Span (\mathcal{V}) , must be postponed to Section 8.

5.1. Internal *T*-categories: Let \mathcal{D}, \mathcal{E} be categories with pullbacks, with respective cartesian monads S, T on \mathcal{D}, \mathcal{E} . We consider the equipments $\mathbb{D} = \text{Span}(\mathcal{D})$ and $\mathbb{E} = \text{Span}(\mathcal{E})$, and, abusing notation, we denote by S and T the induced strong monads on \mathbb{D} and \mathbb{E} .

Using the terminology of [33], we consider a cartesian monad oplax morphism $(P, \phi) \colon S \to T$ and a cartesian monad lax morphism $(Q, \psi) \colon T \to S$. Their underlying data is given by

- pullback-preserving functors $P, Q: \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{E}$,
- a cartesian natural transformation $\phi: PS \to TP$,
- a natural transformation $\psi \colon SQ \to QT$.

We note P and Q induce strong functors $\hat{P} \colon \mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{E}$, $\hat{Q} \colon \mathbb{E} \to \mathbb{D}$, and ϕ , ψ induce vertical transformations $\hat{\phi}$, $\hat{\psi}$, which, in turn, define a monad oplax morphism $(\hat{P}, \hat{\phi})$ and a monad lax morphism $(\hat{Q}, \hat{\psi})$.

We conclude, by Theorem 5.2 that $(\hat{Q}, \hat{\psi})$ defines a functor $\hat{Q}_! : \mathsf{Cat}(T, \mathcal{V}) \to \mathsf{Cat}(S, \mathcal{V})$. Moreover, since ϕ is cartesian, $\hat{\phi}$ has a strong conjoint, and since \hat{P} is strong, $\hat{P}\hat{\phi}$ also has a strong conjoint; therefore we may also conclude that $(\hat{P}, \hat{\phi})$ induces a functor $\hat{P}_! : \mathsf{Cat}(S, \mathcal{V}) \to \mathsf{Cat}(T, \mathcal{V})$.

In fact, this notion of change-of-base can easily be extended to include Burroni's T-categories [8]. This would require a notion of horizontal lax T-algebra for T an *oplax* monad (possible with merely a couple of adjustments), and a replacement of lax functors with oplax functors in Theorem 5.2. We leave a pursuit of these results and possible applications for future work.

5.2. Enriched *T*-categories: Two instances of change-of-base are constructed in [12]; we begin by fixing a distributive monoidal category \mathcal{V} , and let $\mathbb{D} = \mathcal{V}$ -Mat. Therein, a *lax extension* of a Set-monad *T* to \mathcal{V} -Mat is a normal lax monad on \mathbb{D} with underlying Set-monad *T*.

First, we suppose we have two normal lax monads S and T on \mathbb{D} , and let $\phi: T \to S$ be a vertical transformation, so that $(\mathsf{id}, \phi): S \to T$ defines a monad lax morphism. This is precisely the data described in [12, Section 5], restated in a double categorical language. Theorem 5.2 produces a functor (S, \mathcal{V}) -Cat $\to (T, \mathcal{V})$ -Cat, which coincides with the *algebraic functor* construction in the aforementioned work.

Now, let \mathcal{W} be another distributive monoidal category, let $\mathbb{E} = \mathcal{W}$ -Mat, and let $F: \mathcal{V} \to \mathcal{W}$ be a normal lax monoidal functor, preserving the initial object. F induces a normal lax functor $\hat{F}: \mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{E}$ with $\hat{F}_0 = \mathsf{id}_{\mathsf{Set}}$.

We let T and S be a lax monads on \mathbb{D} and on \mathbb{E} , respectively, with the same underlying monad on Set; in other words, S and T are *lax extensions* of the same Set-monad.

Given a vertical transformation $\phi: T\hat{F} \to \hat{F}S$, such that ϕ_0 is the identity and such that $(\hat{F}, \phi): S \to T$ is a monad lax morphism, we may apply Theorem 5.2 to produce a functor $\hat{F}_!: (S, \mathcal{V})\text{-Cat} \to (T, \mathcal{W})\text{-Cat}$; this is precisely the functor constructed in [12, Section 6].

We should highlight that all normality conditions can be omitted, as well as the preservation of the initial object by F, and still obtain change-of-base functors. This normality-free setting for both instances of change-of-base was already studied in [24, Sections 3.4, 3.5], for thin categories \mathcal{V} .

6. INDUCED ADJUNCTION

As observed in [33, Section 6.7], an adequate notion of adjunction between cartesian monads will induce an adjunction on the categories of internal T-categories, which has proven fruitful in their study. Moreover, in [24, Section 3], several change-of-base adjunctions between categories of (monad, quantale)-categories are studied as well. Our aim is to extend these ideas to arbitrary horizontal lax algebras, aiming to compare the enriched and the internal notions of generalized multicategory.

Throughout this section, our setting is a conjunction

$$(S,\mathbb{D}) \xrightarrow[(G,\psi)]{(F,\phi)} (T,\mathbb{E})$$

in the double category $\mathsf{Mnd}(\mathsf{PsDbCat}_{\mathsf{lax}})$, such that \mathbb{D} and \mathbb{E} are equipments, and ϕ , $T\phi$ have strong conjoints. We denote the unit and counit by $\hat{\eta}, \hat{\varepsilon}$, respectively.

We recall that

- $-(F,\phi)\colon (S,\mathbb{D})\to (T,\mathbb{E})$ is a monad oplax morphism,
- $-(G,\psi):(T,\mathbb{E})\to(S,\mathbb{D})$ is a monad lax morphism,
- we have an adjunction $F \dashv G$ in $\mathsf{PsDbCat}_{\mathsf{lax}}$ with unit $\hat{\eta}$ and counit $\hat{\varepsilon}$,
- and by doctrinal adjunction, F is strong, and ϕ , ψ are mates,

so that by Theorem 5.2, we may construct functors

$$F_1: \mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax} S - \operatorname{Alg} \to \mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax} T - \operatorname{Alg} \quad \text{and} \quad G_1: \mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax} T - \operatorname{Alg} \to \mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax} S - \operatorname{Alg}$$

induced by (F, ϕ^*) and $(G, \psi_!)$, respectively.

Theorem 6.1. We have an adjunction $F_! \dashv G_!$.

Proof. To fix notation, for $f: x \to Gy$ and $g: Fx \to y$, we let $f^{\sharp} = \hat{\varepsilon}_y \circ Ff$ and $g^{\flat} = Gg \circ \hat{\eta}_x$. This is similarly defined for 2-cells.

We claim that the hom-isomorphism and its inverse are given by

(6.1)
$$(f,\zeta) \mapsto (f^{\sharp}, \zeta^{\vee \sharp \wedge}), \text{ and } (g,\xi) \mapsto (g^{\flat}, \xi^{\vee \flat \wedge})$$

where we use $(-)^{\vee}$ and $(-)^{\wedge}$ as short-hand for mates. To be explicit, these are respectively given by

$$\zeta^{\vee} = \rho \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \delta) \circ \zeta \quad \text{and} \quad \xi^{\vee} = \xi \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \eta) \circ \rho^{-1}$$
$$\theta^{\wedge} = (\theta \cdot (\nu \circ 1)) \circ \rho^{-1} \quad \text{and} \quad \chi^{\wedge} = \rho \circ (\chi \cdot (1 \circ \varepsilon))$$

for adequate 2-cells ζ, θ in \mathbb{D} and ξ, χ are 2-cells in \mathbb{E} .

To make sure that the horizontal composition for these mates of 2-cells is defined, note that

$$\hat{\varepsilon}_{Ty} \circ F\psi_y \circ FSf = T\hat{\varepsilon}_y \circ \phi_{Gy} \circ FSf = T\hat{\varepsilon}_y \circ TFf \circ \phi_x = Tf^{\sharp} \circ \phi_x$$

$$GTg \circ G\phi_x \circ \hat{\eta}_{Sx} = GTg \circ \psi_{Gx} \circ S\hat{\eta}_x = \psi_y \circ SFg \circ S\hat{\eta}_x = \psi_y \circ Sg^{\flat}.$$

Since \lor , \land and \flat , \ddagger are pairs of inverse operators, we find that the maps in (6.1) are each others' inverse.

To check these maps are natural, let (k, ω) : $(w, d, v, \mu) \to (x, a, v, \mu)$ be a horizontal lax S algebra morphism, and (h, χ) : $(y, b, v, \mu) \to (z, c, v, \mu)$ a horizontal lax T-algebra morphism. We have

$$\begin{aligned} \zeta^{\vee \sharp \wedge} \circ (F\omega \cdot \phi_k^*) \circ (\operatorname{id} \cdot \eta) \circ \rho^{-1} &= \zeta^{\vee \sharp} \circ F\omega = (\zeta \circ \omega)^{\vee \sharp}, \\ ((G\chi \cdot \psi_{!h}) \circ \zeta)^{\vee} &= G\chi \circ \zeta^{\vee}, \quad (G\chi \circ \zeta^{\vee})^{\sharp} = \hat{\varepsilon}_c \circ FG\chi \circ F\zeta^{\vee} = \chi \circ \zeta^{\vee \sharp} \end{aligned}$$

and reach our desired conclusion via mate correspondence.

So we're left with proving that $(f^{\sharp}, \zeta^{\vee \sharp \wedge})$ and $(g^{\flat}, \xi^{\vee \flat \wedge})$ are horizontal lax algebra morphisms. Since the proofs are similar, we omit the second one.

We must check the following identities hold:

$$\zeta^{\vee \sharp \wedge} \circ F_! v = v \circ 1_{f^\sharp} \quad \text{and} \quad \zeta^{\vee \sharp \wedge} \circ F_! \mu = \mu \circ (\zeta^{\vee \sharp \wedge} \cdot T \zeta^{\vee \sharp \wedge})$$

Since (f, ζ) is a lax S-algebra morphism, we have

$$\zeta \circ \upsilon = G_! \upsilon \circ 1_f,$$

so that

$$\begin{split} \zeta^{\vee \sharp \wedge} \circ F_! \upsilon &= \zeta^{\vee \sharp} \circ F \upsilon \circ \mathsf{e}^F \\ &= (\zeta \circ \upsilon)^{\vee \sharp} \circ \mathsf{e}^F \\ &= \hat{\varepsilon}_b \circ F G \upsilon \circ F \, \mathsf{e}^G \circ F \mathbf{1}_f \circ \mathsf{e}^F \\ &= \upsilon \circ \hat{\varepsilon}_1 \circ \mathsf{e}^{FG} \circ \mathbf{1}_{Ff} \\ &= \upsilon \circ \mathbf{1}_{f^\sharp}, \end{split}$$

which gives the unit law for $(f^{\sharp}, \zeta^{\vee \sharp \wedge})$.

For the multiplication law, we will confirm that

$$\zeta^{\vee \sharp \wedge} \circ (\mu^F \cdot \mathsf{m}_x^{\phi^*}) = \mu \circ (\zeta^{\vee \sharp \wedge} \cdot T \zeta^{\vee \sharp \wedge}) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mathsf{m}^T) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot (\mathsf{id} \cdot \sigma^T)) \circ \hat{\alpha}^{-1} \circ \tilde{\mathsf{n}}_a^{\phi^*} \circ \hat{\alpha}$$

via mate correspondence.

On one hand, we have

$$\begin{split} \zeta^{\vee \sharp \wedge} \circ (\mu^F \cdot \mathbf{m}_x^{\phi^*}) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot (\eta \cdot (\eta \circ 1))) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \circ \rho^{-1} &= \zeta^{\vee \sharp \wedge} \circ (\mu^F \cdot (\eta \circ 1)) \circ \rho^{-1} \\ &= \zeta^{\vee \sharp} \circ \mu^F \\ &= (\zeta \circ \mu)^{\vee \sharp} \circ \mathbf{m}^F, \end{split}$$

while on the other, we begin by noting that

$$\begin{split} (\mathrm{id} \cdot \mathrm{m}^{T}) &\circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot (\mathrm{id} \cdot \sigma^{T})) \circ \hat{\alpha}^{-1} \circ \tilde{\mathrm{n}}_{a}^{\phi^{*}} \circ \hat{\alpha} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot (\eta \circ 1))) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \circ \rho^{-1} \\ &= (\mathrm{id} \cdot \mathrm{m}^{T}) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot (\mathrm{id} \cdot \sigma^{T})) \circ ((\mathrm{id} \cdot \eta) \cdot (\phi_{a} \cdot (\eta \circ 1))) \circ \hat{\alpha}^{-1} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot (\gamma^{-1} \cdot \mathrm{id})) \circ \hat{\alpha} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \circ \rho^{-1} \\ &= (\mathrm{id} \cdot \mathrm{m}^{T}) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot (\mathrm{id} \cdot \sigma^{T})) \circ ((\mathrm{id} \cdot \eta) \cdot (\phi_{a} \cdot (\eta \circ 1))) \circ (\rho^{-1} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \\ &= (\mathrm{id} \cdot \mathrm{m}^{T}) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot (\mathrm{id} \cdot \sigma^{T})) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot (\mathrm{id} \cdot \eta)) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \circ ((\mathrm{id} \cdot \eta) \cdot \phi_{a}) \circ (\rho^{-1} \cdot \mathrm{id}) \\ &= (\mathrm{id} \cdot \mathrm{m}^{T}) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot (\mathrm{id} \cdot T\eta)) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot (\mathrm{id} \cdot e^{T})) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \circ ((\mathrm{id} \cdot \eta) \cdot \phi_{a}) \circ (\rho^{-1} \cdot \mathrm{id}) \\ &= (\mathrm{id} \cdot T(\mathrm{id} \cdot \eta)) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \mathrm{m}^{T}) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot (\mathrm{id} \cdot \mathrm{e}^{T})) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \circ ((\mathrm{id} \cdot \eta) \cdot \phi_{a}) \circ (\rho^{-1} \cdot \mathrm{id}) \\ &= (\mathrm{id} \cdot T(\mathrm{id} \cdot \eta)) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot T\rho^{-1}) \circ ((\mathrm{id} \cdot \eta) \cdot \phi_{a}) \circ (\rho^{-1} \cdot \mathrm{id}), \end{split}$$

hence, if we write

$$Y = (\mathsf{id} \cdot \mathsf{m}^T) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot (\mathsf{id} \cdot \sigma^T)) \circ \hat{\alpha}^{-1} \circ \tilde{\mathsf{n}}_a^{\phi^*} \circ \hat{\alpha}, \quad Z = (\mathsf{id} \cdot (\eta \cdot (\eta \circ 1))) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \circ \rho^{-1}$$

we deduce that

$$\begin{split} & \mu \circ \left(\zeta^{\vee \sharp \wedge} \cdot T \zeta^{\vee \sharp \wedge} \right) \circ Y \circ Z \\ &= \mu \circ \left(\zeta^{\vee \sharp \wedge} \cdot T \zeta^{\vee \sharp \wedge} \right) \circ \left(\operatorname{id} \cdot T(\operatorname{id} \cdot \eta) \right) \circ \left(\operatorname{id} \cdot T \rho^{-1} \right) \circ \left(\left(\operatorname{id} \cdot \eta \right) \cdot \phi_a \right) \right) \circ \left(\rho^{-1} \cdot \operatorname{id} \right) \\ &= \mu \circ \left(\zeta^{\vee \sharp} \cdot \left(T \zeta^{\vee \sharp} \circ \phi_a \right) \right) \\ &= \mu \circ \left(\left(\varepsilon_b \circ F \zeta^{\vee} \right) \cdot \left(T \varepsilon_b \circ T F \zeta^{\vee} \circ \phi_a \right) \right) \\ &= \mu \circ \left(\left(\varepsilon_b \circ F \zeta^{\vee} \right) \cdot \left(T \varepsilon_b \circ \phi_{Gb} \circ F S \zeta^{\vee} \right) \right) \\ &= \mu \circ \left(\left(\varepsilon_b \circ F \zeta^{\vee} \right) \cdot \left(\varepsilon_{Tb} \circ F \psi_b \circ F S \zeta^{\vee} \right) \right) \\ &= \mu \circ \left(\varepsilon_b \cdot \varepsilon_{Tb} \right) \circ \left(F \zeta^{\vee} \cdot \left(F \psi_b \circ F S \zeta^{\vee} \right) \right) \\ &= \varepsilon_b \circ F \mu^G \circ \mathsf{m}^F \circ \left(F \zeta^{\vee} \cdot \left(F \psi_b \circ F S \zeta^{\vee} \right) \right) \\ &= \left(\mu^G \circ \left(\zeta^{\vee} \cdot \left(\psi_b \circ S \zeta^{\vee} \right) \right) \right)^{\sharp} \circ \mathsf{m}^F, \end{split}$$

so we conclude it is sufficient to show that

$$(\zeta \circ \mu)^{\vee} = \mu^G \circ (\zeta^{\vee} \cdot (\psi_b \circ S\zeta^{\vee})),$$

and indeed, we have

$$\begin{split} (\zeta \circ \mu)^{\vee} &= \rho \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \delta) \circ G_{!} \mu \circ (\zeta \cdot S\zeta) \\ &= \rho \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \delta) \circ (\mu^{G} \cdot \mathsf{m}_{b}^{\psi_{!}}) \circ \hat{\alpha}^{-1} \circ \tilde{\mathsf{n}}_{b}^{\psi_{!}} \circ \hat{\alpha} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \chi^{S}) \circ (\zeta \cdot S\zeta) \\ &= \mu^{G} \circ \rho \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho) \circ \hat{\alpha}^{-1} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot (\gamma \cdot \mathrm{id})) \circ \hat{\alpha} \circ ((\mathrm{id} \cdot \delta) \cdot (\psi_{b} \cdot (1 \circ \delta))) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \chi^{S}) \circ (\zeta \cdot S\zeta) \\ &= \mu^{G} \circ (\rho \cdot \rho) \circ ((\mathrm{id} \cdot \delta) \cdot (\psi_{b} \cdot (1 \circ \delta))) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \chi^{S}) \circ (\zeta \cdot S\zeta) \\ &= \mu^{G} \circ (\rho \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ ((\mathrm{id} \cdot \delta) \cdot \psi_{b}) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot (\mathrm{id} \cdot \delta)) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \chi^{S}) \circ (\zeta \cdot S\zeta) \\ &= \mu^{G} \circ (\rho \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ ((\mathrm{id} \cdot \delta) \cdot \psi_{b}) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot S\rho) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot S(\mathrm{id} \cdot \delta)) \circ (\zeta \cdot S\zeta) \\ &= \mu^{G} \circ (\zeta^{\vee} \cdot (\psi_{b} \circ S\zeta^{\vee})), \end{split}$$

which concludes the proof.

For the purposes of applying this adjunction to the study of full faithfulness of F_1 and subsequent applications to descent theory, it is useful to establish criteria for the invertibility of the unit and counit of the adjunction $F_1 \dashv G_1$, which are provided by the following results:

Lemma 6.2. Let (y, b, v, μ) be a horizontal lax *T*-algebra. If $\hat{\varepsilon}_y$ and $F\psi_y$ are invertible, then $\hat{\varepsilon}_{(y,b,v,\mu)}$ is invertible if and only if $\mathbf{n}_b^{\hat{\varepsilon}^*}$ is invertible.

Proof. We have $\hat{\varepsilon}_{(y,b,v,\mu)} = (\hat{\varepsilon}_y, \mathsf{id}^{\vee \sharp \wedge})$. We first observe that, up to coherence isomorphisms, we have $\mathsf{id}^{\vee \sharp \wedge} = \Omega$, where

and $\omega = \lambda \circ (\delta \cdot \iota)$ is the mate of ι , which is in turn the mate of $\hat{\varepsilon}_{Ty} \circ F\psi_y = T\hat{\varepsilon}_y \circ \phi_{Gx}$. Indeed, we note that

$$\begin{split} \Omega^{\vee} &= \lambda \circ (\varepsilon \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ \mathsf{n}_{b}^{\hat{\varepsilon}^{*}} \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \omega) \circ \alpha \circ (\chi^{F} \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \eta) \circ \rho^{-1} \\ &= \rho \circ (\hat{\varepsilon}_{b} \cdot \varepsilon) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \omega) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot (\mathrm{id} \cdot \eta)) \circ \alpha \circ (\chi^{F} \cdot \mathrm{id}) \circ \rho^{-1} \\ &= \rho \circ (\hat{\varepsilon}_{b} \cdot \varepsilon) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \omega) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot (\mathrm{id} \cdot \eta)) \circ (\mathrm{id} \cdot \rho^{-1}) \circ \chi^{F}, \end{split}$$

and since

$$\varepsilon \circ \omega \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \eta) \circ \rho^{-1} = 1 \circ \delta,$$

we obtain

$$\Omega^{\vee} = \rho \circ (\hat{\varepsilon}_b \cdot 1) \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \delta) \circ \chi^F = \hat{\varepsilon}_b \circ \rho \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \delta) \circ \chi^F$$

and of course, $\rho \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \delta) \circ \chi^F$ is precisely $F(\rho \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \delta))$, so we obtain $\Omega^{\vee} = \mathsf{id}^{\vee \sharp}$, as desired.

Our claim follows by noting that if $\hat{\varepsilon}_y$ and $F\psi_y$ are invertible, then so is ι , and since $\delta \colon (F\psi_y)_! \to 1$ is invertible, so is ω .

The inverse of ι is given by the mate of $\phi_{Gy} \circ (F\psi_y)^{-1} = T\hat{\varepsilon}_y^{-1} \circ \varepsilon_{Ty}$, which we denote by θ . We have

$$\varepsilon \circ \iota \circ \theta = 1_{T\varepsilon_y} \circ \varepsilon \circ \theta = 1_{\mathsf{id}} \circ \varepsilon = \varepsilon \quad \text{and} \quad \varepsilon \circ \theta \circ \iota = 1_{T\varepsilon_y^{-1}} \circ \varepsilon \circ \iota = 1_{\mathsf{id}} \circ \varepsilon = \varepsilon,$$

finishing the proof.

The analogous characterization for the unit is not quite the dual of Lemma 6.2; it requires one more verification.

Lemma 6.3. Let (x, a, v, μ) be a horizontal lax S-algebra. If η_x , $G\phi_x$ and $\mathbf{n}_a^{(G\phi)^*}$ are invertible, then $\hat{\eta}_{(x,a,v,\mu)}$ is invertible if and only if $\mathbf{n}_a^{\eta_1}$ is invertible.

Proof. The only missing detail is that, if $n_a^{(G\phi)^*}$ is invertible, then so is

 $\mathsf{m}^G \circ (\mathsf{id} \cdot \sigma^G) \colon GFa \cdot (G\phi)^*_r \to G(Fa \cdot \phi^*_r).$

To see this, we take (3.4), with H = G and r = a, and we recall that ϕ has a strong conjoint, by hypothesis.

As an immediate corollary, we obtain:

Corollary 6.4. F_1 : $\mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax}$ -S-Alg $\to \mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax}$ -T-Alg is fully faithful whenever $F : \mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{E}$ is fully faithful and $G\phi$ is invertible.

Proof. If $F: \mathbb{D} \to \mathbb{E}$ is fully faithful, then $\hat{\eta}$ is invertible, and therefore has a strong companion. Likewise, $G\phi$ has a strong conjoint. Thus, η_x , $\mathbf{n}_a^{\eta_!}$ and $\mathbf{n}_a^{(G\phi)^*}$ are invertible for all x and all a, so we apply Lemma 6.3.

For the remainder of this section, we will compare Theorem 6.1 with [33, Section 6.7] and [24, Section 3], confirming we have a common generalization of these results. Furthermore, we provide some comments comparing our approach with the pseudofunctoriality ideas stated in [15, 4.4].

6.1. Internal *T*-categories: We recall the setting described in Subsection 5.1. If $P \dashv Q$ and ϕ and ψ are mates, we can immediately apply Theorem 6.1, to obtain an adjunction $P_! \dashv Q_!$ as claimed in [33, Section 6.7].

Likewise, with an adequate restatement of Theorem 6.1 for oplax monads and functors, we can also obtain adjunctions between categories of Burroni's T-categories.

6.2. Enriched *T*-categories: We note that Theorem 6.1 is a generalization of [24, Proposition 3.5.1], however, we cannot obtain the adjunction studied in [24, Subsection 3.4], using our result in the current form.

We will work out the same argument in our more general setting, to emphasize what goes wrong. Given a monad T = (T, m, e) in \mathbb{E} , note that $e: id \to T$ defines a monad lax morphism $(id, e): T \to id$, which, by Theorem 5.2, gives a functor

$$e_! : \mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax} - T \operatorname{-Alg} \to \mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax} \operatorname{-id} \operatorname{-Alg}$$

meaning every horizontal lax T-algebra has an underlying horizontal lax id-algebra (monad!). Moreover, e also defines a monad oplax morphism (id, e): id $\rightarrow T$, but unless e and Te have strong conjoints, Theorem 5.2 cannot be applied to construct a functor $\mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax-id-Alg} \rightarrow \mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax-} T$ -Alg, which would guarantee e_1 has a left adjoint.

However, it is possible to expand our notion of change-of-base to rectify the above problem: an analogous version of Theorem 5.2 can be obtained for a monad oplax morphism (F,ϕ) : id $\rightarrow T$, without requiring strong conjoints for either ϕ or $T\phi$, by defining $F_!(x, a, \eta, \mu)$ so that $F_!a = \phi_x^* \cdot TFa$; note that this is precisely a_{\sharp} of [24, Subsection 3.4] when F = id, and is isomorphic to the construction of Theorem 5.2 when ϕ and $T\phi$ do have strong conjoints.

This would also require an analogous version of Theorem 6.1 for this specialized change-of-base construction, but since such results are outside of our scope, we leave them for future work.

6.3. **Pseudofunctoriality:** Theorems 5.2 and 6.1 prompt one to view $\mathbb{H} Lax-(-)$ -Alg as a double pseudofunctor $\mathbb{M} \to CAT$ (see [41, Section 6]), for a suitable sub-double category \mathbb{M} of $\mathsf{Mnd}(\mathsf{PsDbCat}_{lax})$. Since double pseudofunctors preserve conjoints, we would obtain the conclusion of Theorem 6.1 as an immediate corollary, for those conjunctions which are in \mathbb{M} .

We haven't pursued this line of reasoning, as obtaining a suitable choice of \mathbb{M} which includes our main examples has proved to be elusive, as we briefly explain below.

We observe that the hypotheses required for Theorem 5.2 restrict us to a setting where the vertical 1-cells $(F, \phi): S \to T$ (monad oplax morphisms) of \mathbb{M} are those such that ϕ and $T\phi$ have strong conjoints. Unfortunately, this property on its own doesn't determine a sub-double category, as it is not closed under vertical composition: if $(G, \psi): T \to U$ is another vertical 1-cell, there is no reason for $\omega = \psi_F \circ G\phi$ nor $U\omega$ to have strong conjoints, so this property doesn't define a sub-double category.

(6.2)
$$Hr \cdot (Hf)^* \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id} \cdot \sigma^H} Hr \cdot H(f^*) \xrightarrow{\mathsf{m}^H} H(r \cdot f^*)$$

is invertible for all horizontal 1-cells r and vertical 1-cells f; note that this implies that $H\phi$ has a strong conjoint whenever ϕ has a strong conjoint. This property is satisfied, for instance, when H is strong. Therefore, this extra requirement is still within the setting of Theorem 6.1, as the underlying functors of the left adjoints are necessarily strong.

The problem lies in guaranteeing that $UG\phi$ has a strong conjoint; we would need to guarantee that the underlying lax functors of the monads make (6.2) invertible. However, it can be shown that this does not hold for our applications.

Lacking an alternative method to overcome this obstacle, we opted for the current *ad-hoc*, yet more general, approach for obtaining an adjunction of change-of-base functors, instead of going for the more attractive pseudofunctoriality argument.

7. EXTENSIVE CATEGORIES

Extensivity of \mathcal{V} is a crucial hypothesis to construct and study the comparison functor \mathcal{V} -Cat \rightarrow Cat(\mathcal{V}) (see [35] and [13]), and therefore we shall devote this section to the study of extensive categories.

Let \mathcal{C} be a category with coproducts. We say \mathcal{C} is *extensive* if the coproduct functor

(7.1)
$$\prod_{i\in I} \mathcal{C} \downarrow X_i \to \mathcal{C} \downarrow \sum_{i\in I} X_i$$

is an equivalence for all families $(X_i)_{i \in I}$ of objects in C. We refer to [9] for a comprehensive introduction to these categories. Extensive categories to keep in mind are Set, Top, Cat, any Grothendieck topos such as Grph, and any free coproduct completion $\mathsf{Fam}(\mathcal{B})$ of a category \mathcal{B} .

The following characterization of extensivity in terms of Artin glueing [21, p. 465] is quite important: an immediate corollary is that \sum : Fam(\mathcal{C}) $\rightarrow \mathcal{C}$ preserves limits when \mathcal{C} has all finite limits (that is, when \mathcal{C} is *lextensive*). The converse was also shown to hold in [10, Section 4.3].

Lemma 7.1. Let \mathcal{C} be a category with coproducts and a terminal object. Then Diagram (7.2)

(7.2)
$$\begin{array}{c} \mathsf{Fam}(\mathcal{C}) \xrightarrow{\Sigma} \mathcal{C} \\ \downarrow & \swarrow & \parallel \\ & \mathsf{Set} \xrightarrow{-\cdot 1} \mathcal{C} \end{array}$$

is a comma diagram if and only if \mathcal{C} is extensive, where $\sigma_{(c_x)_{x\in X}} \colon \sum_{x\in X} c_x \to X \cdot 1$ is the coproduct over X of the morphisms $c_x \to 1$.

Proof. If C is extensive, for a morphism $f: c \to X \cdot 1$, we consider the family $(c_x)_{x \in X}$ given by the following family of pullbacks:



The family is, by definition, indexed over X, and by extensivity, we have an isomorphism $\sum_{x \in X} c_x \cong c$, whose composition with f equals $\sigma_{(c_x)_{x \in X}}$.

Let $(c_x)_{x \in X}$, $(d_y)_{y \in Y}$ be families of objects, and let $\hat{f} \colon \sum_{x \in X} c_x \to \sum_{y \in Y} d_y$ be a morphism and let $f \colon X \to Y$ be a function such that $\sigma \circ \hat{f} = (f \cdot 1) \circ \sigma$. For each $y \in Y$, we consider the following diagram:



The left, right and inside squares are pullbacks, hence the outer square must be a pullback; let $\hat{f}|_x : c_x \to d_{fx}$ be the top morphism composed with the inclusion $c_x \to \sum_{x \in f^*fx} c_x$, and consider the morphism $(f, \hat{f}|_x): (c_x)_{x \in X} \to (d_y)_{y \in Y}$ in Fam(\mathcal{C}). It is the unique morphism $\psi: (c_x)_{x \in X} \to (d_y)_{y \in Y}$ indexed by f such that $\sum \psi = \hat{f}$, by extensivity. With this, we conclude that (7.2) is a comma diagram.

Now, given that (7.2) is a comma diagram, we aim to confirm (7.1) is an equivalence. First, full faithfulness: given a commutative triangle in \mathcal{C}



we have

$$\sigma_{(X_i)} \circ \sum_i f_i = \sigma_{(Y_i)} \quad \text{and} \quad \sigma_{(X_i)} \circ \sum_i g_i = \sigma_{(Z_i)},$$

from which we obtain $\sigma_{(Y_i)} = \sigma_{(Z_i)} \circ \phi$. This implies unique existence of a morphism $(\mathsf{id}, \phi_i) \colon (Y_i)_{i \in I} \to \mathcal{I}$

 $\begin{array}{l} (Z_i)_{i\in I} \text{ in } \mathsf{Fam}(\mathcal{C}) \text{ such that } \sum_i \phi_i = \phi, \text{ by the 2-dimensional universal property of comma squares.} \\ \text{Now, if we have a morphism } \omega \colon S \to \sum_{i\in I} X_i, \text{ we consider its composite with } \sigma_{(X_i)}. \text{ This yields, by the 2-dimensional universal property, a family } (S_i)_{i\in I} \text{ and an isomorphism } \nu \colon \sum_{i\in I} S_i \cong S. \text{ From full faithfulness above we obtain a family } \omega_i \colon S_i \to X_i \text{ such that } \sum_i \omega_i \circ \nu = \omega. \end{array}$

The following instance of limit preservation is extensively used:

Theorem 7.2. Let \mathcal{C} be an extensive category. If we have a commutative square in $Fam(\mathcal{C})$

such that

$$(7.4) \qquad \qquad \begin{array}{c} W \xrightarrow{} X \\ g \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow h \\ V \xrightarrow{} Z \end{array}$$

is a pullback diagram, as well as

(7.5)
$$\begin{array}{c} a_w & \longrightarrow & b_{fw} \\ \hat{g}_w \downarrow & & \downarrow \hat{h}_{fw} \\ c_{gw} & \xrightarrow{\hat{i}} & d_{kgw} = d_{hfw} \end{array}$$

for each $w \in W$. Then

is a pullback diagram.

Proof. The hypotheses (7.4) and (7.5) guarantee that (7.3) is a pullback in $\mathsf{Fam}(\mathcal{C})$, by [23, Definition 4.7 and Corollary 4.9]. Since \sum preserves limits, (7.6) must be a pullback diagram, as desired. \Box

As corollaries, we obtain succinct proofs of a couple of results from [35] and [13], which clarify the role of the extensivity condition.

Lemma 7.3. If \mathcal{V} is extensive with finite limits, $-\cdot 1: \mathcal{V}$ -Mat \rightarrow Span (\mathcal{V}) is strong.

Proof. Since $-\cdot 1$ is normal, it is enough to prove that $m^{-\cdot 1}$ is invertible. Indeed, we have the following pullback diagrams:

thus, applying Theorem 7.2, we conclude that the outer square of diagram (2.8) is a pullback, verifying our claim. $\hfill \Box$

Remark 7.4. We observe that the above lemma can be restated in terms of a Beck-Chevalley condition; see [36, Definition 1.4.13]. To wit, the lax functor $\mathcal{V}(1,-)$: Span $(\mathcal{V}) \to \mathcal{V}$ -Mat satisfies the Beck-Chevalley condition if \mathcal{V} is extensive. Then, by [36, Theorem 1.4.14], we conclude that $-\cdot 1 \dashv \mathcal{V}(1,-)$ is an *adjunction* in the 2-category PsDbCat_{lax}.

We can also give a short proof that a considerable class of monads are cartesian:

Lemma 7.5. Let \mathcal{V} be a lextensive, monoidal category, whose tensor product \otimes preserves coproducts and pullbacks. Then the free \otimes -monoid monad on \mathcal{V} is cartesian.

Proof. We let $X^0 = I$ be the unit object, and $X^{n+1} = X^n \otimes X$. Recall that the underlying functor of the free \otimes -monoid monad may be given by $X \mapsto X^* = \sum_{n \in N} X^n$ (see, for instance, [26, Theorem 23.4]), and note that since pullbacks are preserved by \otimes (by hypothesis) and by coproducts (as a corollary of Lemma 7.1), we conclude the free \otimes -monoid monad preserves pullbacks. Moreover, note that

$$\begin{array}{ccc} X^n & \stackrel{\iota_n}{\longrightarrow} & X^* \\ f^n & & \downarrow f^* \\ Y^n & \stackrel{\iota_n}{\longrightarrow} & Y^* \end{array}$$

is a pullback diagram for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, due to extensivity. Taking n = 1 confirms η is a cartesian natural transformation.

Now, we consider the following pullback diagrams

to which we may apply Theorem 7.2, allowing us to conclude that μ is a cartesian natural transformation as well.

Connected categories. An object x in a category \mathcal{V} is said to be *connected* if the hom-functor $\mathcal{V}(x, -)$ preserves coproducts, and, borrowing terminology from topos theory, \mathcal{V} is said to be *connected* if the terminal object is connected.

Under the hypothesis that \mathcal{V} is lextensive, understading this condition turns out to be helpful in our work on the enriched \rightarrow internal embedding, particularly regarding the study of certain monads on \mathcal{V} ; see Lemma 8.7.

Lemma 7.6. If \mathcal{V} is lextensive, then it is connected if and only if $-\cdot 1$: Set $\rightarrow \mathcal{V}$ is fully faithful.

Proof. Given a morphism $p: 1 \to \sum_{i \in I} X_i$, we consider the following diagram



which is a pasting of pullback squares.

It is clear that if $-\cdot 1$ is fully faithful, then $u \cong [\sigma \circ p = i] \cdot 1$. Thus, by universality of coproducts, p is uniquely determined by a morphism $1 \to X_i$.

Conversely, since 1 is terminal we have $\mathcal{V}(1, X \cdot 1) \cong X \cdot \mathcal{V}(1, 1) \cong X$, which implies the unit of $- \cdot 1 \dashv \mathcal{V}(1, -)$ must be an isomorphism. \Box

Lemma 7.7. If \mathcal{V} is a connected, lextensive category, then $-\cdot 1: \mathcal{V}$ -Mat \rightarrow Span (\mathcal{V}) is fully faithful on 2-cells.

Proof. The outer square of (2.4) is a pullback, due to extensivity. Then, since $\hat{\eta}: X \to \mathcal{V}(1, X \cdot 1)$ is an isomorphism for all X, the result follows.

8. FIBREWISE DISCRETE MORPHISMS

Let T be a cartesian monad on a lextensive category \mathcal{V} , also denoting by T the induced strong monad on Span(\mathcal{V}) [22, 15]. The Set-monad \overline{T} under study (as well as its lax extension to \mathcal{V} -Mat, also denoted by \overline{T}), is constructed via the following consequence of Proposition 3.1:

Proposition 8.1. Let \mathbb{B} be a 2-category, let $(l, r, \eta, \varepsilon)$: $b \to c$ be an adjunction in \mathbb{B} , and let (t, m, e) be a monad on c. Then $(rtl, r(m \circ t\varepsilon t)l, rel \circ \eta)$ is a monad on b, and we have a conjunction

$$(b, rtl) \underbrace{\stackrel{(l, \varepsilon tl)}{\underset{(r, rt\varepsilon)}{\bot}}}_{(c, t)} (c, t)$$

in $Mnd(\mathbb{B})$.

Indeed, by Remark 7.4, we have an adjunction

(8.1)
$$\mathcal{V}$$
-Mat \mathcal{L} Span (\mathcal{V})

in the 2-category $\mathsf{PsDbCat}_{lax}$, thus, we may apply Proposition 8.1 to (8.1) with the monad T on $\mathsf{Span}(\mathcal{V})$ to obtain a monad $\overline{T} = \mathcal{V}(1, T(-\cdot 1))$ on \mathcal{V} -Mat, and a conjunction

(8.2)
$$(\overline{T}, \mathcal{V}\text{-}\mathsf{Mat}) \perp (T, \mathsf{Span}(\mathcal{V}))$$
$$(\overline{U}(1, -), \mathcal{V}(1, T\hat{\varepsilon}))$$

where $(-\cdot 1, \hat{\varepsilon}_{T(-\cdot 1)})$ is a monad oplax morphism and $(\mathcal{V}(1, -), \mathcal{V}(1, T\hat{\varepsilon}))$ is a monad lax morphism.

The only remaining ingredient to place ourselves under the setting of Section 6 and therefore apply Theorem 6.1 to (8.2), is the hypothesis that $\hat{\varepsilon}_{T(-.1)}$ has a strong conjoint⁴. The study and characterization of this hypothesis (for \mathcal{V} connected) is the central purpose of this Section, culminating in Theorem 8.6.

Once this characterization is obtained, we obtain an adjunction (see Lemma 9.1)

(8.3)
$$(\overline{T}, \mathcal{V})\text{-}\mathsf{Cat} \perp \overset{(-\cdot 1, \hat{\varepsilon}_{T(-\cdot 1)})}{\mathsf{Cat}} (T, \mathcal{V})$$

from (8.2), for pairs (T, \mathcal{V}) where T is a cartesian monad on a lextensive, connected category \mathcal{V} such that $\hat{\varepsilon}_{T(-1)}$ has a strong conjoint.

We begin by establishing the following:

Lemma 8.2. Let $\omega: F \to G$ be a vertical transformation of lax functors $F, G: \mathbb{D} \to \mathsf{Span}(\mathcal{V})$. For a horizontal 1-cell $a: s \not\rightarrow t$ in \mathbb{D} , the 2-cell $\mathsf{n}_a^{\omega^*}$ is invertible if and only if

(8.4)
$$\begin{array}{c} M_{Fa} \xrightarrow{r_{Fa}} Ft \\ \omega_a \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \\ M_{Ga} \xrightarrow{r_{Ga}} Gt \end{array}$$

is a pullback diagram.

Proof. We observe that $n_a^{\omega^*}$ is uniquely determined by the dashed morphism below making the triangles commute



which is invertible if and only if (8.4) is a pullback diagram.

Lemma 8.3. The following are equivalent:

(a) $\hat{\varepsilon}_{T(-1)}$ has a strong conjoint,

(b) $\hat{\varepsilon}_{T(-\cdot 1)}$ is a cartesian natural transformation.

Proof. Instanciating (8.4) with $\omega = \hat{\varepsilon}_{T(-\cdot 1)}$, we find (a) holds if and only if

(8.5)
$$\sum_{\substack{\mathfrak{x}\in\overline{T}s\\\mathfrak{y}\in\overline{T}t\\ \hat{\varepsilon}_{T(a\cdot1)}\downarrow \\ T\sum_{\substack{x\in s\\y\in t}}a(x,y)\xrightarrow{r_{T(a\cdot1)}}T(t\cdot1)}} \sum_{\substack{\mathfrak{x}\in s\\y\in t}}\sum_{\substack{x\in s\\y\in t}}a(x,y)\xrightarrow{r_{T(a\cdot1)}}T(t\cdot1)$$

is a pullback diagram for all \mathcal{V} -matrices a.

⁴Note that, since T is strong, it follows that $T\hat{\varepsilon}_{T(-.1)}$ has a strong conjoint as well.

If we take $a = f_1$ for a function $f: s \to t$, (8.5) becomes

thereby verifying (a) \rightarrow (b).

Now, we assume that the outer square of Diagram (8.6) below commutes:



An immediate calculation shows the entire diagram commutes. Since the square in the middle is a pullback, there exists a unique morphism $l_v: v \to \overline{Ts} \cdot 1$ such that the left and top squares commute.

Thus, we conclude that the following diagram

commutes. We observe that Diagram (2.5) is a pullback square when \mathcal{V} is extensive, by Theorem 7.2, so there exists a unique morphism

$$\omega^{\sharp} \colon v \to \sum_{\substack{\mathfrak{x} \in \overline{T}s \\ \mathfrak{y} \in \overline{T}t}} (\overline{T}a)(\mathfrak{x}, \mathfrak{y})$$

such that $\hat{\varepsilon}_{T(a\cdot 1)} \circ \omega^{\sharp} = \omega$, $r_{\overline{T}a\cdot 1} \circ \omega^{\sharp} = r_v$ and $l_{\overline{T}a\cdot 1} \circ \omega^{\sharp} = l_v$, which, in particular, confirms that Diagram (8.5) is a pullback square.

Fibrewise discrete monads. The search for a more concrete notion of what it means for $\hat{\varepsilon}_{T(-\cdot)}$ to have a strong conjoint led us to the notion of fibrewise discreteness.

Let \mathcal{V} be a lextensive category, and let $f: x \to y$ be a morphism in \mathcal{V} . We say f is *fibrewise discrete* if for every pullback diagram



the object f^*p is *discrete*; that is, $\hat{\varepsilon}_{f^*p}$ is an isomorphism. For instance, in $\mathcal{V} = \mathsf{Top}$, local homeomorphisms are fibrewise discrete.

We say an endofunctor F on \mathcal{V} is *fibrewise discrete* if for all sets X, the morphism $F!: F(X \cdot 1) \to F1$ is fibrewise discrete.

Lemma 8.4. Let F be an endofunctor on a lextensive category \mathcal{V} . If $\hat{\varepsilon}_{F(-1)}$ is cartesian, then F is fibrewise discrete. The converse holds when \mathcal{V} is connected.

Proof. Let $\overline{F} = \mathcal{V}(1, F(-\cdot 1))$. We consider Diagram (8.7)

(8.7)
$$\overline{FX} \cdot 1 \xrightarrow{\hat{\varepsilon}_{F(X,1)}} \tau_X \xrightarrow{\varphi_X} F(X \cdot 1)$$

$$\overline{F! \cdot 1} \xrightarrow{\varphi_X} \overline{F1} \cdot 1 \xrightarrow{\varphi_{F1}} F1$$

where the square in the lower right corner is a pullback. The outer square commutes by naturality, so there exists a unique θ_X , depicted by a dashed arrow, making both incident triangles commute. Note that $\hat{\varepsilon}_{F(-,1)}$ is cartesian if and only if θ_X is an isomorphism for all X.

Now, consider the image of (8.7) via $\mathcal{V}(1, -)$, which preserves pullbacks. Note that since \mathcal{V} connected, $\mathcal{V}(1, \hat{\varepsilon}_{F1}) = \eta_{\mathcal{V}(1,F1)}^{-1}$ is an isomorphism, so we conclude that $\mathcal{V}(1, \omega_x)$ is an isomorphism as well.

Hence, we consider the following naturality square

and we observe that $\theta_X \circ \mathcal{V}(1, \omega_X) \cdot 1 = \hat{\varepsilon}_{\tau_X}$ holds, by the universal property. Thus, θ_X is invertible if and only if $\hat{\varepsilon}_{\tau_X}$ is invertible; that is, if and only if τ_X is discrete.

Remark 8.5. In Diagram (8.7), we have a morphism $\tau_x \to \overline{F1} \cdot 1$, which corresponds to a family $(\tau_{x,p})_{p\in\overline{F1}}$, by extensivity (see Theorem 7.1); these are given via pullback

(8.8)
$$\begin{aligned} \tau_{x,p} &\longrightarrow F(x \cdot 1) \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow_{F!} \\ 1 & \xrightarrow{p} & F1 \end{aligned}$$

and we also have $\sum_{p \in \overline{F}_1} \tau_{x,p} \cong \tau_x$. Thus, τ_x is discrete if and only if $\tau_{x,p}$ is discrete for all $p \in \overline{F}_1$.

With this, we obtain the following characterization:

Theorem 8.6. If \mathcal{V} is connected, the following are equivalent for an endofunctor $F \colon \mathcal{V} \to \mathcal{V}$:

- (i) $\hat{\varepsilon}_{F(-\cdot 1)}$ has a strong conjoint.
- (ii) $\hat{\varepsilon}_{F(-,1)}$ is a cartesian natural transformation.
- (iii) F is fibrewise discrete.
- (iv) $\tau_{x,p}$, as given in (8.8), is discrete for all x and all $p \in \overline{F}1$.

Proof. The equivalence (i) \iff (ii) is given by Lemma 8.3, we have (ii) \iff (iii) by Lemma 8.4, and Remark 8.5 confirms (iii) \iff (iv).

Naturally, we are most concerned with cartesian monads T such that T is fibrewise discrete, and, armed with Theorem 8.6, we can promptly verify that many familiar examples of cartesian monads are fibrewise discrete. We begin with the following:

Lemma 8.7. Let \mathcal{V} be a connected, distributive monoidal category. The free \otimes -monoid monad on \mathcal{V} is fibrewise discrete.

Proof. Let X be a set, and let $p: 1 \to (X \cdot 1)^*$ be a morphism. Since \mathcal{V} is connected, we may apply Lemma 7.6, to confirm p factors uniquely through $q: 1 \to (X \cdot 1)^n$ for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Now, note that $(X \cdot 1)^n \cong X^n \cdot 1$ if n > 0, $(X \cdot 1)^0 = I$, and that we have pullback diagrams



whence $\tau_{X,p} \cong X^n \cdot 1$ for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$; this concludes the proof, by Theorem 8.6.

Lemma 8.8. Let S, T be endofunctors on \mathcal{V} , and let $\alpha \colon S \to T$ be a cartesian natural transformation. If T is fibrewise discrete, then so is S.

Proof. Consider the following composite of pullbacks:

We have $\tau_{x,\alpha_1 \circ p} \cong \sigma_{x,p}$, which is discrete for all x, p.

8.1. Free monoid monad $Set \times Set$: We will confirm this monad is not fibrewise discrete. Indeed, we have the following pullback diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} (X^m, X^n) & \longrightarrow & (X^*, X^*) \\ & & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ (1, 1) & & & m, n \rightarrow & (\mathbb{N}, \mathbb{N}) \end{array}$$

for each $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$ and each set X. However, (X^m, X^n) is not discrete in general, so we cannot obtain a functor $-\cdot 1: (\overline{T}, \mathcal{V})$ -Cat \rightarrow Cat (T, \mathcal{V}) via Theorem 5.2.

8.2. Cartesian monads on slice categories: If we have a pair (T, \mathcal{V}) where T is a cartesian monad on a category \mathcal{V} with finite limits, and \mathscr{C} is an internal T-category, we may construct [33, Proposition 6.2.1] a cartesian monad $T_{\mathscr{C}}$ on $\mathcal{V} \downarrow \mathscr{C}_0$, and we obtain an equivalence [33, Corollary 6.2.5] of categories

$$\mathsf{Cat}(T_{\mathscr{C}}, \mathcal{V} \downarrow \mathscr{C}_0) \simeq \mathsf{Cat}(T, \mathcal{V}) \downarrow \mathscr{C},$$

which raises the question: can we obtain (8.3) for the pair $(T_{\mathscr{C}}, \mathcal{V} \downarrow \mathscr{C}_0)$?

Already when T = id, $\mathcal{V} = Set$, we cannot generally guarantee an affirmative answer. Indeed, let \mathcal{C} be an ordinary small category. In this case, $T_{\mathcal{C}}$ is the cartesian monad induced by the monadic adjunction

$$[\mathcal{C},\mathsf{Set}] \underbrace{ \begin{array}{c} \mathsf{Lan}_{\iota_{\mathcal{C}}} \\ \bot \\ \iota_{\mathcal{C}}^{*} \end{array}} \mathsf{Set} \downarrow \mathsf{ob}\,\mathcal{C}$$

However, Set \downarrow ob $\mathcal{C} \cong [(ob \mathcal{C}) \cdot 1$, Set] is connected precisely when $ob \mathcal{C} \cong 1$ or $ob \mathcal{C} \cong 0$; in fact, we shall confirm that while it is true that $T_{\mathcal{C}}$ is fibrewise discrete, $\hat{\varepsilon}_{T_{\mathcal{C}}(-\cdot 1)}$ is not cartesian, and thus we cannot obtain (8.3) for general \mathcal{C} .

Let $X = \mathsf{ob} \mathcal{C}$. $T_{\mathcal{C}}$ is defined on objects by

$$(A_x)_{x \in X} \mapsto \Big(\sum_{y \in X} A_y \times \mathcal{C}(x, y)\Big)_{x \in X},$$

and the terminal object of Set $\downarrow X$ is precisely the constant family $1 = (1)_{x \in X}$. In this case, $T_{\mathcal{C}} 1 = (\mathsf{ob}(x \downarrow \mathcal{C}))_{x \in X}$, while $\overline{T_{\mathcal{C}}} 1 = \prod_{x \in X} \mathsf{ob}(x \downarrow \mathcal{C})$.

More generally, for a constant family $A \cdot 1 \cong (A)_{x \in X}$, we have

$$T_{\mathcal{C}}(A \cdot 1) \cong (A \times \mathsf{ob}(x \downarrow \mathcal{C}))_{x \in X},$$

and
$$\overline{T}_{\mathcal{C}}(A \cdot 1) = A^X \times \prod_{x \in X} \mathsf{ob}(x \downarrow \mathcal{C})$$
. We have, for each $x \in X$, a pair of pullback diagrams

$$\begin{array}{cccc} A & \longrightarrow & A \times \operatorname{ob}(x \downarrow \mathcal{C}) & & A \times \prod_{x \in X} \operatorname{ob}(x \downarrow \mathcal{C}) & \longrightarrow & A \times \operatorname{ob}(x \downarrow \mathcal{C}) \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow & & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ 1 & \longrightarrow & \operatorname{ob}(x \downarrow \mathcal{C}) & & & \prod_{x \in X} \operatorname{ob}(x \downarrow \mathcal{C}) & \longrightarrow & \operatorname{ob}(x \downarrow \mathcal{C}) \end{array}$$

which confirms that $T_{\mathcal{C}}$ is fibrewise discrete, but, since we cannot guarantee $A \cong A^X$, we cannot guarantee $\hat{\varepsilon}_{T_{\mathcal{C}}(-,1)}$ to be cartesian as well.

In spite of this, we can obtain the adjunction (8.3) when \mathcal{C}_0 is terminal; that is, when \mathcal{C} is a (T, \mathcal{V}) -monoid. We will now treat the case $T = (-)^*$, which are denoted \mathcal{V} -operads.

8.3. \mathcal{V} -operadic monads: An important corollary of Lemmas 8.8 and 8.7 is that for a cartesian monoidal category \mathcal{V} , \mathcal{V} -operadic monads are fibrewise discrete; note that these are precisely the cartesian monads on \mathcal{V} with a cartesian natural transformation to the free \times -monoid monad.

To be explicit, for a \mathcal{V} -operad \mathcal{O} [33, p. 44] the monad associated to \mathcal{O} is given on objects by

$$V \mapsto \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathcal{O}_n \times V^n,$$

and the projections $\mathcal{O}_n \times V^n \to V^n$ induce a cartesian natural transformation to the free \times -monoid monad.

Thus, any pair (T, \mathcal{V}) where T an operadic monad over a lextensive, connected category \mathcal{V} induces an adjunction (8.3). Of special interest is the case $T = (-)^*$ is the free monoid monad on \mathcal{V} . In this case, the induced Set-monad \overline{T} is precisely the ordinary free monoid monad.

8.4. Free category monad: The free category monad \mathfrak{F} on Grph is fibrewise discrete, since we have the following pullback of graphs:



so, for the pair $(\mathfrak{F}, \mathsf{Grph})$, we also obtain an adjunction (8.3). We note that \mathfrak{F} is a lax extension of the $\mathbb{N} \times -$ monad on Set, for the *multiplicative* structure of \mathbb{N} .

8.5. Free finite coproduct completion monad: For a category \mathcal{C} , $\mathsf{Fam}_{fin}(\mathcal{C})$ is the category of *finite families* of objects of \mathcal{C} ; it is given on objects by $(\mathsf{ob}\,\mathcal{C})^*$, and a morphism $\mathfrak{x} \to \mathfrak{y}$ is a pair (f, ϕ) , consisting of a function $f: [m] \to [n]$, where m and n are the lengths of \mathfrak{x} and \mathfrak{y} , respectively, and for each $i = 1, \ldots, n$, a morphism $\phi_i: \mathfrak{x}_i \to \mathfrak{y}_{fi}$.

From [45, 5.16], we learn that Fam_{fin} is a cartesian (2-)monad on Cat. We proceed to verify it is fibrewise discrete; first, observe that $\mathsf{ob} \mathsf{Fam}_{fin}(X \cdot 1) = X^*$, and the hom-sets are given by

$$\mathsf{Fam}_{\mathrm{fin}}(X \cdot 1)(\mathfrak{x}, \mathfrak{y}) = \sum_{f \colon [m] \to [n]} \prod_{i=1}^{m} [x_i = y_{fi}],$$

where m, n are the lengths of $\mathfrak{x}, \mathfrak{y}$ respectively. Moreover, note that $\mathsf{Fam}_{fin}(1) \simeq \mathsf{FinSet}$. The fiber of $\mathsf{Fam}_{fin}(X \cdot 1) \to \mathsf{FinSet}$ at (the identity on) n is given on objects by the set of families of size n, and on morphisms by $[\mathfrak{x} = \mathfrak{y}] \cong \prod_{i=1}^{n} [\mathfrak{x}_i = \mathfrak{y}_i]$, which yields a discrete category; diagrammatically, we have

as we desired. Thus, the pair (Fam_{fin}, Cat) gives an adjunction (8.3) as well.

We note that Fam_{fin} is a lax extension of the free monoid monad on Set.

8.6. Free finite product completion monad: The functor $(-)^{\text{op}}$: Cat \rightarrow Cat taking each category to its dual is its own, since we have $Cat(\mathcal{C}^{\text{op}}, \mathcal{D}) \cong Cat(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{D}^{\text{op}})$, so, via 8.1, we can promptly verify that the functor

$$\mathcal{C} \mapsto \mathsf{Fam}^*_{\mathrm{fin}}(\mathcal{C}) = \mathsf{Fam}_{\mathrm{fin}}(\mathcal{C}^{\mathrm{op}})^{\mathrm{op}}$$

is a cartesian monad. For a category C, $\mathsf{Fam}_{\mathrm{fin}}^*(C)$ has the same set of objects as $\mathsf{Fam}_{\mathrm{fin}}(C)$, but a morphism $\mathfrak{x} \to \mathfrak{y}$ is a pair (f, ϕ) consisting of a function $f: [n] \to [m]$, where m, n is the length of $\mathfrak{x}, \mathfrak{y}$ respectively, and $\phi_i: \mathfrak{x}_{fi} \to \mathfrak{y}$ is a morphism for each $i = 1, \ldots, m$.

This monad is also fibrewise discrete; the only adjustment we need to make to the pullback diagram (8.9) is to replace $[\mathfrak{r}_i = \mathfrak{n}_{fi}]$ with $[\mathfrak{r}_{fi} = \mathfrak{n}_i]$, so the pair (Fam^{*}_{fin}, Cat) induces an adjunction (8.3).

8.7. Free symmetric strict monoidal category monad: For a category \mathcal{C} , we let \mathfrak{SC} be a subcategory of $\mathsf{Fam}_{\mathrm{fin}}(\mathcal{C})$ with the same set of objects, and precisely those morphisms $(f, \phi) : \mathfrak{x} \to \mathfrak{y}$ such that f is a bijection.

This was shown to be a cartesian monad, for instance, in [33], or in [45, Example 7.5], where it was shown that we have a cartesian (2-)natural transformation $\mathfrak{S} \to \mathsf{Fam}_{fin}$. For this same reason, it is fibrewise discrete, by Lemma 8.8, giving us another example of an adjunction (8.3), with the pair $(\mathfrak{S},\mathsf{Cat})$.

Furthermore, note that $\overline{\mathfrak{S}}$ is also a lax extension of the free monoid monad on Set.

9. Embedding

Throughout this section, we fix a lextensive category \mathcal{V} , and a cartesian monad T = (T, m, e) on \mathcal{V} . Following the notation from Section 8, we denote by \overline{T} the monad on \mathcal{V} -Mat induced by T on Span (\mathcal{V}) .

Via the tools developed throughout the paper, we shall verify that if \mathcal{V} is connected, and T is fibrewise discrete, then $(\overline{T}, \mathcal{V})$ -Cat \rightarrow Cat (T, \mathcal{V}) is a fully faithful, pullback-preserving functor. Moreover, among the pairs (T, \mathcal{V}) satisfying these hypotheses at the end of Section 8, we shall provide a description of $(\overline{T}, \mathcal{V})$ -Cat and Cat (T, \mathcal{V}) .

Lemma 9.1. If $\hat{\varepsilon}_{T(-\cdot)}$ has a strong conjoint, then we have an adjunction

(9.1)
$$(\overline{T}, \mathcal{V})$$
-Cat \perp Cat (T, \mathcal{V})

whose unit and counit are also denoted by $\hat{\eta}$ and $\hat{\varepsilon}$, respectively.

Proof. By hypothesis, $-\cdot 1$ is a strong functor, and $\hat{\varepsilon}_{T(-\cdot 1)}$ has a strong conjoint. Since T is a strong functor, we also deduce that $T\hat{\varepsilon}_{T(-\cdot 1)}$ has a strong conjoint as well. This places us in the setting of Section 6, hence, we obtain (9.1) by applying Theorem 6.1 to the conjunction (8.2).

Henceforth, we shall assume that \mathcal{V} is a connected category, and that T is fibrewise discrete.

Theorem 9.2. $- \cdot 1: (\overline{T}, \mathcal{V})$ -Cat $\rightarrow Cat(T, \mathcal{V})$ is fully faithful.

Proof. By Lemma 7.7, we know $- \cdot 1: \mathcal{V}$ -Mat $\rightarrow \mathsf{Span}(\mathcal{V})$ is fully faithful, and since $\mathcal{V}(1, \varepsilon_{T(-\cdot 1)})$ is a natural isomorphism, the result follows by Corollary 6.4.

These results can be immediately applied to the last four examples in Section 8; we shall describe both $(\overline{T}, \mathcal{V})$ -Cat and Cat (T, \mathcal{V}) for each such pair (T, \mathcal{V}) .

9.1. \mathcal{V} -operadic multicategories: Let $T = T_{\mathfrak{O}}$ be a monad induced by a \mathcal{V} -operad \mathfrak{O} . When \mathcal{V} is connected, we have shown that T is fibrewise discrete, and therefore (T, \mathcal{V}) induces an adjunction (9.1). So, we conclude that $-\cdot 1: (\overline{T}, \mathcal{V})$ -Cat \rightarrow Cat (T, \mathcal{V}) is fully faithful, by Theorem 9.2.

The induced monad \overline{T} on Set is given on objects by

$$X \mapsto \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathcal{V}(1, \mathfrak{O}_n) \times X^n,$$

and note that since $\mathcal{V}(1, -): \mathcal{V} \to \mathsf{Set}$ is a strong monoidal functor (preserves products), it follows that $\mathcal{V}(1, \mathfrak{O})$ a Set-monad, so \overline{T} is an operadic monad as well.

Let $r: X \to Y$ be a \mathcal{V} -matrix, and let $\sigma \in \mathcal{V}(1, \mathfrak{O}_m)$, $\mathfrak{x} \in X^m$, $\tau \in \mathcal{V}(1, \mathfrak{O}_n)$, $\mathfrak{y} \in Y^n$. The \mathcal{V} -matrix $\overline{T}r$ is given at $(\sigma, \mathfrak{x}, \tau, \mathfrak{Y})$ by

$$(\overline{T}r)(\sigma, \mathfrak{x}, \tau, \mathfrak{y}) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } \sigma \neq \tau, \\ \prod_{i=1}^{n} r(x_i, y_i) & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

thus, in practice, we just write $(\overline{T}r)(\sigma,\mathfrak{x},\mathfrak{y})$ for the possibly non-initial values of $\overline{T}r$.

The objects of $Cat(T, \mathcal{V})$ are (internal) operadic \mathcal{V} -categories, and for this reason, we will consider the objects of $(\overline{T}, \mathcal{V})$ -Cat to be the *enriched* operadic \mathcal{V} -categories. Such an object consists of

- a \mathcal{V} -matrix $a: \overline{T}X \times X \to \mathcal{V}$,
- a \mathcal{V} -morphism $1 \to a(ex, x)$ for each $x \in X$,
- a \mathcal{V} -morphism $a(\sigma, \mathfrak{x}, x) \times \overline{T}a(\sigma, (\tau_1, \mathfrak{y}_1), \dots, (\tau_n, \mathfrak{y}_k), \mathfrak{x}) \to a(\sigma(\tau_1, \dots, \tau_k), \mathfrak{y}_1 \cdots \mathfrak{y}_k, x)$ for $\tau_i \in \mathfrak{O}_{n_i}, \mathfrak{y}_i \in X^{n_i}, \sigma \in \mathfrak{O}_m, \mathfrak{x} \in \mathfrak{X}^m$, where $m = n_1 + \ldots + n_k$.

satisfying suitable identity and associativity conditions.

Of particular interest may be the $T = (-)^*$ free \times -monoid monad on \mathcal{V} ; more generally, monads induced by a *discrete* operad \mathfrak{O} and the $M \times -$ monad for M a \mathcal{V} -monoid.

9.2. $(\overline{\mathfrak{F}}, \mathsf{Grph})$ -categories: As we have verified in Section 8, the pair $(\mathfrak{F}, \mathsf{Grph})$ consists of a fibrewise discrete monad on a connected, lextensive category, so $- \cdot 1$: $(\overline{\mathfrak{F}}, \mathsf{Grph})$ -Cat $\rightarrow \mathsf{Cat}(\mathfrak{F}, \mathsf{Grph})$ is fully faithful.

The object of the category $Cat(\mathfrak{F}, Grph)$ are precisely the virtual double categories [33, 15]. An enriched $(\overline{\mathfrak{F}}, Grph)$ -category X consists of

- A set X_0 of objects,
- A graph $X_1(n, x, y) = (X_{11}(n, x, y) \rightrightarrows X_{10}(n, x, y)$ for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $x, y \in X_0$,
- A loop $1 \to X_1(1, x, x)$ for each $x \in X_0$,
- A graph morphism $X_1(m, y, z) \times \mathfrak{F}_m X_1(n, x, y) \to X_1(m \cdot n, x, z)$ for each $x, y, z \in X$ and $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$, where $\mathfrak{F}_m G$ is the graph of *m*-chains of *G*.

satisfying suitable identity and associativity conditions.

Via the induced functor $\operatorname{Grph}(1,-)$: $\operatorname{VDbCat} \to (\overline{\mathfrak{F}},\operatorname{Grph})$ -Cat, we can come across examples of $(\overline{\mathfrak{F}},\operatorname{Grph})$ -categories. If \mathbb{V} is a virtual double category, $\operatorname{Grph}(1,\mathbb{V})$ consists of

- a set of objects $\mathsf{Grph}(1, \mathbb{V}_0)$, that is, the set of loops in \mathbb{V}_0 ,
- for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and loops r, s of \mathbb{V}_0 , a graph $\mathbb{V}_1(n, r, s)$ has edges $\theta \colon f \to g$ consisting of the 2-cells of the form

whose vertical domain has length n; we may simply write

$$\begin{array}{ccc} x & \stackrel{r^n}{\longrightarrow} x \\ f & \theta & \downarrow^g \\ y & \stackrel{s}{\longrightarrow} y \end{array}$$

as a shorthand.

- the unit 2-cell at r in $\mathbb{V}_1(1, r, r)$ is given by

$$\begin{array}{cccc} x & \stackrel{r}{\longrightarrow} x \\ \| & = & \| \\ x & \stackrel{r}{\longrightarrow} x \end{array}$$

for each $r \in \mathsf{Grph}(1, \mathbb{V}_0)$,

– for 2-cells

for i = 1, ..., n, the composite 2-cell is given by

$$\begin{array}{c|c} x & \xrightarrow{r^{m \cdot n}} & x \\ g \circ f_0 \downarrow & & \omega(\theta_1 \cdots \theta_n) & \downarrow h \circ f_n \\ z & \xrightarrow{t} & z \end{array}$$

9.3. Clubs: We begin by considering the pair (\mathfrak{S} , Cat). The category Cat(\mathfrak{S} , Cat) is the so-called category of *enhanced symmetric multicategories* in [33, p. 212], first defined by [1] (therein, these are called operopes).

By analogy, we let

- Cat(Fam_{fin}, Cat) be the category of *enhanced cocartesian multicategories*, and
- Cat(Fam^{*}_{fin}, Cat) be the category of *enhanced cartesian multicategories*.

As we shall verify in Section 10, in each case $T = \mathsf{Fam}_{fin}, \mathsf{Fam}_{fin}^*, \mathfrak{S}$, the category $(\overline{T}, \mathsf{Cat})$ -Cat is the full subcategory of $\mathsf{Cat}(T, \mathsf{Cat})$ with discrete categories of objects. Therefore,

- (Fam_{fin}, Cat)-Cat is the category of *cocartesian multicategories*,
- $-(\overline{Fam_{fin}^*}, Cat)$ -Cat is the category of *cartesian multicategories*,
- ($\overline{\mathfrak{S}}$, Cat)-Cat is the category of *symmetric multicategories*.

10. Application to descent theory

We shall fix a lextensive, connected category \mathcal{V} with its cartesian monoidal structure, and a fibrewise discrete, cartesian monad T on \mathcal{V} . Theorem 9.2 provides us with an embedding $(\overline{T}, \mathcal{V})$ -Cat \rightarrow Cat (T, \mathcal{V}) . Now, we desire to apply this result to study *effective descent morphisms* in $(\overline{T}, \mathcal{V})$ -Cat. We promptly review the fundamental aspects of descent theory necessary to draw our desired conclusions. Afterwards, under a suitable hypothesis, we confirm that $(\overline{T}, \mathcal{V})$ -Cat is the full subcategory of Cat (T, \mathcal{V}) with a discrete object-of-objects (Theorem 10.3), which we deduce that $(\overline{T}, \mathcal{V})$ -Cat \rightarrow Cat (T, \mathcal{V}) reflects effective descent morphisms, generalizing [35, 9.10 Lemma and 9.11 Theorem] to the generalized multicategory setting.

Let \mathcal{C} be a category with finite limits, and let $p: x \to y$ be a morphism. We have a change-of-base adjunction

By the Bénabou-Roubaud theorem [5], we obtain $\mathsf{Desc}(p) \cong T^p$ -Alg, where T^p is the monad induced by the change-of-base adjunction.

Hence, we may consider the Eilenberg-Moore factorization of p^* in the following form:



We say that

-p is an effective descent morphism if \mathcal{K}^p is an equivalence,

- -p is a *descent morphism* if \mathcal{K}^p is fully faithful,
- -p is an almost descent morphism if \mathcal{K}^p is faithful.

For categories C with finite limits, descent morphisms are precisely the pullback-stable regular epimorphisms, and almost descent morphisms are precisely the pullback-stable epimorphisms. If C is Barr-exact [2] or locally cartesian closed, then effective descent morphisms are precisely the descent morphisms. If C is a topos, then effective descent morphisms are precisely the epimorphisms [25].

Effective descent morphisms were studied and characterized for C = Top in [39, 11], and for C = Cat in [32, 25], exhibiting their non-trivial nature.

Having fixed the terminology, we finish our preliminaries by recalling the following result of effective descent morphisms for pseudopullbacks of categories:

Proposition 10.1 ([35, Theorem 1.6]). If we have pseudopullback diagram of categories with pullbacks and pullback preserving functors



and a morphism f of A such that

- Ff and Gf are effective descent morphisms, and
- $-KFf \cong HGf$ is a descent morphism,
- then f is an effective descent morphism.

Lemma 10.2. If $(X \cdot 1, a, \eta, \mu)$ is an internal (T, \mathcal{V}) -category, then $\hat{\varepsilon}_a$ is a split epimorphism. Moreover, if $\hat{\varepsilon}_{T1}$ is a monomorphism, then $\hat{\varepsilon}_a$ is an isomorphism.

Proof. We consider the unique morphism $(X \cdot 1, a, \eta, \mu) \to (1, e_1^*, \eta, \mu)$ to the terminal (T, \mathcal{V}) -category



and we note that $e_1 = \hat{\varepsilon}_{T1} \circ (\overline{e}_1 \cdot 1)$, so that there there exists a unique $\hat{l}_a \colon M_a \to \overline{T}X \cdot 1$ such that $\hat{\varepsilon}_{T(X\cdot 1)} \circ \hat{l}_a = l_a$ and $\overline{T}! \cdot 1 \circ \hat{l}_a = (\overline{e}_1 \cdot 1) \circ !$:

(10.1)
$$M_{a} \xrightarrow{l_{a}} l_{a}$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \overleftarrow{l_{a}} \xrightarrow{} f_{x} \cdot 1 \xrightarrow{\widehat{c}_{T(X \cdot 1)}} T(X \cdot 1)$$

$$\overbrace{\overline{c}_{1} \cdot 1}^{\overline{c}_{1} \cdot 1} \xrightarrow{\overline{T}! \cdot 1} \xrightarrow{\Gamma} \underbrace{\downarrow}_{T(! \cdot 1)} \xrightarrow{T(! \cdot 1)} T(1 \cdot 1)$$

It follows that there is a unique $\omega \colon M_a \to M_{\mathcal{V}(1,a) \cdot 1}$ such that $\hat{\varepsilon}_a \circ \omega = \mathsf{id}$ and $(\hat{l}_a, r_a) = (l_a, r_a) \circ \omega$,

(10.2)
$$M_{a} \xrightarrow{\hat{l}_{a}, r_{a}} M_{\mathcal{V}(1,a) \cdot 1} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{V}_{(1,a) \cdot 1}, r_{\mathcal{V}(1,a) \cdot 1}} \overline{T}X \cdot 1 \times X \cdot 1 \xrightarrow{\hat{c}_{a}} M_{a} \xrightarrow{\hat{c}_{a}} T(X \cdot 1) \times X \cdot 1$$

thereby confirming $\hat{\varepsilon}_a$ is a split epimorphism.

Moreover, observe that when $\hat{\varepsilon}_{T1}$ is a monomorphism, it follows by the pullback square in (10.1) that $\hat{\varepsilon}_{T(X,1)}$ is a monomorphism, and by the pullback square in (10.2), we may conclude that $\hat{\varepsilon}_a$ is a monomorphism. Thus, $\hat{\varepsilon}_a$ is an isomorphism.

As a corollary, we obtain

Theorem 10.3. If $\hat{\varepsilon}_{T1}$ is a monomorphism, then we have a pseudopullback diagram

of categories with pullbacks and pullback-preserving functors.

Proof. We begin by observing that the objects of the pseudopullback are pairs $(S, (X, a, \eta, \mu), \omega)$ where S is a set, (X, a, η, μ) is an internal (T, \mathcal{V}) -category, and $\omega \colon S \cdot 1 \to X$ is an isomorphism. Naturally,

this implies that $\hat{\varepsilon}_X$ is an isomorphism, since $\hat{\varepsilon}_{S,1}$ is invertible:

and conversely, for any internal (T, \mathcal{V}) -category (Y, b, η, μ) such that $\hat{\varepsilon}_Y$ is invertible, the triple

 $(\mathcal{V}(1,Y),(Y,b,\eta,\mu),\hat{\varepsilon}_Y)$

is an object of the pseudopullback.

Hence, given a (T, \mathcal{V}) -category (X, a, η, μ) such that $\hat{\varepsilon}_X$ is invertible, we have by Lemma 10.2 that $\hat{\varepsilon}_a$ is invertible, since $\hat{\varepsilon}_{T1}$ is a monomorphism by hypothesis. By Lemma 8.2, it follows that $\mathbf{n}_a^{\hat{\varepsilon}^*}$ is invertible, so that we can apply Lemma 6.2 to conclude that (X, a, η, μ) is isomorphic to an enriched $(\overline{T}, \mathcal{V})$ -category, concluding the proof.

From this, we can now apply Proposition 10.1 to conclude that

Lemma 10.4. If $\hat{\varepsilon}_{T1}$ is a monomorphism, then $-\cdot 1: (\overline{T}, \mathcal{V})$ -Cat \rightarrow Cat (T, \mathcal{V}) reflects effective descent morphisms.

Proof. Let $F: \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{D}$ be a functor of enriched $(\overline{T}, \mathcal{V})$ -categories such that $F \cdot 1$ is an effective descent morphism. Since $\mathsf{Cat}(T, \mathcal{V}) \to \mathcal{V}$ has fully faithful left and right adjoints, we may apply [37, Lemma 2.3] to conclude that it preserves descent morphisms, so that $(F \cdot 1)_0 = F_0 \cdot 1$ is a descent morphism.

Since $-\cdot 1$: Set $\rightarrow \mathcal{V}$ reflects epimorphisms, we conclude that F_0 is an epimorphism; hence an effective descent morphism. Now, we apply Proposition 10.1 with the pseudopullback (10.3) to conclude F is effective for descent.

Via [38, Theorem 5.3], which provides sufficient conditions for effective descent morphisms in Cat(T, V) in terms of effective descent in V, we can now do the same for (\overline{T}, V) -Cat:

Theorem 10.5. Let $p: \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{D}$ be a functor of $(\overline{T}, \mathcal{V})$ -categories. If $\hat{\varepsilon}_{T1}$ is a monomorphism, and

- $(p \cdot 1)_1$ is an effective descent morphism,
- $(p \cdot 1)_2$ is a descent morphism,
- $(p \cdot 1)_3$ is an almost descent morphism,

then p is an effective descent morphism.

Proof. The three above conditions guarantee that $p \cdot 1$ is an effective descent functor of (internal) (T, \mathcal{V}) -categories. Since $\hat{\varepsilon}_{T1}$ is a monomorphism, we can apply Lemma 10.4 to obtain the promised conclusion.

Now, the above work raises (at least) the following two questions:

- For which pairs (T, \mathcal{V}) can we guarantee that $\hat{\varepsilon}_{T1}$ is a monomorphism?
- Is the requirement that $\hat{\varepsilon}_{T1}$ be a monomorphism "reasonable"?

To answer the first, we note that this holds when

- the terminal object is a *separator*; that is, when $\mathcal{V}(1, -)$ is faithful, which implies $\hat{\varepsilon}$ is a componentwise monomorphism. This is the case when $\mathcal{V} = \mathsf{Set}, \mathsf{Top}, \mathsf{Cat}$, any hyperconnected Grothendieck topos, but not $\mathcal{V} = \mathsf{Grph}$.
- T is discrete; that is, when $\hat{\varepsilon}_{T1}$ is an isomorphism. This is the case when T is the free ×-monoid monad on \mathcal{V} , but not when $T = \mathfrak{F}$.

And this, in a sense, answers the second question as well: from a practical perspective, the above conditions are sufficient for nearly all of our examples. And while we haven't confirmed whether the condition " $\hat{\varepsilon}_{T1}$ is a monomorphism" is necessary or not, we can provide a heuristic argument to convey the intuition that this condition correctly captures that $\overline{T1} \cdot 1$ is a "good" discretization of T1: a pair which satisfies neither of the above hypotheses is the pair ($\mathfrak{F}, \operatorname{Grph}$), as $\operatorname{ob} \hat{\varepsilon}_{\mathfrak{F}1} \colon \mathbb{N} \to 1$; here, $\overline{\mathfrak{F}1} = \operatorname{Grph}(1, \mathfrak{F}1)$ has too many points to be a "reasonable" discretization.

We now discuss the examples we have worked with so far.

10.1. \mathcal{V} -operadic \mathcal{V} -categories: Let \mathfrak{O} be a \mathcal{V} -operad, so that the \mathcal{V} -operadic monad $T = T_{\mathfrak{O}}$ induced by \mathfrak{O} is given by

$$X \mapsto \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathfrak{O}_n \times X^n.$$

Since $\mathcal{V}(1, -)$ preserves coproducts, we have

$$\mathcal{V}(1, \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathfrak{O}_n) \cong \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathcal{V}(1, \mathfrak{O}_n),$$

and therefore $\hat{\varepsilon}_{T1} \cong \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \hat{\varepsilon}_{\mathcal{D}_n}$. It is easy to verify that in an extensive category, a coproduct of morphisms is a monomorphism if and only if every summand is a monomorphism, so we may apply Theorem when $\hat{\varepsilon}_{\mathcal{D}_n}$ is a monomorphism for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Naturally, the result holds if we consider \mathcal{V} -operads for categories \mathcal{V} whose terminal is a separator, such as Cat or Top, or if we consider *discrete* \mathcal{V} -operads; that is, \mathcal{V} -operads such that $\hat{\varepsilon}_{\mathcal{D}_n}$ is an isomorphism for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

However, the above conditions are not necessary, if, for instance, one considers Grph-operads \mathfrak{O} such that \mathfrak{O}_n has at most one loop at each vertex for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$; this is precisely the case when $\hat{\varepsilon}_{\mathfrak{O}_n}$ is a monomorphism for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

If \mathfrak{O} a discrete \mathcal{V} -operad, we define $(\overline{T}, \mathcal{V})$ -Cat to be the category of enriched \mathfrak{O} -categories.

10.2. \mathcal{V} -multicategories: An important instance of the previous case is the case $\mathfrak{O} \cong \mathbb{N} \cdot 1$; that is, when T is the free \times -monoid monad on \mathcal{V} . In this case, $\mathsf{Cat}(T, \mathcal{V})$ is the category of *multicategories* internal to \mathcal{V} . We note that T is a discrete monad, and the induced Set-monad \overline{T} is the ordinary free monoid monad.

Thus, we may define the objects of $(\overline{T}, \mathcal{V})$ -Cat to be the *enriched* \mathcal{V} -multicategories, and the morphisms are the respective enriched \mathcal{V} -functors. An immediate application of Theorem 10.5 provides criteria for such an enriched \mathcal{V} -functor to be effective for descent.

10.3. Clubs: We consider the pair (\mathfrak{S} , Cat); the free symmetric strict monoidal category monad \mathfrak{S} on Cat. By Theorem 10.3, we recover the categories of (many-object) clubs considered in [29, 27] by taking the fibers of the fibration ($\overline{\mathfrak{S}}$, Cat)-Cat \rightarrow Set (see [15, 4.19]).

In fact, the above can be carried out for any fibrewise discrete monad T on Cat, as the terminal object of Cat is a separator.

11. Epilogue

We gave a general description of change-of-base functors between horizontal lax algebras induced by monad (op)lax morphisms on the 2-category $\mathsf{PsDbCat}_{lax}$, and with this description, we made the dichotomy between enriched and internal generalized multicategories explicit. As our main result, we have shown that enriched generalized multicategories are discrete, internal generalized multicategories, under suitable conditions. Moreover, we applied this result to study the effective descent morphisms of $(\overline{T}, \mathcal{V})$ -Cat.

There is still a vast amount of open problems left to settle. For the remainder of this section, we will state a couple of these problems, sketch a possible approach to their solution, and highlight possible connections to other work.

11.1. **Object-discreteness.** In [15, Section 8], the authors define and study the full subcategories of *normalized* and *object-discrete* horizontal lax T-algebras. Inspired by our Theorem 9.2, we sketch an argument, for an instance of [15, Theorem 8.7] for the equipment of *modules* of a suitable equipment, via change-of-base.

If \mathbb{D} is an equipment whose hom-categories of the underlying bicategory have all coequalizers, which preserved by horizontal composition, then we have an equipment $\mathsf{Mod}(\mathbb{D})$ whose underlying category of objects is \mathbb{H} Lax-id-Alg, and horizontal 1-cells are *modules*; see [33, Section 5.3], [42, Theorem 11.5]. In fact, Mod defines a 2-functor defined on a suitable full sub-2-category of equipments, hence if T is a monad on \mathbb{D} , then $\mathsf{Mod}(T)$ is a monad on $\mathsf{Mod}(\mathbb{D})$. We have an inclusion

$$\mathfrak{I}:\mathbb{D}\to\mathsf{Mod}(\mathbb{D}),$$

and this induces a monad oplax morphism $T \to \mathsf{Mod}(T)$ with the unit comparison e^T . When T is normal, we may apply Theorem 5.2 to obtain a change-of-base functor

$$\mathfrak{I}_{!} \colon \mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax} \operatorname{-} T \operatorname{-} \operatorname{Alg} \to \mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax} \operatorname{-} \operatorname{Mod}(T) \operatorname{-} \operatorname{Alg},$$

which identifies the full subcategory of "object-discrete" horizontal lax Mod(T)-algebras as the category of horizontal lax T-algebras, so we partially obtain [15, Theorem 8.7], when T is normal.

11.2. Monadicity of horizontal lax algebras. Let T = (T, m, e) be a monad on an equipment \mathbb{D} in PsDbCat_{lax}, and let x be an object of \mathbb{D} . We define $\mathbb{H} \operatorname{Kl}(T, x)$ to be the category whose objects are horizontal 1-cells $a: Tx \to x$, and morphisms are the globular 2-cells between them.

If m has a strong conjoint, $\mathbb{H} \mathsf{Kl}(T, x)$ has a tensor product defined by

$$b \otimes a = b \cdot (Ta \cdot m_x^*)$$

which makes it into a *skew monoidal category* [43]. If we let $\mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax} - T - \operatorname{Alg}(x)$ be the category of horizontal lax *T*-algebras with underlying object *x*, it can be shown that $\mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax} - T - \operatorname{Alg}(x)$ is the category of monoids of the skew monoidal category $\mathbb{H} \operatorname{Kl}(T, x)^5$. Therefore, we have a forgetful functor

$$\mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax} - T - \operatorname{Alg}(x) \to \mathbb{H} \operatorname{Kl}(T, x),$$

and we can study its monadicity, by studying free monoids in skew monoidal categories, adapting the work of [17, 26, 30].

11.3. **2-dimensional structure.** As stated in the Introduction, we have not considered the 2-dimensional structure of $\mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax} - T$ - Alg. However, inspired by the fact that (T, \mathcal{V}) -Cat \rightarrow Set and Cat $(T, \mathcal{V}) \rightarrow \mathcal{V}$ for suitable \mathcal{V} are fibrations, it might be interesting to explore whether $\mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax} - T$ - Alg $\rightarrow \mathbb{D}$ is a double fibration (see [14]), as well as possible applications, even in the more general context where \mathbb{D} is a virtual double category.

11.4. Other notions of change-of-base. We have already mentioned two notions of change-of-base that are not covered by Theorem 5.2 in Subsections 5.1 and 6.2. In fact, with an adequate notion of "monad morphism" $(F, \phi): S \to T$ for S a lax monad on \mathbb{D} , and T an oplax monad on \mathbb{E} , we question if it is possible to expand the scope of the dichotomy between enriched and internal multicategories.

References

- J. Baez and J. Dolan. Higher-dimensional algebra. III. n-categories and the algebra of opetopes. Adv. Math., 135(2):145-206, 1998. DOI: 10.1006/aima.1997.1695.
- [2] M. Barr. Exact categories. In Exact Categories and Categories of Sheaves, volume 236 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics, pp. 1–120. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1971. DOI: 10.1007/BFb0058580.
- [3] M. Barr. Relational algebras. In *Lecture Notes in Mathematics*. Volume 137, pp. 39–55. Springer, Berlin, 1970.
- [4] J. Bénabou. Introduction to bicategories. In *Reports of the Midwest Category Seminar I*. Volume 47, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, pp. 1–77. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1967. DOI: 10. 1007/BFb0074299.
- [5] J. Bénabou and J. Roubaud. Monades et descente. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. A-B, 270:A96– A98, 1970.
- [6] R. Betti, A. Carboni, R Street, and R. Walters. Variation through enrichment. J. Pure Appl. Algebra, 29(2):109–127, 1983. DOI: 10.1016/0022-4049(83)90100-7.
- [7] R. Blackwell, G. M. Kelly, and A. J. Power. Two-dimensional monad theory. J. Pure Appl. Algebra, 59(1):1–41, 1989. DOI: 10.1016/0022-4049(89)90160-6.
- [8] A. Burroni. T-catégories (catégories dans un triple). Cah. Topol. Géom. Différ., 12(3):215–321, 1971.
- [9] A. Carboni, S. Lack, and R.F.C. Walters. Introduction to extensive and distributive categories. Journal of Pure and Applied Algebra, 84(2):145–158, 1993. DOI: 10.1016/0022-4049(93)90035-R.
- C. Centazzo and E. M. Vitale. Sheaf theory. In *Categorical foundations*. Volume 97, Encyclopedia Math. Appl. Pp. 311–357. Cambridge University Press, 2004. DOI: 10.1017/CB09781107340985.
 010.

⁵This construction is analogous to the definition of $\mathbb{H} \operatorname{Lax} - T$ - Alg in [15] as monoids in $\mathbb{H} \operatorname{Kl}(T)$, adapted to the fixed-object case, and with \mathbb{D} an equipment.

REFERENCES

- [11] M. M. Clementino and D. Hofmann. Triquotient maps via ultrafilter convergence. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 130(11):3423–3431, 2002. ISSN: 0002-9939. DOI: 10.1090/S0002-9939-02-06472-9.
- [12] M. M. Clementino and W. Tholen. Metric, topology and multicategory—a common approach. J. Pure Appl. Algebra, 179(1-2):13–47, 2003. DOI: 10.1016/S0022-4049(02)00246-3.
- [13] T. Cottrell, S. Fujii, and J. Power. Enriched and internal categories: an extensive relationship. *Tbilisi Mathematical Journal*, 10(3):239–254, 2017. DOI: 10.1515/tmj-2017-0111.
- [14] G Cruttwell, M. Lambert, D. Pronk, and M. Szyld. Double fibrations. 2022. DOI: 10.48550/ arXiv.2205.15240. arXiv: 2205.15240.
- [15] G. Cruttwell and M. Shulman. A unified framework for generalized multicategories. Theory Appl. Categ., 24(21):580–655, 2010. DOI: 10.485550/arXiv.0907.2460.
- [16] R. Dawson, R. Paré, and D. Pronk. The span construction. Theory Appl. Categ., 24(13):302–377, 2010.
- [17] E Dubuc. Free monoids. J. Algebra, 29:208–228, 1974. DOI: 10.1016/0021-8693(74)90095-7.
- [18] C. Ehresmann. Catégories structurées. Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup., 80(4):349–426, 1963.
- [19] M. Grandis and R. Paré. Adjoint for double categories. Cah. Topol. Géom. Différ. Catég., 45:193– 240, 2004.
- [20] M. Grandis and R. Paré. Limits in double categories. Cah. Topol. Géom. Différ. Catég., 40(3):162–220, 1999.
- [21] A. Grothendieck and J. L. Verdier. Topos. In *Théorie des topos et cohomologie étale des schémas.* (SGA 4), volume 269 of number Expose IV in *Lecture Notes in Mathematics*, pp. 299–518. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1972. DOI: 10.1007/BFb0081555.
- [22] C. Hermida. Representable multicategories. Adv. Math., 151(2):164-225, 2000. DOI: 10.1006/ aima.1999.1877.
- [23] C. Hermida. Some properties of fib as a fibred 2-category. J. Pure Appl. Algebra, 134:83–109, 1999. DOI: 10.1016/S0022-4049(97)00129-1.
- [24] D. Hofmann, G. Seal, and W. Tholen. Lax algebras. In Monoidal topology. D. Hofmann, G. Seal, and W. Tholen, editors. Volume 153. Encyclopedia of Mathematics and Its Applications. Cambridge University Press, 2014, pp. 145–283. DOI: 10.1017/CB09781107517288.005.
- [25] G. Janelidze, M. Sobral, and W. Tholen. Beyond Barr exactness: effective descent morphisms. In *Categorical foundations*. Volume 97, Encyclopedia Math. Appl. Pp. 359–405. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2003. DOI: 10.1017/CB09781107340985.011.
- [26] G. M. Kelly. A unified treatment of transfinite constructions for free algebras, free monoids, colimits, associated sheaves, and so on. Bull. Aust. Math. Soc., 22(1):1–83, 1980. DOI: 10.1017/ S0004972700006353.
- [27] G. M. Kelly. An abstract approach to coherence. In Coherence in Categories. S. Mac Lane, editor. Volume 281. (4) in Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1972, pp. 106– 147. DOI: 10.1007/BFb0059557.
- [28] G. M. Kelly. Doctrinal adjunction. In Category Seminar (Proc. Sem., Sydney, 1972/1973). Volume 420, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, pp. 257–280. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1974. DOI: 10.1007/BFb0063105.
- [29] G. M. Kelly. Many variable functorial calculus. I. In Coherence in Categories. S. Mac Lane, editor. Volume 281. (3) in Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer, 1972, pp. 66–105. DOI: 10. 1007/BFb0059556.
- [30] S. Lack. Note on the construction of free monoids. Appl. Categor. Struct., 18:17–29, 2010. DOI: 10.1007/s10485-008-9167-y.
- [31] J. Lambek. Deductive systems and categories. II. Standard constructions and closed categories. In Category Theory, Homology Theory and their Applications I. Volume 86, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, pp. 76–122. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1969. DOI: 10.1007/BFb0079385.
- [32] I. J. Le Creurer. *Descent of internal categories*. PhD thesis, Université catholique de Louvain, Louvain-la-Neuve, 1999.
- [33] T. Leinster. Higher operads, higher categories, volume 298 of London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2004, pp. xiv+433. DOI: 10.1017/ CB09780511525896.
- [34] F. Lucatelli Nunes. On biadjoint triangles. Theory Appl. Categ., 31(9):217-256, 2016. DOI: 10. 48550/arXiv.1606.05009.

- [35] F. Lucatelli Nunes. Pseudo-Kan extensions and descent theory. Theory Appl. Categ., 33(15):390–444, 2018. DOI: 10.48550/arXiv.1606.04999.
- [36] F. Lucatelli Nunes. Pseudomonads and Descent. PhD thesis, University of Coimbra and University of Porto, 2018.
- [37] R. Prezado. On effective descent V-functors and familial descent morphisms. 2023. DOI: 10. 48550/arXiv.2305.04042. arXiv: 2305.04042.
- [38] R. Prezado and F. Lucatelli Nunes. Descent for internal multicategory functors. Appl. Categor. Struct., 31(11), 2023. DOI: 10.1007/s10485-022-09706-9.
- [39] J. Reiterman and W. Tholen. Effective descent maps of topological spaces. Topology Appl., 57:53– 69, 1994. DOI: 10.1016/0166-8641(94)90033-7.
- [40] G. J. Seal. Canonical and op-canonical lax algebras. Theory Appl. Categ., 14:221–243, 2005.
- [41] M. Shulman. Comparing composites of left and right derived functors. New York J. Math., 17:75– 125, 2011. DOI: 10.48550/arXiv.0706.2868.
- [42] M. Shulman. Framed bicategories and monoidal fibrations. Theory Appl. Categ., 20(18):650–738, 2008. DOI: 10.48550/arXiv.0706.1286.
- [43] K. Szlachányi. Skew-monoidal categories and bialgebroids. Adv. Math., 231(3-4):1694–1730, 2012.
 DOI: 10.1016/j.aim.2012.06.027.
- [44] D. Verity. Enriched Categories, Internal Categories and Change of Base. PhD thesis, Cambridge University, 1992.
- [45] M. Weber. Familial 2-functors and parametric right adjoints. Theory Appl. Categ., 18(22):665– 732, 2007.

(1,2) University of Coimbra, CMUC, Department of Mathematics, Portugal

(2) UTRECHT UNIVERSITY, THE NETHERLANDS Email address, 1: rui.prezado@student.uc.pt Email address, 2: f.lucatellinunes@uu.nl